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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Thursday, December 7, 2004
(10)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment
and Natural Resources met this day, in room 257, East Block, at
5:08 p.m., the Chair, the Honourable Tommy Banks, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Adams, Angus, Banks, Christensen, Kenny, Milne and
Spivak (7).

In attendance: From the Research Branch of the Library of
Parliament: Lynne Myers, Research Analyst, Science and
Technology and Frédéric Beauregard-Tellier, Economics
Division.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, October 19, 2004, the committee continued its study of
emerging issues related to its mandate. (For complete text of Order
of Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 1.)

APPEARING:

The Honourable John Efford, P.C., M.P., Minister of Natural
Resources Canada.

WITNESSES:
Natural Resources Canada:

George R. M. Anderson, Deputy Minister of Natural
Resources;

Howard Brown, Assistant Deputy Minister, Energy Policy
Sector;

Margaret McCuaig-Johnson, Assistant Deputy Minister,
Energy Technology and Programs Sector;

Jan Boon, Director General, Earth Sciences Sector, Geological
Survey of Canada (GSC) — Sedimentary and Marine
Geoscience Branch;

Richard Davies, Manager, Office of Coordination and
Technical Information, CANMET Energy Technology
Centre, Energy Sector.

The Chair made an opening statement.

Minister Efford made a presentation and together with the
other witnesses, answered questions.

The Chair made a closing statement.

At 6:57 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le jeudi 7 décembre 2004
(10)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de 1’énergie, de
I’environnement et des ressources naturelles se réunit
aujourd’hui, a 17 h 8, dans la piece 257 de 1’édifice de I’Est,
sous la présidence de ’honorable Tommy Banks (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Adams, Angus, Banks, Christensen, Kenny, Milne et Spivak (7).

Egalement présents : Lynne Myers, analyste de recherche,
Sciences et technologie, et Frédéric Beauregard-Tellier, Division
de I’économie, Direction de la recherche parlementaire,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
19 octobre 2004, le comité poursuit son étude sur de nouvelles
questions concernant son mandat. (L’ordre de renvoi figure au
fascicule n° 1 des délibérations du comité.)

COMPARAIT :

L’honorable John Efford, C.P., député, ministre des
Ressources naturelles du Canada.

TEMOINS :
Ressources naturelles Canada :

George R. M. Anderson, sous-ministre des Ressources
naturelles;

Howard Brown, sous-ministre adjoint, Secteur de la politique
énergétique;

Margaret McCuaig-Johnson, sous-ministre adjointe, Secteur
de la technologie et des programmes énergétiques;

Jan Boon, directeur général, Secteur des sciences de la terre,
Commission géologique du Canada (CGC) — Direction de
la géologie sédimentaire et marine;

Richard Davies, gestionnaire, Bureau de la coordination et de
I'information technique, Centre de la technologie et de
I’énergie de CANMET, Secteur de 1’énergie.

Le président fait une déclaration d’ouverture.

Le ministre Efford fait une présentation et répond aux
questions avec les autres témoins.

Le président présente ses observations finales.

A 18 h 57, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :
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OTTAWA, Thursday, December 9, 2004
amn
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment
and Natural Resources met this day, in room 257, East Block, at
8:37 a.m., the Chair, the Honourable Tommy Banks, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Banks, Chaput, Cochrane, Kenny, Lavigne, Milne and
Spivak (8).

In attendance: From the Research Branch of the Library of
Parliament: Lynne Myers, Research Analyst, Science and
Technology and Frédéric Beauregard-Tellier, Economics
Division.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, October 19, 2004, the committee continued its study of
emerging issues related to its mandate. (For complete text of Order
of Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 1.)

WITNESS:
As an individual:

David Schindler, Killam Memorial Professor of Ecology,
Faculty of Science, University of Alberta.

The Chair made an opening statement.
Mr. Schindler made a presentation and answered questions.
The Chair made a closing statement.

At 10:29 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 9 décembre 2004
(11)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de [’énergie, de
I’environnement et des ressources naturelles se réunit
aujourd’hui a 8 h 37, dans la piéce 257 de I’édifice de I’Est, sous
la présidence de I'honorable Tommy Banks (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs Angus,
Banks, Chaput, Cochrane, Kenny, Lavigne, Milne et Spivak (8).

Egalement présents : Lynne Myers, analyste de recherche,
Sciences et technologie, et Frédéric Beauregard-Tellier, Division
de I’économie, Direction de la recherche parlementaire,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
19 octobre 2004, le comité poursuit son étude sur de nouvelles
questions concernant son mandat. (L’ordre de renvoi figure au

fascicule n° 1 des délibérations du comité.)

TEMOIN :
A titre personnel :

David Schindler, chaire commémorative Killam, professeur
d’écologie, faculté des sciences, I’Université de I’Alberta.

Le président fait une déclaration d’ouverture.
M. Schindler fait une présentation et répond aux questions.
Le président présente ses observations finales.

A 10 h 29, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

La greffiere du comité,

Keli Hogan

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Tuesday, December 7, 2004

The Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment
and Natural Resources met this day at 5:08 p.m. to examine and
report on emerging issues related to its mandate.

Senator Tommy Banks (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, ladies and gentlemen, we
are meeting as the Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the
Environment and Natural Resources. We are pleased that the
Minister of Natural Resources is here today. We await some of
his colleagues. Minister Efford, please proceed.

The Honourable John Efford, P.C., M.P., Minister of Natural
Resources Canada: Honourable senators —

The Chairman: Before you proceed, Minister, I wish to thank
Ms. Paton for the kind letter she has given us.

Mr. Efford: Honourable senators, I am joined this evening by
some of my officials who will help me answer your questions.
Mr. Anderson and Mr. Brown will be along in a few minutes.
Mr. Brown is from the energy policy sector.

I am pleased to respond to your questions on the priorities of
my department. I am proud of my department and the role it
plays in helping build the competitiveness of Canada’s natural
resources industries. I am proud of the role that those industries
play in the Canadian economy.

This committee will be interested to know that in 2002, the
natural resources industry accounted for nearly 13 per cent of
Canada’s gross domestic product. That is nearly four times the
value of telecommunications, electronics and computer industries
put together. The natural resources industries employed more
than 940,000 people across the country.

Let me make one point very clear, Mr. Chairman: These
natural resources jobs are not low-skill jobs in a low-tech
industry. Rather, they are highly skilled jobs in a high-tech
industry that relies upon knowledge, know-how and innovation
to compete in a global economy. They rely as much on the
resources between our ears as on the resources beneath our
feet. 1 will give some specific examples of innovation at work in
this department and in this sector.

One good example is Canada’s and Natural Resources
Canada’s leadership in geomatics. Our GeoConnections
program is at the forefront of putting geospatial information
on the internet for anyone to use. It is a valuable tool for
everyone from public health officials to national security officials,
from municipal governments to Aboriginal communities.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mardi 7 décembre 2004

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de 1’énergie, de
I’environnement et des ressources naturelles se réunit
aujourd’hui a 17 h 8 pour étudier les nouvelles questions
concernant son mandat et en faire rapport.

Le sénateur Tommy Banks (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, mesdames et messieurs, la
séance du Comité sénatorial permanent de [’énergie, de
I’environnement et des ressources naturelles est ouverte. Nous
sommes heureux d’accueillir le ministre des Ressources naturelles.
Nous attendons quelques-uns de ses collégues. Monsieur le
ministre, la parole est a vous.

L’honorable John Efford, C.P., député, ministre des Ressources
naturelles du Canada : Honorables sénateurs...

Le président : Monsieur le ministre, avant que vous
commenciez, je voudrais remercier Mme Paton pour son
aimable lettre.

M. Efford : Honorables sénateurs, je suis accompagné ce soir
de quelques-uns de mes collaborateurs qui m’aideront a répondre
aux questions. M. Anderson et M. Brown arriveront dans
quelques minutes. M. Brown est du secteur de la politique
énergétique.

Je suis trés heureux de répondre aux questions concernant les
priorités de mon ministére. Je suis fier de mon ministére et du réle
qu’il joue dans I’accroissement de la compétitivité des industries
des ressources naturelles du Canada. Je suis également fier du role
que ces industries jouent dans 1’économie canadienne.

Le comité sera intéressé d’apprendre qu’en 2002, I'industrie des
ressources naturelles représentait presque 13 p. 100 du produit
intérieur brut du Canada, soit pres de quatre fois la valeur globale
des industries des communications, de 1’électronique et de
I'informatique réunies. Les industries des ressources naturelles
employaient plus de 940 000 personnes dans le pays.

Jaimerais attirer ici votre attention, monsieur le président, sur
le fait que ces emplois ne sont pas des emplois peu spécialisés dans
une industrie a faible coefficient de technologie. Ce sont des
emplois hautement spécialisés dans une industric de haute
technologie qui mise sur les connaissances, le savoir-faire et
I'innovation pour étre compétitive sur le marché mondial. Ces
industries se servent tout autant de la matiére grise de ce pays que
des ressources de son sous-sol. Permettez-moi de vous donner
quelques exemples d’innovations réalisées dans mon ministére et
dans le secteur des ressources naturelles.

Le Canada et Ressources naturelles Canada sont des leaders en
géomatique. Le programme GéoConnexions de Ressources
naturelles Canada se situe a l’avant-garde de la diffusion
d’information géospatiale sur Internet. Cette information est
utile a chacun, tant les agents de I’hygiéne publique et les agents
de la sécurité nationale que les administrations municipales et les
communautés autochtones.



5:6 Energy, Environment and Natural Resources

9-12-2004

In research and development, we are doing ground-breaking
scientific work on understanding gas hydrates in the Arctic.
This research may provide enormous new sources of energy for
the future. Also in R & D we are very proud of our role as an
early partner in pioneering hydrogen fuel cell technology
companies such as Ballard Power. We have also partnered
in a $20-million initiative to develop and test applications
of fuel cell technology for underground mine production
vehicles. Soon we may see fuel cells powering locomotives,
scoop trams and service vehicles in the mining industry. There
are many partners in this project, Mr. Chairman, including
the Fuelcell Propulsion Institute, equipment manufacturers,
mining companies, fuel cell suppliers, regulatory bodies,
universities and consultants.

You can see, Mr. Chairman, that both my department
and I are keen on promoting the natural resources industry
as high-tech industries, using knowledge and innovation to
compete globally.

Another one of my and my department’s priorities is smart
regulation. As you know, this is a government-wide priority
and one of the five points in the strategy outlined in the
Speech from the Throne to make the economy more innovative
and productive. Smart regulation has been the subject of
considerable attention among stakeholders and the media.
In fact, in September, Chair Gaétan Lussier tabled the report
of the External Advisory Committee on Smart Regulation. The
report calls for increased cooperation among governments,
industry, non-government organizations and interested citizens
so that Canada can have a regulatory environment that
contributes to our high quality of life.

No sector has more to gain from smart regulation than
the resource industries. We want a regulatory system that
is not only friendly to the environment but also friendly to
industry. These are not mutually exclusive objectives. In fact,
the future competitiveness of the resource industries may
well depend on how they deal with a triple bottom line:
economic development, environmental protection and social
stability.

In my own region, we have the Atlantic Energy Roundtable
as a good example of how decision makers can work together
to balance these three objectives. Government, industry
and labour work together towards a vision of growing the
offshore industry that contributes significantly to the economy
and the social well-being of Atlantic Canada.

Au chapitre de la R et D, nous poursuivons des travaux
scientifiques inédits pour mieux connaitre les hydrates de gaz de
I’Arctique. Cette recherche pourrait nous garantir des
approvisionnements énormes d’une source d’énergie nouvelle.
Toujours au chapitre de la R et D, nous sommes trés fiers d’étre
depuis longtemps les partenaires d’entreprises comme Ballard
Power dans la création de la technologie des piles a hydrogéne.
Nous avons aussi été partenaires dans une initiative d’une valeur
de 20 millions de dollars afin d’élaborer et de mettre a I’essai la
technologie des piles a combustible pour les véhicules de
production miniére souterraine. Nous pourrions bientdt voir
dans I'industrie miniére des locomotives, des bennes a godets et
des véhicules de services alimentés par des piles a combustible. De
nombreux partenaires ceuvrent dans ce projet, monsieur le
président, dont le Fuelcell Propulsion Institute, des fabricants
d’équipement, des sociétés miniéres, des fournisseurs de piles a
combustible, des organismes de réglementation, des universités et
des consultants.

Comme vous pouvez le constater, monsieur le président, mon
ministére et moi sommes trés désireux de promouvoir les
industries des ressources naturelles comme industries de haute
technologie qui utilisent le savoir et I'innovation pour faire face a
la concurrence sur le marché mondial.

La mise en place d’une réglementation intelligente est une autre
de mes priorités et des priorités de mon ministére. Comme vous le
savez, il s’agit également d’une priorité pangouvernementale et de
I'un des cinq points de la stratégie préconisée dans le discours du
Trone pour rendre 1’économie plus novatrice et productive.
L’adoption d’une réglementation intelligente est une question qui
a retenu I’attention des parties intéressées et des médias. En fait,
en septembre, Gaétan Lussier, président du Comité consultatif
externe sur la réglementation intelligente, a déposé le rapport de
ce comité, qui recommande un accroissement de la collaboration
entre les gouvernements, l’'industrie, les organismes non
gouvernementaux et les citoyens intéressés, afin que le Canada
puisse avoir un environnement réglementaire qui favorise le
maintien de notre grande qualité de vie.

Aucun secteur ne saurait étre plus avantagé par une
réglementation intelligente que celui des ressources naturelles.
Nous voulons un systéme de réglementation qui est non seulement
écologique, mais également convivial pour l'industrie. Ces
objectifs ne s’excluent pas mutuellement. En fait, la
compétitivité future des industries des ressources pourrait fort
bien dépendre de la fagon dont ces industries prennent en charge
trois facteurs décisifs : le développement économique, la
protection de ’environnement et la stabilité sociale.

Dans ma région natale, la Table ronde de I’Atlantique sur
I’énergie constitue un bon exemple de coopération entre les
décideurs afin d’équilibrer ces trois grands objectifs. Le
gouvernement, 'industrie et les syndicats ceuvrent ensemble a la
détermination d’une vision de croissance pour l'industrie
extracotiere, industrie qui contribue grandement a I’économie et
au bien-étre collectif du Canada atlantique.
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The Atlantic Energy Roundtable is working towards a goal of
sustainable development in a socially responsible manner. It
promotes transparent decision-making and open communication
among governments, regulators and industry. The process itself
demonstrates how we can bring all parties together to advance a
common goal. This is the key to smart regulation.

Our third priority at NRCan is climate change. I have had
the opportunity to review the report released by this committee
last week on the One-Tonne Challenge. As the committee is
aware, the challenge asks every Canadian to reduce annual
greenhouse gas emissions by one tonne, which approximates
about 20 per cent. That may sound like a lot but it is a small
investment for a big return. Canadians clearly have an important
role to play in a national goal to reduce emissions. They can
make a difference in their individual choices, whether through
heating, lighting, living space, or through moving from place
to place.

Honourable senators, you have pointed out that advertising
on climate change a couple of years ago had mixed results.
That is one reason why we have developed the One-Tonne
Challenge. We believe that this new program will be different.
Some of you may have already seen the television advertisements
featuring Rick Mercer in English and Pierre Lebeau in French
that began to air across the country last night. This promotion is
supported by the activities of business and industry partners as
well as by community groups who are already involved in the
One-Tonne Challenge. The One-Tonne Challenge will lead
Canadians to the information and programs that the
Government of Canada has created to help them take action.
You have made a number of observations and recommendations
on other ways to approach the One-Tonne Challenge.
My department and I will be taking a close look at the
opportunities the committee has identified.

Let me give you one example where it is clear that Canadians
are eager to make a difference. In August 2003, the Government
of Canada announced a $1-billion climate change initiative.
One of the most popular of the initiatives is the EnerGuide
for house retrofit incentives, which is a $73-million program
that offers grants to encourage Canadians to make their
homes more energy efficient. The average incentive for
Canadians is around $1,000. The response has been astounding.
Since the program was launched in October 2003, there have
been 65,000 EnerGuide house evaluations and, thus far,
11,000 grants have been paid.

Natural Resources Canada addresses climate change in many
other ways. We encourage renewable energy resources such as
wind energy. The Speech from the Throne highlighted some of the
opportunities we have to use this renewable form as part of the
overall energy mix. In 2001, we invested $260 million in the Wind
Power Production Incentive to quintuple the amount of energy
from wind power available to Canadians. We expect that this

La Table ronde de I’Atlantique vise I'implantation du
développement durable d’'une maniére socialement responsable.
Elle favorise les processus décisionnels transparents et la
communication ouverte entre les gouvernements, les autorités de
réglementation et I'industrie, et réunit toutes les parties intéressées
autour d’un objectif commun. C’est 1a le fondement de toute
réglementation intelligente, monsieur le président.

La troisiéme priorité de Ressources naturelles Canada est le
changement climatique. J’aimerais tout d’abord mentionner que
j’ai eu 'occasion d’examiner le rapport sur le Défi d’une tonne
que vous avez diffusé la semaine derniere. Comme vous le savez
sans doute, le défi consiste a amener chaque Canadien a réduire
les émissions de gaz a effet de serre d’une tonne par année, soit
d’environ 20 p. 100. Ce chiffre peut sembler élevé, mais c’est en
fait un bien petit effort par rapport aux avantages que nous en
tirerons. Les Canadiens ont certainement un réle important a
jouer dans latteinte de l'objectif national de réduction des
émissions. Ils peuvent faire la différence par leur choix, que ce
soit pour le chauffage, I’éclairage, la surface habitable ou les
déplacements.

Honorables sénateurs, vous avez noté que la publicité faite sur
le changement climatique il y a deux ans n’avait eu qu’un effet
mitigé. C’est I'une des raisons pour lesquelles nous avons créé le
Défi d’une tonne. Nous croyons que ce nouveau programme sera
différent. Certains parmi vous ont peut-étre déja vu les annonces
télévisées diffusées depuis hier soir dans tout le pays, dans lesquels
le porte-parole est Rick Mercer en anglais et Pierre Lebeau en
francais. Cette promotion est renforcée par les activités des
partenaires commerciaux et industriels ainsi que des groupes
communautaires qui ceuvrent déja au Défi d’une tonne. Les
responsables du Défi s’assureront que les Canadiens ont acces a
I'information et au programme que le gouvernement du Canada a
créé pour les aider a prendre les mesures qui s'imposent. Vous
avez présenté des observations et des recommandations a I’égard
d’autres moyens de relever le Défi d’une tonne. Soyez assurés que
mon ministére et moi examinerons avec attention les possibilités
que vous avez cernées.

Permettez-moi de vous donner un autre exemple évident du
désir d’innovation des Canadiens. En aott 2003, le gouvernement
du Canada a annoncé des initiatives liées au changement
climatique d’une valeur dun milliard de dollars. L’une des
initiatives les plus populaires est I’Encouragement énergétique
Energuide pour les maisons. Ce programme d’une valeur de
73 millions de dollars offre des subventions afin d’inciter les
Canadiens a accroitre ’efficacité énergétique de leurs maisons. En
moyenne, la subvention est de 1000 $. La popularité du
programme est stupéfiante. Depuis qu’il a été lancé en octobre
2003, 65 000 maisons ont été évaluées et 11 000 subventions ont
été versées.

Ressources naturelles Canada lutte contre le changement
climatique de bien d’autres facons. Par exemple, il favorise
I'utilisation de 1’énergie éolienne et des autres énergies
renouvelables. Le discours du Trone a mis en évidence quelques
possibilités d’utiliser cette énergie renouvelable. En 2001, nous
avons investi 260 millions de dollars dans le programme
Encouragement a la production d’énergie éolienne afin de
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program will lead to the development of 1,000 megawatts, which
is enough electricity for more than 250,000 homes. The incentive
is currently funding projects in six provinces. Last September, we
announced the latest investment of $9 million in a new wind farm
in Magrath, Alberta.

As 1 mentioned earlier, we invested in the research and
development of hydrogen power fuel cells. Last March we
announced support for Canada’s first hydrogen highway that
will run from Vancouver to Whistler in time for the 2010 Winter
Olympics. We are also promoting these technologies around the
world. Last week my department led a Canadian hydrogen and
fuel cell delegation to India. We are also promoting ethanol as a
more environmentally sustainable fuel. Last February, we
invested $78 million to help six companies start building new
ethanol plants across Canada. Yesterday we announced the
second round of calls for our Ethanol Expansion Program. It is
worth approximately $22 million, and that will bring the total to
approximately $100 million.

Our climate change initiatives also includes finding innovative
ways to store greenhouse gases in the ground through carbon
dioxide sequestration. Last September, the international
Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies Conference concluded
that the geological conditions in the Weyburn oil field are
favourable for long term storage of carbon dioxide. Natural
Resources Canada has been supporting this project since it began
four years ago.

Canada is one of the world’s biggest per capita users of energy,
and it is not hard to see why. We are a country of long distances,
extreme climates and energy-intensive industries. This is an
opportunity for us. By addressing our requirements for cleaner
energy and more energy efficiency, we can lead the world in the
development of technologies that we can sell to a global
marketplace. This is our vision for the future of Canadian
energy and other resources. It is a vision that I am sure this
committee shares.

Before I invite the committee’s questions, let me say a few
words about energy policy in general. We want to ensure that
development of our energy resources continues to attract
investment and create jobs. We want to ensure that Canadians
continue to have access to a secure supply of energy that will
enhance the competitiveness of the Canadian industry. We want
to reconcile the production and use of energy with our
environmental objectives. We will use market forces to achieve
these objectives. Competitive and innovative energy markets are
more responsive to our energy needs than are government
controls. When required, we will use regulation and focused

quintupler la quantité d’électricité éolienne offerte aux Canadiens.
Nous prévoyons que le programme débouchera sur la production
de 1 000 mégawatts d’électricité, ce qui représente une quantité
d’énergie suffisante pour alimenter plus de 250 000 maisons. Le
programme finance actuellement des projets dans six provinces.
En septembre dernier, nous avons annoncé le plus récent
investissement, soit 9 millions de dollars pour une nouvelle
centrale éolienne a Magrath, en Alberta.

Comme je lai déja mentionné, nous avons investi dans la
R et D visant les piles a hydrogéne. En mars dernier, nous avons
annoncé notre appui a la premiére autoroute de I’hydrogeéne au
Canada, qui ira de Vancouver a Whistler et sera terminée a temps
pour les Jeux olympiques d’hiver de 2010. De plus, monsieur le
président, nous faisons la promotion de la technologie des piles a
hydrogéne partout dans le monde. La semaine derniére, mon
ministére a dirigé une délégation canadienne en Inde, qui était
spécialisée dans les piles a hydrogéne et les piles a combustible.
Nous faisons également la promotion de I’éthanol comme
combustible écologique. En février dernier, nous avons investi
78 millions de dollars pour aider six sociétés a mettre en chantier
de nouvelles usines d’éthanol dans différentes régions du Canada.
Nous avons annoncé hier la deuxiéme série d’appels dans le cadre
de notre Programme d’expansion du marché de I’éthanol. Cette
série vaudra environ 22 millions de dollars, ce qui portera le total
a 100 millions de dollars.

Nos initiatives dans le domaine du changement climatique
comprennent la recherche de moyens novateurs de stocker les gaz
a effet de serre dans le sol par piégeage du gaz carbonique. En
septembre dernier, il est ressorti de la conférence internationale
sur la technologie de la réduction des gaz a effet de serre que les
conditions géologiques du champ de pétrole Weyburn
conviennent au stockage a long terme du gaz carbonique.
Ressources naturelles Canada appuie ce projet depuis son
lancement il y a quatre ans.

Le Canada est I'un des pays dont la consommation d’énergie
par habitant compte parmi les plus élevées du monde. Ce n’est pas
surprenant. Nous devons en général franchir de longues distances,
nous sommes soumis & des conditions climatiques extrémes et nos
industries consomment beaucoup d’énergie. Notre situation recele
une possibilité. En répondant a nos besoins en énergie propre et
en rendements énergétiques élevés, nous pouvons devenir le chef
de file mondial du développement de technologies que nous
pouvons vendre sur le marché mondial. C’est ainsi que nous
voyons 'avenir de 1’énergie canadienne et des autres sources de
notre pays. Le comité a sans doute la méme vision.

Avant d’inviter les membres du comité a me poser des
questions, j'aimerais dire quelques mots de la politique de
I’énergie en général. Nous voulons nous assurer que la mise en
valeur de nos ressources énergétiques continue d’attirer des
investissements et de créer des emplois. Nous voulons nous
assurer que les Canadiens continuent d’avoir acces a des
approvisionnements d’énergie sirs qui augmenteront la
compétitivité de I'industrie canadienne. Nous voulons aussi
harmoniser la production et l'utilisation de 1’énergie avec nos
objectifs environnementaux. Nous aurons recours aux forces du
marché pour atteindre ces objectifs. Des marchés compétitifs et
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interventions for the public good. We will work in close
partnership with the provinces, which share responsibility for
energy resources and their management.

In the Speech from the Throne the government made
a commitment to building on the strength of our country
and our people. The natural resources sectors and allied
industries are a vital part of Canada’s economy and society.
I have outlined three areas where I think Natural Resources
Canada can push this agenda in the coming months: innovation,
smart regulation and responding to climate change. I have also
shared a few thoughts on how I believe our policies can contribute
to secure and environmentally sustainable energy production for
Canadians.

I welcome this opportunity to work with a committee
dedicated to the kind of issues that help Canada compete in a
global economy. I look forward to working with you in the
months ahead. Certainly, now we would be pleased to answer any
questions.

Senator Spivak: Minister, your initiatives are most admirable.
I had an energy audit of my home, which was built in 1911. It was
very useful, and very expensive.

One of the major producers of greenhouse gases is the oil
sands. I think it was Elizabeth May, who was here at one of our
meetings, who pointed out that we will have a natural gas pipeline
that will then be used to help the oil sands extract their oil or
whatever. Are their greenhouse gas emissions a matter of concern
to you? What about new technologies?

By the way, I know those companies are trying their best, but
they cannot change fundamentally. What new technologies do
you envision to help that process? Someone mentioned nuclear
energy. Although I have been an opponent of nuclear energy,
I am beginning to think that it is the best of the worst
alternatives. Could you answer that question?

Mr. Efford: Senator, the oil sands has a tremendous reservoir
of oil. Approximately 175 million barrels is the estimate for the
future. Does that give us concern? The answer is yes. Every
industry that is emitting emissions into the atmosphere gives us
energy at all times whether it is on a small or large scale. With the
Kyoto Protocol, we are working with all industries wherever
possible to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

For the most part, industries in this country, including the oil
sands, are cooperative and are willing to work toward whatever
measures that make good sense to put in place. The Mackenzie
Pipeline will be built, and the gas will be going into the oil sands.
Some of the gas will be exported, but a great portion will be going
for production of the oil sands.

novateurs de I’énergie répondent mieux a nos besoins énergétiques
que des mesures de controle gouvernementales. Lorsque I'intérét
public le nécessitera, nous nous servirons de la réglementation et
nous ferons des interventions ciblées. Nous travaillerons aussi en
étroite collaboration avec les provinces, car elles partagent avec
nous la responsabilité des ressources énergétiques et de leur
gestion.

Dans le discours du Tréne, le gouvernement s’est engagé a tirer
parti de la force de notre pays et de sa population. Les secteurs
des ressources naturelles et les industries connexes constituent un
volet essentiel de I’économie et de la société canadiennes. Je vous
ai parlé de trois domaines dans lesquels, selon moi, Ressources
naturelles Canada peut faire avancer ce programme au cours des
prochains mois, soit I'innovation, la réglementation intelligente et
la lutte contre le changement climatique. Je vous ai aussi
briévement exposé comment, selon moi, nos politiques peuvent
contribuer a assurer aux Canadiens une production d’énergie stre
et écologique.

Je me réjouis de cette occasion d’ceuvrer avec un comité qui
consacre ses efforts au genre d’enjeux qui aident le Canada a étre
compétitif sur le marché mondial. Jenvisage avec plaisir de
travailler avec vous au cours des prochains mois. Dans
I'immédiat, je serai heureux de répondre aux questions.

Le sénateur Spivak : Monsieur le ministre, vos initiatives sont
admirables. J’ai fait faire une vérification du rendement
énergétique de ma maison, qui a été construite en 1911.
L’opération a été tres utile et trés cotliteuse.

La production de pétrole a partir des sables bitumineux
constitue une importante source de gaz a effet de serre. Je crois
que c’est Elizabeth May qui a dit, au cours de I'une de nos
réunions, que nous construirons un pipeline de gaz naturel qui
servira ensuite a faciliter D’extraction du pétrole des sables
bitumineux. Est-ce que les gaz a effet de serre vous
préoccupent? Et qu’en est-il des nouvelles technologies?

Soit dit en passant, je sais que ces sociétés font de leur mieux,
mais elles ne peuvent pas changer du tout au tout. Quelles
nouvelles technologies envisagez-vous a cet égard? Quelqu’un a
parlé d’énergie nucléaire. Méme si je m’y suis déja opposée, je
commence a croire que c’est peut-étre un moindre mal. Pouvez-
vous répondre a cette question?

M. Efford : Sénateur, les sables bitumineux constituent un
réservoir extraordinaire de pétrole. L’estimation des réserves
futures s’éléve a prés de 275 millions de barils. Est-ce que cela
nous inquiete? Je dirais que oui. Chaque industrie qui envoie des
polluants dans I’atmosphére produit de I’énergie, que ce soit sur
petite ou sur grande échelle. Ayant signé le Protocole de Kyoto,
nous travaillons avec toutes les industries, quand nous le
pouvons, pour réduire les émissions de gaz a effet de serre.

Pour la plupart, les industries du pays, y compris le secteur des
sables bitumineux, cooperent et se montrent disposées a prendre
des mesures rationnelles. Le pipeline du Mackenzie sera construit,
et le gaz ira aux sables bitumineux. Nous en exporterons une
partie, mais le plus gros contribuera a la production du pétrole
des sables bitumineux.
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New technologies are coming on stream on a regular basis.
Alberta, for example, recently announced a $27 billion program
for wind energy. There are many technologies coming on stream.

I will ask Mr. Anderson to comment on any new technology
into the oil fields.

Mr. Geroge R. M. Anderson, Deputy Minister of Natural
Resources, Natural Resources Canada: Honourable senators,
the oil sands, as you know, are a more energy intensive oil
production than conventional oils. This is obviously a major
preoccupation.

Senator Spivak: Excuse me. I wonder if, in your answer, you
could indicate what percentage that oil sands production
contributes to the greenhouse gas emissions in Canada?

Mr. Anderson: It is going up because production is rising.
The numbers I carry in my head are for 2010. Do not shoot me
if Tam 5 per cent off. By that time, the entirety of the oil and gas
business will be something like 38 per cent of our emissions.

Senator Spivak: Oh, my God.

Mr. Anderson: I would be guessing the share of the oil sands in
that, but they would probably be half. I would say that they
would be about 16 per cent, give or take a bit.

Emissions are rising. This is a preoccupation. However, many
things are being done to look at better ways of producing the oil
from new oil sands. We could send you material on that, if you
would like.

Senator Spivak: That would be helpful.

Mr. Anderson: We have a laboratory in Alberta that specializes
in oil sand technologies and works closely with the province. I will
give examples. They are looking at different solvents that permit
the oil to be recovered more easily. They are looking at the
injection of CO, back into the oil fields.

Senator Spivak: You can do that in the oil sands process
as well?

Mr. Anderson: It could be, potentially, with the in situ recovery
but not on the mining side. There is an experiment being
conducted at the moment. We will see how it goes.

There is a technology called fire-flooding. You could put
oxygen down into the reservoirs and then have subterranean fires
that would make the oil more liquid. It would come up that way.
That means that you are not using natural gas to provide heat;
you are not having any combustion above ground to make that
oil liquid. That, potentially, is quite a promising technology.

De nouvelles technologies sont réguliérement mises au point.
L’Alberta, par exemple, a récemment annoncé un programme
d’énergie éolienne de 27 milliards de dollars. Beaucoup de
technologies sont en voie d’adoption.

Je vais demander a M. Anderson de nous parler des nouvelles
technologies mises en ceuvre dans les champs pétroliferes.

M. George R. M. Anderson, sous-ministre des Ressources
naturelles, Ressources naturelles Canada : Honorables sénateurs,
comme vous le savez, la production de pétrole a partir des sables
bitumineux exige plus d’énergie que dans le cas du pétrole
traditionnel. De toute évidence, c’est pour nous une grande
préoccupation.

Le sénateur Spivak : Excusez-moi. Je me demande si vous
pouvez, dans votre réponse, nous indiquer la contribution des
sables bitumineux aux émissions de gaz a effet de serre du
Canada.

M. Anderson : Les émissions de gaz a effet de serre augmentent
parce que la production augmente. Les nombres que j’ai en téte
sont ceux de 2010. Je vous demande d’étre indulgente si je me
trompe de quelques points de pourcentage. D’ici 2010, la
contribution totale de I'industrie du pétrole et du gaz
représentera environ 38 p. 100 de nos émissions.

Le sénateur Spivak : Oh, mon Dieu!

M. Anderson : Je n’en suis pas vraiment sir, mais je dirais que
la part des sables bitumineux se situerait probablement aux
alentours de la moitié. Elle représenterait donc plus ou moins
16 p. 100 des émissions du Canada.

Les émissions sont en hausse, ce qui est inquiétant. Toutefois,
beaucoup de choses sont faites pour trouver de meilleurs moyens
de produire le pétrole a partir des nouveaux sables bitumineux.
Nous pourrions vous envoyer de la documentation a ce sujet, si
vous le souhaitez.

Le sénateur Spivak : Ce serait utile.

M. Anderson : Nous avons un laboratoire en Alberta qui se
spécialise dans les technologies des sables bitumineux et qui
collabore étroitement avec la province. Je vais vous donner des
exemples. Nous étudions différents solvants qui permettraient de
récupérer le pétrole plus facilement. Nous examinons également la
possibilité d’injecter du gaz carbonique dans les champs de
pétrole.

Le sénateur Spivak : Vous pouvez le faire également dans le
cadre du processus des sables bitumineux?

M. Anderson : Ce serait envisageable dans le cas de la
récupération in situ, mais pas du co6té de I’extraction miniére.
Une expérience est actuellement en cours. Nous verrons bien
comment elle se déroulera.

Il y a également la technologie de la combustion in situ. On
envoie de 'oxygene dans les réservoirs, puis on allume un feu
souterrain pour donner au pétrole une consistance plus liquide.
On pourrait procéder ainsi pour le récupérer. Cela signifie qu’on
n’utiliserait pas le gaz naturel pour produire de la chaleur. Pour
liquéfier pétrole, il n’y aurait pas de combustion au niveau du sol.
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A variety of technologies are being examined. One of the big
issues is energy efficiency. Even if you use the same technology,
doing things in a more efficient way reduces the emissions.

Senator Spivak: [ am very much aware of the geopolitical value
of the oil sands. I understand how important that is. What puzzles
me, as it did Ms. May, is why would one use natural gas, which is
a cleaner burning fuel, to produce a dirtier fuel? That solution
does not seem to strike one intuitively as a sensible one if there are
other things to be done.

The gas pipeline is a great idea, but then we should export the
gas and not use it for the oil sands.

One more question because I know I will be cut off in a minute.

The Chairman: When have I ever cut you off?

Senator Spivak: Coal bed methane is another way in which you
can get much natural gas. There are ways to produce it without
the pollution that comes with it. Will the Department of Natural
Resources be on the cutting edge of this technology? We know we
have to have those oil sands. We should be interested in coal bed
methane gas, because it is easily available. However, what are we
doing to be smart about it instead of not smart?

Mr. Efford: I will answer the question in a general manner and
then I will let the technicians answer in regard to the technology.

Natural Resources Canada is investing in every possible
opportunity to be more energy wise.

Senator Spivak: I congratulate you.

Mr. Efford: We have invested billions of dollars over the years.
We have taken every opportunity to use our resources in an
environmentally friendly way, not only with coal, but with
methane, natural gas and wind power. We are also investing in
many different new technologies such as fuel cells and hydrates.

Our research and development is looking at alternative
energies for the future. Some may not be possibly used as we
are today, but the R&D that we are investing in gives us a wider
opportunity to be more energy efficient and have a wider use of
these resources in the future.

Ms. Margaret McCuaig-Johnson, Assistant Deputy Minister,
Energy Technology and Programs Sector, Natural Resources
Canada: I would like to reiterate what George Anderson has
said about the research that we are doing at our laboratory at
Devon, and making the processing and the processes of the
development of energy much more efficient. It would be more
cost-effective for the companies and give fewer emissions.

Senator Spivak: Cost-effective is very important.

Cette technologie pourrait étre trés prometteuse. Nous examinons
plusieurs autres. Le rendement énergétique constitue I'un de nos
importants critéres. Méme sans changer de technologie, il est
possible de réduire les émissions en faisant les choses d’une
maniére plus efficace.

Le sénateur Spivak : Je suis trés consciente de la valeur
géopolitique des sables bitumineux. Je comprends leur
importance. Ce qui me confond, comme Mme May, c’est qu’on
envisage d’utiliser le gaz naturel, qui est un combustible propre,
pour produire un combustible qui I’est moins. Je n’ai pas
intuitivement l'impression que cette solution est logique s’il
existe d’autres possibilités.

Le pipeline de gaz naturel est une excellente idée, mais nous
devrions exporter le gaz et non pas l'utiliser pour extraire le
pétrole des sables bitumineux.

Une autre question, parce que je sais que je serai interrompue
dans une minute.

Le président : Quand vous ai-je jamais interrompue?

Le sénateur Spivak : Le méthane de houille est un autre moyen
d’obtenir beaucoup de gaz naturel. Il y avait moyen de le produire
sans polluer. Ressources naturelles Canada développe-t-il cette
technologie? Nous savons qu’il nous faut exploiter ces sables
bitumineux. Nous devrions nous intéresser au méthane de houille
qui est facile a obtenir. Que faisons-nous a cet égard?

M. Efford : Je répondrai a cette question d’une maniere
générale, puis je laisserai les spécialistes répondre en ce qui
concerne la technologie.

Ressources naturelles Canada investit dans tous les moyens
possibles pour utiliser rationnellement ’énergie.

Le sénateur Spivak : Je vous félicite.

M. Efford : Nous avons investi des milliards de dollars au fil
des ans. Nous avons saisi toutes les occasions qui s’offraient
d’utiliser nos ressources d’une maniére respectueuse de
I’environnement, non seulement dans le cas du méthane, mais
aussi dans celui du gaz naturel et de 1’énergie éolienne. Nous
investissons également dans différentes nouvelles technologies,
comme les piles a combustible et les hydrates.

Nos recherches visent a trouver des énergies de remplacement
pour I'avenir. Certaines de ces énergies ne sont pas utilisables
aujourd’hui, mais la recherche que nous finangons nous donne de
meilleurs moyens d’économiser I’énergie et d’utiliser plus
largement ces ressources a l’avenir.

Mme Margaret McCuaig-Johnson, sous-ministre adjointe,
Secteur de la technologie et des programmes énergétiques,
Ressources naturelles Canada : Je voudrais répéter ce que
George Anderson a dit au sujet de la recherche que nous
effectuons a notre laboratoire de Devon et des moyens de rendre
plus efficaces les processus d’exploitation. Cela serait plus
économique pour les sociétés et donnerait lieu a moins
d’émissions polluantes.

Le sénateur Spivak : Le facteur économique est trés important.
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Ms. McCuaig-Johnson: Exactly. The director of the laboratory
at Devon was given a big award in the middle of October by the
oil sands industries for the research that had been conducted at
Devon that had made the industry much more effective. There
was tremendous attendance by the industry for the award
presentation.

There is one other specific technology in which I thought you
would be interested. You mentioned the pipeline several times. [
know that there is a technology that has been developed among a
group consisting of one of our pipeline companies, a robotics and
intelligent systems company and a fibre optics company. Fibre
optics is put down the length of the pipeline. Through the
intelligent systems operation, hairline cracks in a pipeline are
detected before they could ever be found by investigators. That is
a huge issue in terms of emissions from pipelines.

Senator Spivak: It is. I hope they get on to it in Iraq.

The Chairman: Does that also discover corrosion, or just
cracks?

Ms. McCuaig-Johnston: Yes.

Senator Spivak: I know the companies are just as interested
in finding environmentally safe solutions as is government.
What percentage are the companies spending on R&D on the
oil sands?

Ms. McCuaig-Johnston: I can find that for you in a moment.

Senator Angus: It sounds like there is a fair overlap between
your department and Mr. Dion’s department. Is that a fair
comment?

Mr. Efford: There is some overlap, but I would rather look at it
as a working relationship. We work closely together on
sustainable development, the environment, as well as the
economy.

Senator Angus: In that area — and you have devoted at least a
third of your paper to climate change — I was interested in your
opening statement. You never once mentioned the word “Kyoto”
although you did in answering my colleague Senator Spivak. It
snuck in there once.

I take it you use climate change and Kyoto almost
synonymously because one is a way to deal with the other, |
suppose. My question on that is we have been hearing about the
goals and the commitments that, by signing on to the protocol,
the Kyoto agreement, we have undertaken to meet — certain
levels of reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and the like. In the
case of individuals, it is probably around 32 megatons, whereas in
the case of corporations it is a monstrous number.

Are these realistic targets? As the Minister of Natural
Resources, working closely as you are with the Minister of the
Environment and Sustainable Development, does Canada have a
chance of meeting these goals?

Mme McCuaig-Johnson : Exactement. A la mi-octobre, le
directeur du laboratoire de Devon a regu un important prix de
I'industrie des sables bitumineux pour la recherche menée dans le
laboratoire, qui a permis a I'industrie d’étre beaucoup plus
efficace. De nombreux représentants de l'industrie étaient
présents a la cérémonie de remise du prix.

Il y a une autre technologie que vous trouverez intéressante, je
crois. Vous avez mentionné a plusieurs reprises le pipeline. Je sais
qu’une technologie a été mise au point par un groupe comprenant
I'une de nos sociétés de pipeline, une entreprise de robotique et de
systémes intelligents et une autre spécialisée dans les fibres
optiques. Des fibres optiques sont placées tout le long du pipeline.
Grace aux systemes intelligents mis en ceuvre, de minuscules
fissures du pipeline sont décelées bien avant d’étre découvertes par
les enquéteurs. C’est la un facteur trés important en ce qui
concerne les émissions des pipelines.

Le sénateur Spivak : Je suis bien d’accord. Jespere qu’il sera
possible d’utiliser ces technologies en Irak.

Le président : Est-ce que cette technologie permet de découvrir
la corrosion, ou seulement les fissures?

Mme McCuaig-Johnston : Oui.

Le sénateur Spivak : Je sais que les sociétés s’intéressent autant
que le gouvernement aux solutions écologiques. Quel pourcentage
de leurs revenus les sociétés consacrent-elles a la recherche sur les
sables bitumineux?

Mme McCuaig-Johnston : Je peux vous trouver le chiffre dans
quelques instants.

Le sénateur Angus : J’ai 'impression qu’il y a beaucoup de
chevauchement entre votre ministére et celui de M. Dion. Est-ce
exact?

M. Efford : Il y a un certain chevauchement, mais je préfére
considérer cela comme des relations de travail. Nous collaborons
étroitement ensemble au sujet du développement durable, de
I’environnement et de I’économie.

Le sénateur Angus : Vous avez consacré au moins un tiers de
votre exposé au changement climatique. Pourtant, je ne vous ai
pas entendu prononcer une seule fois le mot « Kyoto », sauf une
fois quand vous avez répondu a ma collégue, madame le sénateur
Spivak.

Je suppose que vous considérez le changement climatique et
Kyoto comme des synonymes, puisque l'un est un moyen
d’affronter I’autre. Ma question est la suivante. Nous avons
entendu parler d’objectifs et d’engagements que la signature du
protocole nous impose de respecter, sous forme d’une certaine
réduction des émissions de gaz a effet de serre. Dans le cas des
personnes, c’est aux alentours de 32 mégatonnes. Dans celui des
entreprises, le nombre est monstrueux.

Ces objectifs sont-ils réalisables? Comme ministre des
Ressources naturelles, qui collaborez de prés avec le ministre de
I’Environnement et du Développement durable, pouvez-vous
nous dire si le Canada a une chance d’atteindre ces objectifs?
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Mr. Efford: First let us return to the original signing of the
Kyoto Protocol. Canada signed on to very aggressive targets.
Canada is not only setting its targets within Canada, but it wants
to show leadership in the world. Like every program, there are
always ups and downs and growing pains. The first round of the
Kyoto Protocol will be completed by 2012. Then we will be going
into the second round. Let us use a number of 50. If we
accomplish 35 or 40 of that 50, and we carry five over into the
next round, we will have come a long way.

Mr. Dion and I meet regularly. We discuss pretty well every
day, not formally, but we chat about our goals. I go to hear his
speeches and he comes to hear my speeches. We would like to be
talking about things that we are doing and things that we can do
and stop talking to the general public about the things that
perhaps we cannot do. Best practices and reachable goals is the
way that we should be going. Every tonne of emissions we do not
allow to get into the atmosphere is a plus. Will we accomplish the
25 per cent in the auto industry? We will accomplish that. We
will go a long way on the LFEs. Canada will show tremendous
leadership worldwide by 2012 and we will be able to go forward,
holding our heads high, in the second round.

Senator Angus: Can I take it from that answer that even if you
cannot meet the specific targets that are clearly spelled out in that
undertaking, as long as you feel we have made demonstrable
progress, this would not cause us to pull out of Kyoto?

Mr. Efford: Absolutely not. You may have to change direction
from time to time. We have many voluntary agreements and
MOUs with different industry stakeholders. We may have to
take different steps, create other backstop legislation and
things like that. I like what Minister Dion is saying because
I feel the same about a go-forward approach. Look to the
past only to learn from the mistakes that we have made and not
repeat them in the future. I favour a go-forward approach and
showing leadership within the country, and encouraging
Canadians to play a role wherever possible. I am willing to
work with industry and industry is certainly willing to work
with us, and show leadership in the world.

Senator Angus: That is admirable. Like Senator Spivak, you
appear to be well intentioned.

However, what we have been hearing at this committee in
recent weeks, over and over again, is that the tools are there, that
the government has good intentions, sort of. We have heard from
the commissioner on the environment. We have heard from
knowledgeable experts from outside and, indeed, we have had
Minister Dion here. We have also had the benefit of hearing the
views — although not here yet — of the former Minister of the
Environment who evinced in the national media what he called
his very severe frustrations with what he perceives as a lack of

M. Efford : Revenons d’abord a la signature initiale du
Protocole de Kyoto. Le Canada s’est engagé a atteindre des
objectifs assez difficiles. Le Canada ne se limite pas a fixer des
objectifs pour le pays, il veut montrer la voie au monde. Comme
pour tous programmes, il y a toujours des hauts et des bas ainsi
que des crises de croissance. Le premier cycle du Protocole de
Kyoto sera terminé en 2012. Nous passerons ensuite au deuxiéme
cycle. Prenons, comme exemple d’objectif, le chiffre de 50. Si nous
atteignons 35 ou 40, puis reportons 5 au cycle suivant, nous
aurons fait beaucoup de chemin.

M. Dion et moi nous entretenons trés régulierement. Nous
discutons plus ou moins tous les jours, sans formalités, de nos
objectifs. Je vais écouter ses discours, et il vient écouter les miens.
Nous aimerions parler de ce que nous faisons et de ce que nous
pouvons faire, et arréter de parler au public des choses que nous
n’arriverons peut-étre pas a réaliser. Les pratiques exemplaires et
les objectifs réalisables constituent le chemin a suivre. Chaque
tonne d’émissions que nous pouvons empécher d’atteindre
I’atmosphére est une victoire. Atteindrons-nous 1’objectif de
25 p. 100 dans l'industrie automobile? Nous le ferons. Nous
irons assez loin au chapitre des grands émetteurs finals. D’ici
2012, le Canada manifestera un leadership extraordinaire dans le
monde. Nous serons en mesure d’aller de I’avant, la téte haute, au
cours du deuxiéme cycle.

Le sénateur Angus : Est-ce que votre réponse signifie que si
nous n’atteignons pas les objectifs précis qui nous sont fixés, nous
n’aurons aucune raison de nous retirer de Kyoto si vous avez
impression que nous avons fait des progrés manifestes?

M. Efford : Absolument pas. Nous aurons peut-étre a changer
d’orientation de temps a autre. Nous avons conclu de nombreux
accords volontaires et protocoles d’entente avec différents
intervenants de I'industrie. Nous devrons peut-&tre prendre des
mesures différentes, adopter des lois de soutien, et cetera. J’aime
bien ce que dit le ministre Dion, parce que j’ai la méme réaction en
ce qui concerne une approche tournée vers I’avenir. Nous ne
devons considérer le passé que pour tirer des enseignements de
nos erreurs et les éviter a I’avenir. Je suis en faveur d’une approche
de ce genre, d’'un réle de leadership dans le pays. Il faut
encourager les Canadiens a faire leur part dans la mesure du
possible. Je suis disposé a travailler avec 'industrie qui, de son
coté, est tout a fait disposée a collaborer avec nous et a faire
preuve de leadership dans le monde.

Le sénateur Angus: C’est admirable. Comme le sénateur
Spivak, vous semblez trés bien intentionné.

Toutefois, les témoignages regus par le comité ces derniéres
semaines nous ont indiqué a plus d’une reprise que les outils sont
la, que le gouvernement a de bonnes intentions ou semble en
avoir. Nous avons entendu la commissaire a I’environnement,
nous avons entendu des experts de I’extérieur et, bien entendu, le
ministre Dion. Nous avons également eu la chance d’entendre le
point de vue — mais pas ici — de l’ancien ministre de
I’Environnement, qui a fait part aux médias nationaux de ce
qu’il a appelé sa trés forte frustration au sujet de ce qui constitue,
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commitment by his cabinet colleagues, by a lack of commitment
by the government — your government — to be serious about
these things.

Although the words are nice and the talking of the talk is pretty
good, the walking of the talk is wanting. We had Dr. Toner here
the other evening. He listed 10 major barriers that exist. He
outlined in each case the way to get over the barriers. It all boiled
down to the government not having its act together collectively.
For example, many of the measures needed to make the One-
Tonne Challenge work, for example, required the input of the
Department of Finance and the minister. Yet, we notice the
Minister of Finance is not on the ad hoc committee that has been
set up by Minister Dion. We find that all of the witnesses tell us
that the Department of Finance has the acceleration of a little
Volkswagen on, and also the brakes of a Rolls Royce. In other
words, to get them going on a new incentive you need big
dynamite. I do not know what you are doing.

First, I hope you will not interpret these comments as being
hostile or aggressive.

Mr. Efford: I am trying not to.

Senator Angus: We are hearing these things. I would like to
know what you think of them. Do you agree with former minister
Anderson — the other Mr. Anderson — or these other witnesses
I have paraphrased?

Mr. Efford: Let me assure you, I will start in this way: I agree
with this Mr. Anderson more than the other Mr. Anderson.
Seriously, everyone has a right to be sceptical about issues.
Sometimes, however, scepticism goes too far. It is not my place to
judge the scepticism. Minister Dion has been a breath of fresh air
for me since he became minister. He is very serious and committed
about his job. I am touted as being more of an industry lobbyist
than a minister, and I take exception to that. I can hold my head
high and say that I am as much of an environmentalist as anyone
in this country. I proved that when I was in the Government of
Newfoundland and Labrador and in my home community in
relation to things that I have done.

I take exception sometimes to the environmental groups who
go overboard. One name was mentioned earlier, Elizabeth May. |
have known Ms. May for a number of years, and I am sure
Senator Adams will agree with this: Some of our people, we
have been collectively fighting together from the north to
Newfoundland, and they are still telling us that the seal
population is becoming extinct when we have 10 million. What
is becoming extinct are people living in those communities. I take
some exception to that.

Let me give you some numbers. Overall, financial
commitments of $3.7 billion have been made by the
Government of Canada between 1998 and 2003 towards climate
change. In a country with a population of 30 million, I believe
that all Canadians should be saying that that is a very serious
commitment. The Minister of Finance is not on the committee as
a member, but the Minister of Finance is an ex officio member of
all committees. He pulls the strings. The Government of Canada
is very serious about the environment.

a son avis, le manque d’engagement de ses collégues du Cabinet,
le manque d’engagement du gouvernement et son manque de
sérieux au sujet de ces affaires.

Bien que les paroles soient encourageantes, elles ne sont pas
accompagnées des gestes correspondants. M. Toner est venu
témoigner ’autre soir. Il a mentionné 10 obstacles ainsi que les
moyens de les surmonter. Il semble en fait que le gouvernement
ne s’est pas concerté. Par exemple, beaucoup des mesures
nécessaires au succes du Défi d’une tonne nécessitent
l'intervention du ministre et du ministére des Finances. Nous
remarquons cependant que le ministre des Finances ne fait
pas partie du comité spécial établi par le ministre Dion. Tous
les témoins nous ont dit que le ministére des Finances accélére
avec un moteur de Volkswagen et, en méme temps, utilise les
freins d’une Rolls Royce. Autrement dit, il en faudra beaucoup
pour assurer la coordination nécessaire. Je ne sais pas ce que
vous faites vraiment.

J’espére que vous ne trouverez pas ces observations hostiles ou
agressives.

M. Efford : J’essaie de ne pas le faire.

Le sénateur Angus : Nous entendons toutes ces choses. Je
voudrais savoir ce que vous en pensez. Etes-vous d’accord avec
I’ancien ministre Anderson — I’autre M. Anderson — et les autres
témoins que j’ai mentionnés?

M. Efford : Je commencerai par dire que je suis plus d’accord
avec le M. Anderson ici présent qu’avec ’autre. Bien sir, chacun a
le droit d’étre sceptique. Il arrive cependant que le scepticisme
aille trop loin. Il ne m’appartient pas de porter des jugements a ce
sujet. Le ministre Dion nous apporte quelque chose de nouveau
depuis qu’il a été nommé ministre de I’Environnement. Il est trés
sérieux et trés engagé dans son travail. On prétend que je suis
beaucoup plus un lobbyiste pour I'industrie qu’un ministre. Je ne
suis pas du tout d’accord. Je peux garder la téte haute et affirmer
que je suis autant écologiste que n’importe qui d’autre dans le
pays. Je I’ai prouvé quand je faisais partie du gouvernement de
Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador et par mes réalisations dans ma ville.

Je suis parfois outré par ce que disent les groupes
environnementaux qui exagérent. Un nom a été mentionné il y
a quelques instants, Elizabeth May. Je connais Mme May depuis
quelques années, et je suis sir que le sénateur Adams sera
d’accord avec ceci. Nous avons collectivement combattu ensemble
du Grand Nord jusqu’a Terre-Neuve, mais on nous dit encore que
les phoques sont en voie d’extinction, alors que nous en avons
10 millions. Ce qui est en voie d’extinction, ce sont les gens qui
vivaient dans ces collectivités. Je suis vraiment outré par ce qui se
dit.

Permettez-moi de vous donner quelques nombres. Dans
I’ensemble, le gouvernement du Canada a engagé des fonds de
3,7 milliards de dollars entre 1998 et 2003 pour affronter le
changement climatique. Dans un pays qui compte 30 millions
d’habitants, je crois que tous les Canadiens conviendront que c’est
la preuve d’un engagement trés sérieux. Le ministre des Finances
n’est pas membre du comité, mais il est membre d’office de tous
les comités. C’est lui qui tient les ficelles. Le gouvernement du
Canada est trés sérieux au sujet de ’environnement.
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The one area of respect I have with the extreme environmental
groups — and sometimes I have become angry with them, and
you have probably heard me over the years give some speeches —
but they keep us on our toes. There is nothing wrong with some
scepticism or criticism to keep all of us as individuals on track —
as we do with our own peers, in our own family lives.

Canada is not trailing in the world in its responsibilities and
commitment to climate change. We are very committed. The
Prime Minister, in the Speech from the Throne, outlined
everything that we have done and everything that we intend to
do, and the financial commitment is very strong. Time will tell.

I will conclude by saying this on this particular issue: The one
thing that we do not do enough of — and we are guilty of that in
the Department of Natural Resources — is talk about it. We do
not boast about it enough. Arnold Schwarzenegger has a
reputation for leading the United States in the reduction of
fuel emissions in North America. That could not be further
from the truth. Today, we are far ahead of what they are doing.
Will they get ahead of us? They will have to do a much better
job than they are doing now. We have a 25 per cent reduction
goal which we hope to accomplish by 2010. We are already
at 6 per cent.

Senator Spivak: Could you repeat that?

Mr. Efford: By 2009, California will only be at 4 per cent.
They have some challenges with federal law and some industry
challenges. They talk, brag and boast about it, and I am saying
that we do not do enough of that.

Senator Angus: Minister, we are on your side and we like the
words. The reality is that you must then take issue with the
Commissioner of the Environment and Sustainable Development,
Ms. Gélinas. She says there is a big environmental deficit that this
government is racking up and that we are slipping down. The
OECD has come down with a report and it is showing us slipping
in our position of meeting the challenges, notwithstanding this
money that has been spent and these tools that we have at our
disposal.

I am not a great fan of the media buffs. This morning, Jeffrey
Simpson had a big, 8-column piece crapping all over our report
on the One-Tonne Challenge, which you happen to quite like, if I
hear your testimony correctly. That is the cynical input we get
from some of the members of the fourth estate. I found myself
reading it and rereading it, trying to figure out if he is right. I am
hoping that you folks will listen. You say you are listening. At the
end of the day — as you say you proved in Newfoundland and
Labrador — the proof of the pudding will be in the eating.

I would like to think that your goal would be that the
Commissioner of the Environment and Sustainable Development
will say next year in her report that the government has its act
together and is using the tools at its disposal, and is really in an
earnest and serious way trying to meet its goals on Kyoto. The
evidence that we are hearing — and we are just little senators

Il y a un avantage a l’action des groupes ultra-écologistes. Je
me suis parfois mis en colére contre eux, et vous avez
probablement entendu certains de mes discours, au fil des ans.
Néanmoins, ces groupes nous obligent a rester vigilants. Il n’y a
rien de mal a manifester un certain scepticisme ou a formuler des
critiques pour nous tenir éveillés, tout comme nous le faisons avec
nos pairs et méme avec des membres de notre famille.

Le Canada ne traine pas de I’arriére dans ses responsabilités et
son engagement envers le changement climatique. Nous sommes
trés engagés. Dans le discours du Trone, le premier ministre a mis
en évidence tout ce que nous avons réalisé et tout ce que nous
avons I'intention de faire. L’engagement financier est trés solide.
Nous verrons bien, a mesure que le temps passe.

Je vais conclure en disant ceci : ce qu’on peut vraiment nous
reprocher, au ministére des Ressources naturelles, c’est que nous
ne parlons pas assez de ce que nous faisons. Nous ne nous
vantons pas suffisamment. Arnold Schwarzenegger a la
réputation de mener les Etats-Unis au chapitre de la réduction
des émissions polluantes en Amérique du Nord. Rien n’est plus
faux. Nous sommes aujourd’hui extrémement avancés par
rapport aux Américains. Vont-ils nous dépasser? Il faudrait
pour cela qu’ils fassent beaucoup mieux que ce que nous faisons
actuellement. Nous avons un objectif de réduction de 25 p. 100,
que nous espérons atteindre d’ici 2010. Nous en sommes déja
a 6 p. 100.

Le sénateur Spivak : Pouvez-vous répéter cela?

M. Efford : D’ici 2009, la Californie n’en sera qu’a 4 p. 100.
Elle a des problémes attribuables aux lois fédérales et a I'industrie.
Les Californiens ne cessent pas d’en parler et de se vanter. Je dis,
de mon c6té, que nous ne nous vantons pas assez.

Le sénateur Angus : Monsieur le ministre, nous sommes
de votre c6té et nous aimons ce que nous entendons. En réalité,
vous devriez vous en prendre a la commissaire a ’environnement
et au développement durable, Mme G¢élinas. Elle affirme que
nous accusons un important déficit environnemental et
que nous continuons a prendre du retard. L’OCDE a publié un
rapport d’aprés lequel nous prenons aussi du retard, malgré
tout l’argent dépensé et tous les outils que nous avons a
notre disposition.

Je ne suis pas un fervent adepte des médias. Ce matin, Jeffrey
Simpson a signé un article sur huit colonnes descendant en
flammes notre rapport sur le Défi d’une tonne, que vous semblez
beaucoup aimer, si j’ai bien compris votre témoignage. Voila
l’apport cynique que nous recevons de certains journalistes. J’ai lu
et relu Plarticle, essayant de déterminer si l'auteur avait raison.
J’espére que vous autres resterez a 1’écoute. Vous dites que vous
écoutez. En fin de compte, comme vous dites que vous l'avez
prouvé a Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador, c’est a l'usage que nous
pourrons porter un jugement.

Jespére que vous avez pour objectif de faire en sorte que la
commissaire a I’environnement et au développement durable dise
I’année prochaine dans son rapport que le gouvernement s’est
concerté, qu’il utilise les outils & sa disposition et qu’il essaie
sérieusement et sincérement d’atteindre ses objectifs reliés a
Kyoto. Les témoignages que nous avons regus — nous ne sommes
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trying to do a good job for the country and to help you do
yours — is that something is not being done correctly. I end, then,
with a sort of rhetorical question.

Mr. Efford: I appreciate your comments. Let me just go back
to the last part of your comment about the One-Tonne Challenge.
We only launched the One-Tonne Challenge back in March.

Senator Angus: March of this year?

Mr. Efford: March of this year. It is a national program.
We aim to engage and educate Canadians into energy efficiency.
Let me tell you what I learned.

Senator Angus: I also want you to tell me what you are
doing, too.

Mr. Efford: T will. I am talking about the One-Tonne
Challenge. That started me thinking about what I am doing in
my own household as a Canadian.

Senator Angus: Exactly. We all are doing that here.

Mr. Efford: I made some improvements. I turned off my hot
water heater when I left home with my wife to come here to
Ottawa. The house was closed up, so we do not turn it on. It takes
time to educate and to draw conclusions from the One-Tonne
Challenge in a short period of time. It takes time. The best
education is getting into the schools. I must say the department is
going very aggressively into the schools. I did that in a similar
program in 1993 when I was Minister of Transportation in
cleaning up our highways in Newfoundland.

Do we have a long way to go? Yes. Are we on the right track?
Yes, we are. Do we deserve some criticism? Yes, we do. As
Canadians, we should be very aware of what we are doing. We are
only — I call it — in our infancy in dealing with climate change.
This file will never be completed as long as the world remains.

I remember a couple of weeks ago, or last week when President
Bush was here. He said that as world leaders we should realize
what dealing with climate change is. He made two statements: If
Canada shut down everything, just completely blanked out
everything in this country, we would be less than 2 per cent of
the emissions into the world, and Mount St. Helen’s in the
United States lets off more greenhouse gas emissions from that
one volcano than all of the industries in the United States.

While we must recognize what is happening, we have our
challenges and we have our needs. We have things to do, but
Canada is doing it. For example, in the last budget for cleaning up
our waste sites, we had $2 billion.

Mr. Anderson: Three.

Mr. Efford: $3 billion on top of this in cleaning up
contaminated sites in this country. Maybe I should sit down
with the environmental commissioner and learn what more things
we should be doing.

Senator Angus: Do that.

que de modestes sénateurs essayant de travailler pour le pays et de
vous aider a vous acquitter de vos fonctions — nous portent a
croire qu’il y a quelque chose qui ne va pas. Je termine donc par
cette question plus ou moins théorique.

M. Efford : Je vous remercie de vos commentaires. Permettez-
moi de revenir a la derniére partie de mon observation concernant
le Défi d’une tonne. Nous n’avons lancé ce défi qu’en mars.

Le sénateur Angus : En mars de cette année?

M. Efford : C’est bien cela. Il s’agit d’un programme national.
Nous voulons sensibiliser les Canadiens et les amener a
économiser 1’énergie. Je vais vous dire ce que j’ai appris.

Le sénateur Angus : J’aimerais que vous nous parliez aussi de ce
que vous faites.

M. Efford : Je le ferai. Je parle du Défi d’une tonne, qui m’a
incité a penser a ce que je fais dans ma propre maison, en tant que
Canadien.

Le sénateur Angus : Exactement. Nous le faisons tous ici.

M. Efford : Jai fait quelques améliorations. J’ai coupé le
chauffe-eau quand je suis parti avec ma femme pour venir a
Ottawa. La maison était fermée, nous n’avions donc pas besoin
d’eau chaude. Il faut du temps pour sensibiliser les gens et pour
tirer des conclusions du Défi d’une tonne. La meilleure fagon de
procéder, c’est de le faire a I’école. Je dois dire que le ministére est
trés dynamique dans ses relations avec les écoles. J’ai fait la méme
chose en 1993 lorsque j’étais ministre des Transports a Terre-
Neuve et que nous voulions nettoyer nos routes.

Nous reste-t-il encore beaucoup de chemin a parcourir? Oui.
Sommes-nous sur la bonne voie? Oui, nous le sommes. Méritons-
nous d’étre critiqués? Oui. A titre de Canadiens, nous devrions
étre trés conscients de ce que nous faisons. Nous n’en sommes
encore qu’aux premiers balbutiements en ce qui concerne le
changement climatique. Ce dossier ne sera jamais terminé tant
qu’il y aura un monde.

Il y a deux semaines, ou plutdt la semaine derniére, pendant
que le président Bush était ici, il a dit qu’en qualité de dirigeants
du monde, nous devons bien comprendre ce qu’est le changement
climatique. Il a fait deux déclarations. Si le Canada arrétait la
totalit¢ de ses activités, nous aurions moins de 2 p. 100 des
émissions mondiales. Aux Etats-Unis, le mont Sainte-Héléne
produit a lui tout seul plus d’émissions de gaz a effet de serre que
I’ensemble des industries des Etats-Unis.

Tout en étant conscients de ce qui se produit, nous avons des
problémes et des besoins. Nous avons des choses a faire, mais le
Canada agit. Ainsi, dans le dernier budget, nous avons prévu
2 milliards de dollars pour nettoyer nos sites de déchets.

M. Anderson : Trois milliards.

M. Efford : Trois milliards pour nettoyer des sites contaminés
dans le pays. Je devrais peut-étre avoir un entretien avec la
commissaire a ’environnement pour qu’elle me parle de ce que
nous pouvons faire de plus.

Le sénateur Angus : Ce ne serait pas une mauvaise idée.
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Mr. Efford: We can do more. We can all learn from each other.

Senator Angus: Minister, I am on the other side of the table,
but you sound like the right minister. I like hearing what you are
saying. I urge you to sit down with the Commissioner of the
Environment and to follow what happens at this committee. The
transcripts are available literally within hours of each hearing, so
go for it.

Mr. Anderson: I will add two things if I may. Most departments
of government produce every three years a sustainable
development reports and the Commissioner of the Environment
has decided that our previous one and the one we have just
brought out is the best in the package. As a department, we like to
think we are performing very well in terms of defining our goals
for sustainable development and measuring our outputs and all
that type of thing.

On the One-Tonne Challenge, in the New Year I think you will
be pleased to see the new campaign that will be coming out. One
part of that will be partnerships. There are many partnerships that
we have developed with the private sector. You will see point-of-
sale promotions and that type of thing being linked into the
broader campaign that will be coming out in the New Year.

Senator Angus: Is there a way that individuals could make a
difference? Perhaps we can, with your and Minister Dion’s
leadership, because the vast amount of emissions, we are told, is
on the roads — at least 50 per cent, apart from the big
industrials. How can we convince the public that we can make
a difference?

Mr. Efford: I think it will take a lot of education, a lot of
talking, and a lot of promotion.

Senator Angus: Like this.

Mr. Efford: Yes, like this. The long-term goal is reaching the
elementary and high schools, in getting to the youth because they
are the best teachers and they are the best people to control the
parents. Other things are happening. One of the factors, as you
say, is the use of vehicles on the highways.

Senator Angus: Those SUVs are everywhere. Four out of five
vehicles are SUVs.

Senator Spivak: Outlaw them.

Mr. Efford: It is amazing. I have said to some friends of mine
back home when they pull into the gas station and they complain
about the price of fuel back in Newfoundland — which is now
99 cents is litre — that they will buy a $70,000 vehicle. They do
not complain about that. I think, over time, with the education,
the cost of fuel and the economy, that will all change. The
industry has to produce more small vehicles, more fuel-efficient
vehicles and new technology will all come on stream. It will take

M. Efford : Nous pouvons en faire plus. Nous avons tous des
choses a apprendre les uns des autres.

Le sénateur Angus : Monsieur le ministre, je suis de I’autre coté
de la table, mais vous me donnez I'impression d’étre le ministre
qu’il nous faut. J’aime bien ce que vous nous dites. Je vous
exhorte a tenir une réunion avec la commissaire a ’environnement
pour donner suite a cette séance du comité. La transcription des
délibérations sera préte quelques heure a peine aprés la fin de la
réunion. Vous pouvez donc y aller.

M. Anderson : Je voudrais ajouter deux choses, si vous le
permettez. La plupart des ministéres fédéraux produisent tous les
trois ans un rapport sur le développement durable. La
commissaire a ’environnement a décidé que notre avant-dernier
rapport et le dernier que nous venons de produire sont les
meilleurs de la série. Comme ministére, nous avons I'impression
d’avoir un trés bon rendement pour ce qui est de la définition de
nos objectifs de développement durable et de la mesure de nos
résultats.

Au sujet du Défi d’une tonne, je crois que vous serez heureux
de voir, au début de la nouvelle année, la nouvelle campagne que
nous langons. Il s’agira en partie de partenariats. Nous avons
établi de nombreux partenariats avec le secteur privé. Il y aura des
promotions sur les lieux de vente, qui seront rattachées a la
campagne plus vaste que nous entreprenons dans la nouvelle
année.

Le sénateur Angus : Y a-t-il un moyen pour les particuliers de
contribuer concrétement aux objectifs? Peut-étre pouvons-nous
faire quelque chose sous votre direction et celle du ministre Dion,
parce qu’on nous dit qu'une grande quantité d’émissions vient de
nos routes, peut-étre 50 p. 100, a part les grandes industries.
Comment pouvons-nous convaincre le public que I’action de
chaque personne compte?

M. Efford : Il faudra beaucoup de travail de sensibilisation. Il
faudra beaucoup parler et faire beaucoup de promotion.

Le sénateur Angus : Comme ceci.

M. Efford : Oui, comme ceci. L’objectif a long terme consiste a
agir dans les écoles primaires et secondaires, a toucher les jeunes,
qui sont les meilleurs enseignants et les mieux placés pour
contréler les parents. D’autres choses se produisent. Lun des
facteurs, comme vous ’avez dit, c’est I'utilisation des véhicules sur
les routes.

Le sénateur Angus : Les véhicules de loisir travail sont partout.
Ils représentent peut-étre 80 p. 100 de l’ensemble du parc
automobile.

Le sénateur Spivak : Vous devriez les interdire.

M. Efford : C’est extraordinaire. J’ai demandé a des amis de
Terre-Neuve qui se plaignaient du prix de ’essence — nous en
sommes maintenant a 99 cents le litre — pourquoi ils ne se
plaignaient pas plutot du prix de leur véhicule, qu’ils avaient payé
70 000 $. Avec le temps et I’éducation, avec I’évolution de
I’économie et du prix des combustibles, tout cela changera.
L’industrie automobile doit produire davantage de petits
véhicules économiques et a grand rendement énergétique. De
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time, energy and education and all of us working together
towards this goal. Again, we have to talk and boast more about
what we are doing, because we are doing a lot, but we are not
talking about it. Americans are good about boasting. We are not.

The Chairman: Our next questioner is a senator who is well
known to you. He is the one who keeps us honest on the north,
Senator Adams.

Senator Adams: Minister, you mentioned about public health
officials and security officials, from the municipal governments to
the Aboriginal community. What does that mean, that in some
ways you deal with the municipality and people in the
community?

Mr. Efford: I did not hear the question.

Senator Adams: You mentioned the public health officials and
the security officials, from the municipal governments to the
Aboriginal communities, on the second page.

Mr. Efford: The other day, I gave a speech to a number of
countries. I think representatives from 57 countries around the
world were here. You all saw the news recently over the massive
flooding in the Philippines. With the right information in the
geomatics, these things can be predicted. In regard to public
health, with the right information and technology, these can be
used to pass information along to communities. That is the
direction where I was leading and making those statements. It is a
very responsible manner of informing people of security issues,
health issues environmental nature, all those issues.

Mr. Anderson: Perhaps it would be helpful if I just explained
what geomatics is. It is taking all kinds of data — it might be
health data; it might be rainfall data, the quality of earth, security
issues, roads, transport issues — all of this data is put together on
a geographic basis so that you can use maps to see what is going
on. This is very useful for these types of officials. If they want to
ask, “What are the links between these different issues?” If you
are having flooding and you are worried about what the flooding
might be doing in terms of contaminating the water system, this
type of data is available for that.

Senator Adams: Mostly you are talking about equipment, the
type of equipment for safety wise and health and stuff.

Mr. Efford: You cannot stop the weather pattern but you
can certainly predict it and prepare the people for it with
much less of a hazard or tragedy than you could without
compiling that information. Compiling that information and
getting it out to the community, as the deputy has just said.

Senator Adams: In the meantime, you have new technology
coming out or some kind of equipment from the satellite?

nouvelles technologies feront leur apparition. Il faudra du temps,
de I’énergie et de la sensibilisation. Nous devrons travailler tous
ensemble en faveur de cet objectif. Encore une fois, nous devons
parler et nous vanter davantage de ce que nous faisons, parce que
nous en faisons beaucoup et que nous n’en parlons pas assez. Les
Américains sont trés bons quand il s’agit de se vanter. Ce n’est pas
notre cas.

Le président : C’est maintenant au tour d’un sénateur que vous
connaissez bien. C’est le sénateur Adams, qui veille a notre
intégrité dans le Nord.

Le sénateur Adams : Monsieur le ministre, vous avez
mentionné les agents de I’hygiéne publique et les agents de la
sécurité nationale, ainsi que les administrations municipales et les
communautés autochtones. Qu’est-ce que cela signifie lorsque
vous traitez avec la municipalité et les gens de la collectivité?

M. Efford : Je n’ai pas entendu la question.

Le sénateur Adams : Vous avez mentionné les agents de
I’hygiéne publique et les agents de la sécurité nationale, ainsi
que les administrations municipales et les communautés
autochtones. C’est a la page 2 de votre texte.

M. Efford : L’autre jour, j’ai prononcé un discours au cours
d’une réunion ou étaient représentés plusieurs pays. Je crois que
des représentants de 57 pays du monde étaient présents. Vous
avez tous vu aux actualités les grandes inondations qui ont frappé
les Philippines. Avec la bonne information géomatique, il serait
possible de prédire ces phénomenes. Pour ce qui est de I'hygiéne
publique, si on dispose de bons renseignements et d’une
technologie au point, on peut s’en servir pour renseigner les
collectivités. C’est de cela que je voulais parler. C’est une fagon
trés responsable d’informer les gens des problémes touchant la
sécurité, la santé, I’environnement, et cetera.

M. Anderson : Il serait peut-étre utile que j’explique briévement
ce qu’est la géomatique. C’est la science qui consiste a prendre
toutes sortes de données — données sur la santé, sur les pluies, la
qualité de la terre, les questions de sécurité, les routes, les
problémes de transport — et de les regrouper sur une base
géographique, puis de les porter sur des cartes afin d’observer ce
qui se passe. Cela est trés utile pour les spécialistes. S’ils
s’interrogent sur les liens entre les différentes questions, s’ils se
posent des questions sur les effets des inondations sur la
contamination de I’approvisionnement en eau, ces données
peuvent fournir la réponse.

Le sénateur Adams : Vous parlez surtout de matériel. Du
matériel pour la sécurité, la santé, et cetera.

M. Efford : On ne peut pas agir sur les conditions
météorologiques, mais on peut sdrement les prédire, et
permettre ainsi aux gens de se préparer, ce qui réduit les
chances d’une tragédie toujours possible en 1’absence de
renseignements de ce genre. Nous compilons I'information et la
transmettons aux collectivités, comme le sous-ministre vient
de le dire.

Le sénateur Adams : Entre-temps, vous avez bien des nouvelles
technologies qui font leur apparition ou bien du matériel par
satellite?
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Mr. Efford: That is already there.

Senator Adams: My second question, I used to be an electrician
at one time, but for the past 28 years I have been in the Senate.
We have very high costs of power in the North, especially more
this year because of the cost of fuel and everything. You
mentioned that you will be spending another $26 million in
Alberta. Alberta pays less per kilowatt hour than we pay where
we live. Have you looked at the situation in the North, the high
cost of living and who is more important when the government is
putting more money into wind energy?

Mr. Efford: Absolutely. There is no area in Canada where we
would not invest into partnerships with communities or with
industry to expand the wind power. In the most recent budget,
the Prime Minister was very clear on quadrupling the wind
power energy in Canada from 1,000 to 4,000 megawatts. In
the areas of Newfoundland where I live on the Atlantic coast
there are now a couple of companies using provincial funds —
I am not sure if they are using federal funding, but there
are certainly partnerships with industry and governments for
wind power.

Certainly, in the North they would be very susceptible to the
adoption of wind power, what with the high cost of diesel. There
are no restrictions on where we will or will not invest.

Mr. Anderson: All T will add is that we have been doing some
work within the department on communities that are off the grid
because they have the highest electricity costs in Canada. They are
frequently burning a lot of diesel. I know you can get costs as high
as 50 cents a kilowatt hour in Iqualuit.

Senator Adams: Or other places.

Mr. Anderson: Last night I was talking to the Deputy Minister
of Indian and Northern Affairs. I have not told my Assistant
Deputy Minister yet, Mr. Brown, but we agreed we would get
together to look at some possibilities for the North. Somebody at
this dinner that we were at was from Iqualuit. There are
possibilities of small hydro — not that small, but relatively
small hydro — in Nunavut as well.

Senator Adams: In the meantime —
Senator Spivak: The one on the river?
Senator Milne: The river does not run all year long.

Mr. Anderson: That is what I thought, but it is available
12 months of the year.

Senator Adams: In the meantime, the government is running
it right now. It was called NTCO, the Northwest Territories
Power Corporation, at one time. Now we have the Nunavut
Power Corporation. It is separated. But for me, living in the
community, most of the people are mechanics and operators
and they do not come from the community. In the meantime, we
have satellite dishes hooked up outside the power plant and

M. Efford : Nous en avons déja.

Le sénateur Adams : Je passe a la deuxiéme question. J’ai déja
été électricien, mais j’ai passé les 28 derniéres années au Sénat. Le
prix de I’énergie est trés élevé dans le Nord, surtout cette année a
cause de la hausse des prix du carburant et tout le reste. Vous avez
mentionné que vous dépenserez 26 millions de dollars de plus en
Alberta. L’Alberta paie moins le kilowatt d’électricité que nous
devons le faire. Avez-vous considéré la situation dans le Nord, le
colt élevé de la vie et les endroits ou il est le plus important
d’investir dans Iénergie éolienne?

M. Efford : Absolument. Il n’y a aucune région du Canada ou
nous ne sommes pas disposés a investir dans des partenariats avec
les collectivités ou I'industrie pour développer I’énergie éolienne.
Dans le dernier budget, le premier ministre a été tres clair : il veut
quadrupler 1’énergie éolienne au Canada, c’est-a-dire la faire
passait de 1 000 a 4 000 mégawatts. Dans les régions de Terre-
Neuve ou je vis, sur la cote atlantique, nous avons deux sociétés
qui utilisent des fonds provinciaux. Je ne sais pas si elles ne
regoivent pas aussi un financement fédéral. Quoi qu’il en soit,
nous avons des partenariats avec 'industrie et les gouvernements
pour développer Iénergie éolienne.

Il est certain que le Nord serait tout indiqué pour I’énergie
éolienne a cause du coit élevé du combustible diesel. Nous
n’avons aucune restriction sur les endroits ou nous sommes
disposés a investir.

M. Anderson : Je voudrais ajouter que le ministere a travaillé
sur les collectivités qui ne sont pas branchées sur le réseau,
puisqu’elles ont les cotts d’électricité les plus élevés du Canada.
Elles briilent souvent beaucoup de combustible diesel. Je sais que
le cott peut atteindre 50 cents le kilowatt-heure a Iqaluit.

Le sénateur Adams : Ou ailleurs.

M. Anderson : Hier soir, je parlais avec le sous-ministre des
Affaires indiennes et du Nord canadien. Je ne I’ai pas encore dit a
mon sous-ministre adjoint, M. Brown, mais nous avons convenu
de nous retrouver pour discuter de certaines possibilités dans le
Nord. L’une des personnes présentes au diner ou nous étions
venait d’Iqaluit. Il pourrait étre possible de construire de petites
usines hydroélectriques, pas si petites que cela, mais relativement
petites au Nunavut également.

Le sénateur Adams : Entre-temps...
Le sénateur Spivak : Sur la riviére?
Le sénateur Milne : La riviére ne coule pas toute I’année.

M. Anderson : C’est aussi ce que je croyais, mais, en fait, elle
coule 12 mois par an.

Le sénateur Adams : Entre-temps, le gouvernement exploite
actuellement 1’entreprise. Elle a déja porté le nom de Société
d’énergie des Territoires du Nord-Ouest. Aujourd’hui, c’est la
Société d’énergiec du Nunavut. Elle est distincte. Mais, pour moi
qui habite dans la collectivité, la plupart des gens sont des
mécaniciens et des opérateurs qui ne sont pas des résidents locaux.
Entre-temps, nous avons des antennes paraboliques branchées a
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people are watching it, monitoring how much power they put out.
In the meantime, we lose a lot of money every year with the
power corp.

Is there some way to look into how the government is
operating? I think we should look into what we should base it on.
We should be able to teach some of the people in the community
how to operate the system, and the people who have to provide it,
bring it to the community. It costs a lot of money to operate. That
is why the power corp. could not operate, and now I see one
increase two months ago and they wanted to raise the rates
another 30 per cent. The public cannot afford it right now. Why
do they want to raise it another 30 per cent? They already lose
about $16 million a year or something like that in deficit.

In the meantime, I am glad you have a new calendar with the
sun rising up there is the Great Spirit. Right now, I think she will
not be coming out until some time in February and they have, at
the top of the igloo, a wind generator. Showing it is nice. I would
like the senator to come to the community. I met him last October
and I asked him, when do you want to meet me? He said “Wait
until the sun is coming out.” Now I can say that the sun is coming
up and it will be rising maybe in the middle of February.

In the meantime, my question is that perhaps we should look
into whether people in Nunavut should get into the windmill
business. The system belongs to the power corporation, which is
operating it. Not only that, we are looking at future increases in
kilowatt hours.

The Chairman: Minister, you mentioned a quadrupling in the
WPPI. We are wondering whether that will be four times as many
generators, four times as many companies involved or a
quadrupling of the existing wind farms? What will we
quadruple in the WPPI?

Mr. Efford: We will increase our output from 1,000 megawatts
to 4,000 megawatts.

The Chairman: How will we do that?

Mr. Efford: There will be investment from different companies
and groups across Canada. There will not be one large turbine
that will create 1,000 to 4,000 megawatts. There will be an
expansion of wind turbines across the country — in the East, the
West, the North and centrally. Canadians need to become more
familiar with wind power.

While wind power is a natural power, it is not cheap. It is
expensive right now, but it is an alternative energy for the future,
and the more investment that is made today the more available it
will be in the future, and at a lower cost.

I met a few days ago with Minister Duncan, the Minister of
Energy for Ontario. He expects that there will be a manufacturing
company set up in Ontario to make parts for wind turbines. The
more of that that is done in Canada, the cheaper it will be. It will
be 4,000 megawatts at the Whitby program, but it will not be

Iextérieur de la centrale. Les gens observent, cherchant a
déterminer combien d’énergie est produite. Entre-temps, nous
perdons beaucoup d’argent chaque année dans cette société.

Y a-t-il un moyen de déterminer de quelle fagon le
gouvernement fonctionne? Nous devrions chercher sur quoi
baser cela. Nous devrions pouvoir enseigner a des locaux le
fonctionnement des appareils. Nous devrions laisser cela a la
collectivité. La centrale cotte cher a exploiter. Voila pourquoi la
Société d’énergie ne peut pas continuer a fonctionner. Nous avons
eu une majoration des taux il y a deux mois. La société voulait
nous augmenter encore une fois de 30 p. 100. Les taux ne sont
plus abordables. Pourquoi la société veut-elle imposer une autre
augmentation de 30 p. 100? Elle a déja un déficit annuel d’environ
16 millions de dollars.

Entre-temps, je suis heureux de voir que vous avez un nouveau
calendrier. Le soleil qui monte, c’est le Grand Esprit. En cette
saison, le soleil ne reviendra pas avant février et, au sommet de
I'igloo, il y a une éolienne. Tout cela est bien beau. J’aimerais que
le sénateur vienne dans la collectivité. Je I’ai rencontré en octobre
dernier et lui ai demandé : Quand voulez-vous me rencontrer? Il a
dit : « Attendez que le soleil se léve. » Maintenant, je peux dire
que le soleil se levera vers la mi-février.

Entre-temps, je crois que nous devrions déterminer si les gens
du Nunavut devraient commencer a se soucier de 1’énergie
éolienne. Le systéme appartient a la Société d’énergie qui
I’exploite. Non seulement cela, mais nous allons devoir
supporter a I’avenir des majorations du prix du kilowattheure.

Le président : Monsieur le ministre, vous avez parlé de
quadrupler la production dans le cadre du programme
Encouragement a la production d’énergie éolienne. Comptez-
vous quadrupler le nombre des éoliennes, le nombre des
entreprises ou le nombre des parcs d’éoliennes? Qu’allez-vous
quadrupler exactement?

M. Efford : Nous ferons passer la production de 1000 a
4000 mégawatts.

Le président : Comment allez-vous le faire?

M. Efford : Il y aura des investissements venant de différents
groupes et sociétés du Canada. Il ne s’agit pas d’une seule grande
turbine qui produira 1000 a 4 000 mégawatts. Nous
développerons les parcs d’éoliennes partout dans le pays, dans
I’Est, dans I’Ouest, dans le Nord et dans le Centre. Les Canadiens
doivent apprendre a mieux connaitre I’énergie éolienne.

Méme si I'énergie éolienne est une énergie naturelle, elle n’est
pas bon marché. Actuellement, elle est assez cotiteuse, mais c’est
une énergie de remplacement pour l'avenir. Plus nous ferons
d’investissements aujourd’hui, plus nous pourrons en disposer
plus tard, a un prix plus abordable.

Je me suis entretenu il y a quelques jours avec M. Duncan,
ministre de I’Energie de ’Ontario. Il s’attend a ce qu’une société
s’établisse dans la province pour produire des piéces d’éolienne.
Plus nous entrerons dans ce domaine au Canada, moins I’énergie
éolienne cottera. Nous aurons 4000 mégawatts grace au
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committed to only a few; it will be as many as possible across
the country.

The Chairman: Will that be achieved by quadrupling the
incentives that are in place?

Mr. Anderson: We are looking at that. At the moment, we have
a federal incentive that is matched by the provinces, and that
seems to be adequate.

There is a question as to whether, as the cost of wind energy
decreases, there would be adjustments to the incentives. Ministers
will have to consider such things, but the goal is 4,000 megawatts.

Mr. Efford: The emerging renewable electricity programs are to
encourage the production of electricity from emerging renewable
sources, and there is $260,000 in wind power production
incentives. That is in place, and the government will naturally
be investing not only in wind power but in all sorts of alternative
energies for the future.

The Chairman: Am I correct that with respect to quadrupling,
it is a goal and not a commitment of funds or programs?

Mr. Anderson: It was in the Speech from the Throne but we
have not yet announced the program details.

The Chairman: I would be grateful if, when you do, you would
send the details to the clerk. We would be very interested in seeing
them.

Senator Milne: Mr. Minister, you talked about $78 million to
help six companies start building new ethanol plants.
I understand that there was a proposal for one of these plants
in Sudbury in Northern Ontario. Can you tell me what stage
that is at?

Mr. Efford: The first §78 million was committed earlier this
year to six or seven companies. We announced the second
program just yesterday, and any companies that did not make the
first round will be able to apply for the second round.

Senator Milne: Sudbury will get on the list for the second
round?

Mr. Efford: If they so choose.

Senator Milne: I understand that they missed out in the first
round.

Mr. Anderson: It will be by competition.

Senator Milne: You talked about gas hydrates. This is a subject
that interests me very much. With the climate change that we are
currently undergoing, if we do not come up soon with a way to
use these gas hydrates that are buried either under the ocean or in
the ground in the North, they will begin to show up where we do
not want them to show up, that being in the atmosphere. If we are
to use them, we had better get on with it. At what stage is that
research? How close it is to a practicable result?

programme Encouragement a la production d’énergie éolienne,
mais les investissements n’iront pas a un nombre limité de sites.
Nous en établirons autant que possible un peu partout dans le
pays.

Le président : Comptez-vous y arriver en quadruplant les
incitatifs existants?

M. Anderson : Nous y pensions. Pour le moment, nous avons
un incitatif fédéral, auquel s’ajoute un incitatif provincial
équivalent. Cela semble suffisant.

La question est de savoir si les incitatifs seront rajustés a

mesure que le prix de I’énergie éolienne baisse. Les ministres
devront I’envisager, mais I’objectif actuel est de 4000 mégawatts.

M. Efford : Les nouveaux programmes d’électricité
renouvelable ont pour but d’encourager la production
d’¢électricité a partir de sources renouvelables. 11 y a 260 000 $
d’incitatifs pour D’énergie éolienne. Cela existe déja.
Naturellement, le gouvernement investira non seulement dans
I’énergie éolienne, mais dans toutes sortes d’énergie de
remplacement pour l’avenir.

Le président : Ai-je raison de croire que lorsque vous parlez de
quadrupler, c’est un objectif auquel ne correspond pas un
engagement de fonds ou le financement d’un programme
particulier?

M. Anderson : C’était dans le discours du Trone, mais nous
n’avons pas encore annoncé les détails du programme.

Le président : Je vous serais reconnaissant de communiquer ces
détails au greffier du comité dés qu’ils seront rendus publics. Nous
sommes trés intéressés a les voir.

Le sénateur Milne : Monsieur le ministre, vous avez parlé de
78 millions de dollars pour aider six sociétés a construire de
nouvelles usines d’éthanol. J’ai cru comprendre qu’il était proposé
de construire I'une de ces usines a Sudbury, dans le nord de
I’Ontario. Pouvez-vous nous dire a quel stade en est ce projet?

M. Efford : Le premier montant de 78 millions de dollars a été
engagé plus tot cette année en faveur de six ou sept sociétés. Nous
avons annoncé un deuxiéme programme hier. Toute société dont
la proposition n’a pas été acceptée au premier tour peut présenter
une demande.

Le sénateur Milne : Est-ce que Sudbury figurera sur la liste au
deuxiéme tour?

M. Efford : Si la société le souhaite.

Le sénateur Milne : Je crois savoir qu’elle a manqué le premier
tour.

M. Anderson : Cela se fait par concours.

Le sénateur Milne : Vous avez parlé des hydrates de gaz. C’est
un sujet qui m’intéresse beaucoup. Avec le changement climatique
qui se manifeste, si nous ne découvrons pas bientét un moyen
d’utiliser ces hydrates de gaz enfouis sous ’océan ou dans le sous-
sol du Nord, ils commenceront a envahir des endroits ou nous ne
voulons pas les voir, c’est-a-dire notre atmospheére. Si nous
devons les utiliser, nous avons intérét a nous hater. Ou en est la
recherche? Sommes-nous proches dun résultat pratique?
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Mr. Anderson: These gas hydrates, as you know, are frozen.

Senator Milne: Precisely.

Mr. Anderson: They are frozen either in the permafrost or
under the ocean. Most of them are under the ocean. Dr. Boon is
the world’s expert on the subject, and he can address this.

Dr. Jan Boon, Director General, Earth Sciences Sector,
Geological Survey of Canada (GSC) — Sedimentary and Marine
Geoscience Branch, Natural Resources Canada: With regard to
where the gas hydrates occur —

Senator Milne: I know where they occur. I am wondering what
stage the research is at?

Mr. Boon: We are negotiating with Japanese partners for an
extended pilot test in the North. We do not yet know for sure how
this will come about and how it will be done.

In a pilot test about two years ago, we injected heat into the
formation and measured the amount of gas hydrate that was
produced as a function of the heat. That was completely
experimental. We were much more interested in whether that
would work.

Senator Milne: You did not get an explosion?

Mr. Boon: Absolutely not. On the basis of the information
from that test pilot, we have done some economic calculations
and some recovery calculations. This is all fairly uncertain
because the duration of the test was only three weeks, which
is a very short period of time. We came up with a cost of
production of close to $10 per million cubic feet, which is about
double what it costs now. With a few more pilot projects in
the North, we would have the information that would allow
us to move ahead.

The oil sands were developed over the past 25 years and I
would say that with respect to gas hydrates, we are now where we
were with the oil sands in about 1975.

Senator Milne: So we are 30 years away?

Mr. Boon: The oil sands currently produce 25 to 30 per cent of
our energy. It takes some time, but the point is that we think there
is a good resource there. Of course it is risky, but it is a risk that is
very well worth taking.

Senator Milne: I am not quarrelling with you on that. I am just
pointing out that there may be some urgency to this because, as
the climate warms and the ocean warms, these things will show up
in the atmosphere.

Mr. Boon: Yes. However, they will not show up in a matter of
20 years.

Senator Milne: The tundra is melting pretty fast up there.

Mr. Boon: Yes, but the gas hydrates are about 1,000 metres
deep. It will take more than 20 years.

M. Anderson : Comme vous le savez, ces hydrates de gaz sont
gelés.

Le sénateur Milne : Exactement.

M. Anderson : Ils sont gelés soit dans le pergélisol soit sous
I’océan. La plupart se trouvent sous ’océan. M. Boon est I’expert
mondial dans ce domaine. Il voudra peut-étre en parler.

M. Jan Boon, directeur général, Secteur des services de la terre,
Commission géologique du Canada (CGC) — Direction de la
géologie sédimentaire et marine, Ressources naturelles Canada :
Pour ce qui est de ’endroit ou se trouvent les hydrates de gaz...

Le sénateur Milne : Je sais ou ils se trouvent. Je m’interroge sur
le stade ou en est la recherche.

M. Boon: Nous sommes en train de négocier avec des
partenaires japonais ’organisation d’un essai pilote étendu dans

le Nord. Nous ne savons pas encore a quoi cela aboutira ni
comment les choses se feront.

Au cours d’un essai pilote réalisé il y a deux ans, nous avons
injecté de la chaleur dans la formation et avons mesuré la quantité
d’hydrates produits par rapport a la chaleur consommée.
L’opération était tout a fait expérimentale. Nous voulions
essentiellement savoir si c’était réalisable.

Le sénateur Milne : Les hydrates n’ont pas explosé?

M. Boon : Pas du tout. En nous basant sur les renseignements
fournis par I’essai pilote, nous avons fait quelques calculs
économiques et quelques calculs de récupération. Tout cela
comporte une importante marge d’incertitude parce que I’essai n’a
duré que trois semaines, ce qui est vraiment trés court. Nous
avons abouti a un cotit de production d’environ 10 $ par millions
de pieds cubes, ce qui représente a peu pres le double du cott
actuel. En réalisant quelques autres projets pilotes dans le Nord,
nous pourrions réunir assez de renseignements pour aller
de I’avant.

La mise en valeur des sables bitumineux s’est faite sur une
période de 25 ans. Pour ce qui est des hydrates de gaz, nous en
sommes peut-étre aujourd’hui la ot nous en étions dans le cas des
sables bitumineux aux alentours de 1975.

Le sénateur Milne : Nous serions donc a 30 ans d’un résultat?

M. Boon : En ce moment, les sables bitumineux sont la source
de 25 a 30 p. 100 de notre énergie. Cela prend du temps, mais nous
croyons avoir la une bonne source d’énergie. Bien sir, il y a un
risque, mais c’est un risque qu’il vaut la peine de prendre.

Le sénateur Milne : Je ne le contesterai pas. Je veux juste
signaler que cette affaire pourrait étre urgente. A mesure que le
climat et 'océan se réchauffent, ces hydrates vont commencer a se
manifester dans I’atmosphere.

M. Boon : Oui. Toutefois, ils ne se manifesteront pas d’ici
20 ans.

Le sénateur Milne : La toundra dégele assez vite dans le Nord.

M. Boon : Oui, mais les hydrates de gaz se trouvent a un millier
de métres de profondeur. Il leur faudra plus de 20 ans pour se
manifester.
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Senator Angus: How many years will it take?

Mr. Boon: If you do the calculations on the fusion of heat from
the surface down, it would be well over 80 or 90 years.

Mr. Efford: I understand your concern and your urgency. That
is why money is being invested in research. That is why we are
partnering with countries like Japan and exchanging technology
information worldwide.

Senator Milne: The Japanese are doing a lot of work.

Mr. Efford: A lot of work is being done and a lot more needs to
be done, and whatever time it takes, it will be done. Keep in mind
that that is only one of the areas in which research and
development is being done.

Senator Milne: I sincerely hope so.

This committee is now doing a study on water. Your
sustainable development strategy in 2001 included commitments
to develop a national groundwater strategy and a national
groundwater database. What stage is that at?

Mr. Boon: NRCan has a groundwater program in which we
work closely with a number of other federal government
departments and also with all the provinces. We are currently
mapping a number of aquifers across the country in cooperation
with our partners. We hope to complete mapping the most
important 20 per cent of them in about two years. The
information that we gather is collected in a database that we
are currently perfecting, which is partly functioning.

I should also add that there is a big program within Agriculture
Canada called the National Land and Water Information System,
and actually our databases will link to that system. They have
invested something in the order of $78 million in this system. That
is right now also in development. That relates not only to ground
water but also to other types of water.

The Chairman: Mr. Boon, do you intend that eventually we will
have, in effect, an atlas of the aquifers in Canada that are
significant? You said that you are now looking at mapping
20 per cent of the most important ones, but there are others that
are in other ways equally important; is that correct?

Mr. Boon: Yes, that is correct. The final aim would be to have
good information on all aquifers in Canada. That would actually
be for two reasons: First, you have to know the aquifers to be able
to determine their sustainable yield, that is, how much ground
water could you pump out without damaging the aquifer; and
second, to determine how vulnerable these aquifers are to a
number of things, including pollution and climate change.

The Chairman: With respect to the gas hydrates that
are 1,000 or so metres below the surface of the earth, is it
frozen 1,000 metres below the surface of the earth?

Le sénateur Angus : Combien de temps, a votre avis?

M. Boon : Si on fait le calcul de la transmission de la chaleur a
partir de la surface, on arrive a bien au-dela de 80 ou 90 ans.

M. Efford : Je comprends votre inquiétude et 'impression
d’urgence que vous avez. C’est la raison pour laquelle nous
investissons dans la recherche, formons des partenariats avec des
pays comme le Japon et échangeons des renseignements
techniques avec le monde entier.

Le sénateur Milne : Les Japonais travaillent tres fort.

M. Efford : Beaucoup de travail se fait et il en reste encore
beaucoup a faire. Quel que soit le temps a y consacrer, nous le
ferons. Il ne faut cependant pas perdre de vue que ce n’est quun
seul des domaines dans lesquels nous faisons de la R et D.

Le sénateur Milne : Je ’espére bien.

Le comité procéde actuellement a une étude sur ’eau. Votre
stratégiec de développement durable de 2001 prévoyait
I’élaboration d’une stratégie nationale et d’une base de données
nationale sur les eaux souterraines. Ou en étes-vous dans ce
domaine?

M. Boon : Ressources naturelles Canada a un programme sur
les eaux souterraines. Nous y travaillons en étroite collaboration
avec d’autres ministéres fédéraux ainsi qu’avec toutes les
provinces. Nous sommes en train de dresser la carte d’un
certain nombre d’aquiféres du pays, de concert avec nos
partenaires. Nous espérons terminer les cartes d’environ
20 p. 100 des aquiféres les plus importants du Canada, d’ici
deux ans. Les renseignements recueillis sont versés dans une base
de données que nous sommes en train de perfectionner et qui
commence a fonctionner.

Je devrais ajouter qu’il y a en outre un grand programme
d’Agriculture Canada, le Service national d’information sur les
terres et les eaux, sur lequel nous avons I'intention de brancher
notre base de données. Agriculture Canada a investi prés de
78 millions de dollars dans ce service, qui, lui aussi, est en
développement et qui porte non seulement sur les eaux
souterraines, mais aussi sur d’autres genres d’eau.

Le président : Monsieur Boon, en arriverez-vous un jour au
stade ou nous aurons un atlas de tous les aquiféres importants du
Canada? Vous avez dit que vous dressez actuellement les cartes de
20 pour 100 des aquiféres les plus importants. Il y en a cependant
d’autres qui sont tout aussi importants, n’est-ce pas?

M. Boon : C’est exact. Notre objectif ultime est de disposer
d’une bonne information sur tous les aquiféres du Canada. 1y a
deux raisons a cela. La premiére est que nous devons connaitre les
aquiféres pour déterminer leur débit durable, c’est-a-dire la
quantité d’eaux souterraines qu’il est possible de pomper sans
endommager I'aquifére. La seconde raison est que nous devons
savoir dans quelle mesure ces aquiféres sont vulnérables a un
certain nombre de choses, comme la pollution et le changement
climatique.

Le président : En ce qui concerne les hydrates de gaz qui se
trouvent a un millier de meétres sous terre, sont-ils gelés a cette
profondeur?
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Mr. Boon: Actually, the gas hydrates occur just below the
permafrost zone. The gas hydrates look like ice but they are
actually not ice. When you take a cubic centimetre of gas
hydrogen, it looks like ice, but when you put a match to it you end
up with a nice flame and with 0.2 cubic centimetres of water.

The process looks at decomposing this compound so that you
leave the water behind so that you can produce the gas. Once the
water stays behind, it stays as water, although it is not necessarily
frozen.

Mr. Anderson: We are working closely with the provinces on
water. We have the knowledge of aquifers and the deeper
geological structures, but the provinces have all the data on wells.
Bringing that together is important.

Senator Milne: That is all mapped. In Ontario, the water level
is all mapped everywhere.

Mr. Anderson: This is very much a federal-provincial exercise.

Mr. Efford: On the subject of gas hydrates, to follow up on
what Dr. Boon has said, to put it in context, there is a paragraph
I wish to refer to that talks about Canada’s relatively modest
investment of $2.1 million a year, but working with Japan that
invests $118 million a year. The Geological Survey of Canada
has gained worldwide recognition for its work in gas hydrates.
In 2002, the Geological Survey of Canada worked with a
consortium that included Japan, the United States, German
and Indian partners; the Canadian industry and five major
corporations and the International Continental Scientific
Drilling Program. A lot of work is being done worldwide, and
there is cooperation between many countries, which tells
everybody how concerned we all are.

Senator Christensen: In regard to the aquifers that you are
mapping, are these all new aquifers, or do you have a significant
amount of data on some of the ones that you are now mapping?

Mr. Boon: We have information that is fairly spotty for
some; it is not complete for any. Ground water information in
Canada is fairly sparse. We have developed a standard and
we have now one aquifer mapped to that standard. We are
bringing some aquifers up to standard and some aquifers are
far from the standard.

Senator Christensen: What is your finding on the data of what
you have known in the past of these aquifers? Are you getting any
results that you can make any predictions on in regard to the
health of these aquifers?

Mr. Boon: Yes. In Canada, we are fortunate in the sense that
the aquifers that we have been studying so far are not in danger.

Senator Spivak: Is that true even in Alberta?

M. Boon : En fait, les hydrates sont présents juste au-dessous
de la zone du pergélisol. Ils ressemblent a de la glace, mais n’en
sont pas. Quand on prend un centimeétre cube d’hydrogeéne, il
ressemble aussi a de la glace, mais si vous approchez une
allumette, vous aurez une belle flamme et il vous restera
0,2 centimétre cube d’eau.

Le processus consiste a décomposer ce produit de fagon a
séparer le gaz de ’eau, qu’on laisse sur place. L’eau reste 1a, pas
nécessairement sous forme de glace.

M. Anderson : Nous collaborons étroitement avec les provinces
au sujet de I’eau. Nous connaissons les aquiféres et les structures
géologiques profondes, mais les provinces possédent les données
concernant les puits. Rassembler tout cela est important.

Le sénateur Milne : Tout cela est cartographié. En Ontario, le
niveau d’eau a été cartographié partout.

M. Anderson : C’est dans une grande mesure grace a la
coopération fédérale-provinciale.

M. Efford : Pour faire suite a ce qu’a dit M. Boon au sujet des
hydrates de gaz, je voudrais signaler un paragraphe qui
mentionne que le Canada fait un investissement relativement
modeste de 2,1 millions de dollars par an. Je précise que nous
travaillons en collaboration avec le Japon qui, lui, investit
118 millions de dollars par an. La Commission géologique du
Canada s’est acquis une réputation mondiale grace a ses travaux
sur les hydrates de gaz. En 2002, la Commission a collaboré avec
un consortium comprenant le Japon, les Etats-Unis, des
partenaires allemands et indiens, I'industrie canadienne, cing
grandes sociétés et le Programme international de forage
scientifique continental. Beaucoup des travaux sont d’envergure
mondiale. De nombreux pays y participent, ce qui témoigne de
I'importance du sujet pour tout le monde.

Le sénateur Christensen : Au sujet des aquiféres dont vous
dressez la carte, s’agit-il dans tous les cas de nouveaux aquiféres
ou bien disposez-vous déja d’importants volumes de
renseignements sur certains des aquiféres?

M. Boon: Pour certains, les renseignements sont tres
ponctuels. Nous ne disposons encore de renseignements
complets sur aucun aquifére. Au Canada, I'information relative
aux eaux souterraines reste assez rare. Nous avons élaboré une
norme et avons dressé la carte d’un aquifére en fonction de cette
norme. Nous cherchons a faire correspondre certains aquiféres a
la norme, mais il y en a d’autres qui en sont encore trés loin.

Le sénateur Christensen : Comment se comparent vos données
aux renseignements recueillis dans le passé au sujet de ces
aquiféres? Obtenez-vous des résultats qui permettent de faire des
prédictions quant a ’état de ces aquiféres?

M. Boon : Oui. Au Canada, nous avons de la chance parce que
les aquiféres que nous avons étudiés jusqu’ici ne sont pas en
danger.

Le sénateur Spivak : Est-ce également vrai en Alberta?
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Mr. Boon: In Alberta there are some that we know, and the
Alberta government is aware of — for example, the Milk River
aquifer has been producing — but they are not in danger of losing
them. Let us put it that way. In Alberta, you are right, there is a
big stretch, but the information that the Alberta government has
on that particular one allows it to manage the situation.

Senator Christensen: I want to return to the other issues that we
were dealing with. In 2002, the climate change plan that was
issued for Canada, the Prime Minister said that that was
inadequate. Does that mean that we have to go back and have
another round table discussion with the provinces and territories
before we proceed with that plan?

Mr. Efford: Yes. We are having continuous discussions with
the provinces and territories, as we are with all stakeholders in
Canada. As I said in my preamble earlier this evening, what we
want to be doing is moving forward with the climate change
program; not getting caught up into what is reachable or not
reachable, but moving forward with best practices as an
environmental, industry and NRCan position as well. We will
take those types of approaches, but at the same time we must
engage the provinces at every opportunity. The MOU must also
be signed with the province, but also MOUs with industry
stakeholders as well. That is in Mr. Brown’s shop. Perhaps he
would like to elaborate.

Mr. Howard Brown, Assistant Deputy Minister, Energy Policy
Sector, Natural Resources Canada: Honourable senators, as the
minister said, we have been working with industry and looking to
move the large final emitters program together. We have also had
extensive discussions with the provinces.

Minister Efford will be going to cabinet along with Minister
Dion in the near future to look for some reaffirmation of some
basic underlying principles and to propose some new approaches
on some areas where we are stuck, and we may have to back out
and talk to both industry and the provinces after that meeting of
the cabinet committee.

Whether or not that would lead to a larger, higher level kind of
round table with the provinces, I am not sure how productive that
would be. Certainly, if it promised to be productive, federal
ministers would be open to it.

Senator Christensen: Are we developing a new strategy and
upgrading the previous one?

Mr. Anderson: I was just going to add that energy ministers
have a regular meeting that was in Iqualuit this year.

Senator Adams: What month?

M. Boon : En Alberta, il y en a que nous connaissons — le
gouvernement de I’Alberta est également au courant — comme
l’aquifere de Milk River, qui est en production. Nous ne risquons
cependant pas de les perdre. Disons plutot qu’en Alberta, vous
avez raison, il y a peut-étre une certaine exagération. Toutefois,
les renseignements dont le gouvernement de I’Alberta dispose sur
ce cas particulier lui permettent de controéler la situation.

Le sénateur Christensen : Je voudrais revenir a d’autres
questions que nous avons abordées. En 2002, nous avons
produit un plan canadien pour le changement climatique, mais
le premier ministre a dit que c’était insuffisant. Est-ce que cela
signifie que nous allons devoir recommencer et organiser d’autres
tables rondes avec les provinces et territoires avant de mettre en
ceuvre ce plan?

M. Efford : Oui. Nous avons constamment des discussions
avec les provinces et les territoires, de méme qu’avec tous les
intervenants au Canada. Comme je I’ai dit dans mon exposé, plus
tot ce soir, nous voulons aller de I’avant dans le programme
concernant le changement climatique. Nous ne voulons pas étre
pris au piege, essayant de déterminer ce qui est réalisable et ce qui
n’allait pas. Nous voulons progresser en nous appuyant sur les
pratiques exemplaires, au niveau de l’environnement, de
I'industrie et de Ressources naturelles Canada. Nous adopterons
ce genre d’approche, mais nous devons en méme temps discuter
avec les provinces chaque fois que c’est possible. Il faut en outre
signer des protocoles d’entente non seulement avec les provinces,
mais aussi avec les intervenants de I'industrie. C’est une question
qui reléve du secteur de M. Brown. Il voudra peut-étre en dire
davantage a ce sujet.

M. Howard Brown, sous-ministre adjoint, Secteur de la politique
énergétique, Ressources naturelles Canada : Honorables sénateurs,
comme le ministre 1’a dit, nous travaillons avec l'industrie et
essayons de mettre en train le programme des grands émetteurs
finals. Nous avons eu de nombreuses discussions avec les
provinces.

Le ministre Efford se présentera bient6t devant le Cabinet, de
concert avec le ministre Dion, pour obtenir la confirmation de
quelques principes fondamentaux et proposer de nouvelles
approches pour les domaines dans lesquels nous sommes
immobilisés. Nous pourrions avoir a reculer et a reprendre les
pourparlers avec I'industrie et les provinces apres cette réunion du
comité du Cabinet.

Je ne sais pas si cela aboutira a une table ronde plus étendue et
d’un niveau plus élevé avec les provinces. Je ne suis pas siir que ce
soit tres productif de procéder ainsi. Bien stir, si nous avions
I'impression que ce serait productif, les ministres fédéraux se
montreraient trés ouverts a ce sujet.

Le sénateur Christensen : Sommes-nous en train d’élaborer une
nouvelle stratégie ou bien essayons-nous d’améliorer la
précédente?

M. Anderson : Jallais juste ajouter que les ministres de
I’Energie se réunissent réguliérement. Cette année, c’était a
Iqualuit.

Le sénateur Adams : Pendant quel mois?
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Mr. Anderson: July, as you might guess. Out of that meeting, a
number of things are being done on a cooperative basis between
the federal and provincial governments. We have a working group
on energy efficiency, which is particularly looking at demand-side
issues for utilities such as electricity and gas. We have a working
group on renewable energy. We have a working group on science
and technology. These are ongoing and they report back to
energy ministers next September with, we hope, some action
1tems.

Senator Christensen: In the Speech from the Throne there was
an outline of a comprehensive strategy for the North dealing with
sustainable economic development and human development to
protect the northern environment. Where are we with that
strategy? Is it being developed and, if so, how far along is it?

Mr. Efford: I had to leave a cabinet meeting on that subject this
evening to come here to present to you people. That matter is
ongoing.

Senator Christensen: When will we be seeing it, do you know,
or when will it be coming out?

Mr. Efford: I cannot tell the Prime Minister what date, but he is
working very aggressively on the northern strategy, and I suspect
it will be some time early in the New Year.

Mr. Anderson: In the deputy ministerial appointments that
were announced last week, a new associate deputy minister was
assigned to the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs
whose job it will be to help work on pulling this all together.
There may be some announcements as early as January in the
budget, but I think some of this will take us into the summer, or
even the autumn.

Mr. Efford: The Prime Minister is very committed to the
northern strategy.

Senator Christensen: Just to return to the study that we are
doing now, we are trying to put parameters around our study on
water. As you can well appreciate, it is a huge subject. Practically
every area that you look at it is crying out for some attention and
some direction. What would you recommend to our committee as
the areas that perhaps we should be first turning our attentions to
in order to come up with some useful recommendations to
government?

Mr. Boon: It is difficult to start because, as you said, the
area is vast. One comment that I should make, rather than
making a statement about what are the highest priorities
right now, from our perspective, as a general comment, water
is a very important resource, and in certain parts of the country
water will come under pressure over the next five to ten years.
We ought to be prepared for that. For that, we need to know how
much water we have, where it is and what its quality is. That
is one side of it. The other side of it is that we must protect
the quality of the water. We must ensure that it is not
contaminated. We must also protect our water from overuse.

M. Anderson : En juillet, vous I'auriez deviné. Par suite de cette
réunion, le gouvernement fédéral et les provinces feront
conjointement un certain nombre de choses. Nous avons un
groupe de travail sur le rendement énergétique qui examine
particulierement des questions liées a la demande pour les services
publics d’électricité et de gaz. Nous avons également un groupe de
travail sur les énergies renouvelables, et un autre sur les sciences et
la technologie. Ces groupes travaillent de fagon permanente et
présenteront leur rapport aux ministres de I'Energie en septembre
prochain avec, nous I’espérons, des recommandations concrétes.

Le sénateur Christensen : Le discours du Trone parle d’une
stratégie compléte pour le Nord, comprenant un développement
économique durable et un développement humain visant a
protéger I'environnement nordique. Ou en est cette stratégie?
A-t-elle été ¢élaborée et, si oui, dans quelle mesure?

M. Efford : J’ai di quitter une réunion du Cabinet sur ce sujet
pour venir ici ce soir. Cette affaire est en cours.

Le sénateur Christensen : Quand la verrons-nous? Le savez-
vous? Quand sera-t-elle publiée?

M. Efford : Je ne peux pas dicter la date au premier ministre,
mais je sais qu’il travaille trés fort sur la stratégie du Nord. J’ai
I'impression qu’elle paraitra assez t6t dans la nouvelle année.

M. Anderson : Dans la liste des nominations de sous-ministres
annoncées la semaine derniére, il y a un sous-ministre délégué au
ministére des Affaires indiennes et du Nord canadien, dont le réle
consistera a s’occuper de tout cela. Des annonces seront
probablement faites dés janvier dans le budget, mais il y en
aura d’autres pendant 1’été ou méme pendant ’automne.

M. Efford : Le premier ministre accorde une grande
importance a la stratégie du Nord.

Le sénateur Christensen : Pour revenir a ’étude dont nous nous
occupons actuellement, nous essayons de définir certains
paramétres concernant l’eau. Comme vous pouvez bien
I'imaginer, c’est un sujet extrémement vaste. Presque chaque
domaine que nous examinons mérite notre attention. A votre avis,
quels sont les secteurs que le comité devrait examiner en priorité
pour étre en mesure de formuler des recommandations utiles au
gouvernement?

M. Boon : Il est difficile de commencer car, comme vous ’avez
dit, le domaine est trés vaste. Au lieu de vous dire quelles sont les
plus grandes priorités de I’heure, je voudrais formuler une
observation générale. L’ecau est une ressource trés importante.
Dans certaines régions du pays, elle sera soumise a des pressions
croissantes dans les cinq a dix prochaines années. Nous devrions
nous y préparer. Pour cela, nous devons savoir combien d’eau
nous avons, ou elle se trouve et quelle en est la qualité. C’est un
aspect du probléme. L’autre est que nous devons préserver la
qualité de I’eau. Nous devons veiller a ce qu’elle ne soit pas
contaminée. Nous devons aussi la protéger contre I'utilisation
abusive.
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There is a little booklet called Water Follies which describes a
number of situations in the United States where, because of a lack
of regulation, or regulation based on the absence of science,
some aquifers have been completely exhausted and are gone
forever. These are the kinds of things in a big sense that we have
to look at.

A working group from a number of federal government
departments is working together and engaging the provinces to
develop a federal fresh water research agenda that would be
linked to the federal water framework.

Does this more or less answer your question?

Senator Christensen: Well, not particularly, but it was
interesting.

Mr. Boon: I may have misunderstood the exact nature of your
question. Perhaps you could try again if I missed the target.

Mr. Efford: What we should all be doing in committees is going
back to the basics of encouraging and educating Canadians in
better practices. I am a strong believer in that type of process and
the practices that the average Canadian can be doing. Some of the
things that I have seen in my own province of Newfoundland and
Labrador are nothing short of criminal. We need to get out to the
schools and start talking to the younger people who are, I think,
more responsible. It is their future, and we have got to begin with
the education. I am very strong on that type of approach, getting
away from the technical thing that Dr. Boon just said. Those are
the types of things of which we should be doing more.

Senator Milne: On the question of industry involvement, we
have had a number of witnesses before the committee who have
criticized Canadian industry for their lack of involvement in
climate change issues. How would you, in your experience,
characterize the involvement of Canadian industry, and what role
do they play in the department’s future plans? Will they be policy
formers or policy takers?

Mr. Efford: Let me begin this way: After 20 years in politics, I
do not think I have done anything that I have not been criticized
for. It is common, and it is quite a thing to be critical. Industry is
seen, by all of us, as the big bad guys who do not do enough. Is
that a fair statement?

Senator Spivak: No.
Senator Milne: Not always, no.

Mr. Efford: People who own those industries are people
like you and me, and they have families and a genuine interest
in our country. Do they want to make money? Absolutely.
They are very interested in climate change and the impact
on the environment and in being more energy efficient. Number
one, it saves them money. We have new technology partnering
with industry and governments. Do they set the policy? No, we
set the policy. Governments set the policy. Industry must work
with governments.

Iy a un livre, Water Follies, qui expose quelques cas aux Etats-
Unis ou, par manque de réglementation ou par suite d’une
réglementation non scientifique, certains aquiféres ont été
complétement épuisés et ont disparu a jamais. D’une fagon
générale, ce sont les choses auxquelles nous devons nous
intéresser.

Un groupe de travail réunissant des représentants de plusieurs
ministéres fédéraux discute avec les provinces de 1’élaboration
d’un programme fédéral de recherche sur I’eau potable, qui serait
relié au cadre fédéral sur I’eau.

Est-ce que cela répond plus ou moins a votre question?

Le sénateur Christensen : Pas particuliérement, mais c’était
intéressant.

M. Boon : J’ai peut-étre mal compris la nature exacte de votre
question. Si j’ai manqué la cible, voulez-vous essayer encore?

M. Efford : Dans tous nos comités, nous devrions revenir a
I’essentiel, c’est-a-dire sensibiliser les Canadiens et les encourager
a adopter de meilleures pratiques. Je crois trés fort a ce genre
d’action et aux pratiques auxquelles les Canadiens moyens
pourraient recourir. Dans ma propre province, Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador, j’ai vu des choses qui, a mes yeux, sont vraiment
criminelles. Nous devons aller dans les écoles pour parler aux
jeunes qui, je le crois, sont plus responsables. Il s’agit de leur
avenir. Nous devons donc commencer par I’éducation. Je suis trés
en faveur de ce genre d’approche pour éviter les problémes que
M. Boon vient d’évoquer. Voila le genre de choses que nous
devrions faire davantage.

Le sénateur Milne : Au sujet de la participation de I'industrie,
nous avons eu des témoins qui ont critiqué 'industrie canadienne
pour son indifférence face a la question du changement
climatique. D’aprés vous, quelle est l'attitude de I'industrie
canadienne et quel role joue-t-elle dans les plans futurs de votre
ministére? Va-t-elle contribuer a I’élaboration de la politique ou
bien la recevra-t-elle passivement?

M. Efford : Permettez-moi de commencer par dire ceci : aprés
20 ans en politique, je n’ai jamais rien fait qui n’ait pas été
critiqué. C’est tout a fait courant, et les gens ont raison de
critiquer. Pour nous tous, I'industrie représente les méchants qui
n’en font pas assez. Est-ce exact?

Le sénateur Spivak : Non.
Le sénateur Milne : Non, pas toujours.

M. Efford : Les propriétaires de ces entreprises sont des gens
comme vous et moi. Ils ont des familles et aiment vraiment leur
pays. Veulent-ils gagner de I’argent? Sans aucun doute. Ils
s’intéressent beaucoup au changement climatique, a ses
répercussions sur l’environnement et a la nécessité d’améliorer
les rendements énergétiques. Premiérement, cela leur permet de
réaliser des économies. Nous avons de nouveaux partenariats
technologiques avec I'industrie et les gouvernements. Définissent-
ils 1a politique? Non, c’est nous qui le faisons. Les gouvernements
définissent la politique, et I'industrie doit collaborer avec les
gouvernements.
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I am an optimist by nature. I always have been. I see the good
in everything. At times, if I have to take a pessimistic view and
deal with it, then we will deal with it, whatever it takes.

Over all, I am pretty proud of what we are doing in Canada.
We are not doing it alone. Governments cannot do it alone,
provincially, federally or municipally. We must work with
industry. Do we have a ways to go? Absolutely. I will not stand
up and say that industry is not doing their part or does not want
to do their part. Industry will do what they are reasonably
expected to do. I will let Mr. Brown continue on a more technical
approach, but the one thing I have said since I became the
minister responsible for natural resources is that we have to
develop and grow the economy of this country — it is a must —
but not at the expense of the environment, nor should we be too
environmentally controlled at the expense of industry. There
must be a balance. The environment must be protected, and
we must grow the economy.

We have over 1 million people working in natural resources.
Do we want to shut the industries down and lay off 25, 30, 40,
50,000 people? That does not make sense. Industry must be
responsible. Government sets the policies. We have to work with
industry, and industry must work with governments.

Mr. Brown: I have spent the better part of the past two years
talking to Canadian industry about implementing an emissions
trading system to reduce emissions. Saying that Canadian
industry is not very forward-thinking on this is kind of like
saying, well, Canadians are not very forward-thinking. It is true of
some of them, but there are other individuals who are very
forward-thinking.

There is a group called the International Emissions Trading
Association, a group of large multinationals from all over the
world. The managing director of that company is Canadian and
came from Ontario Power Generation. The past president is
Canadian and came from TransAlta. Those companies were
world pioneers in emissions trading. Dupont Canada put in
place a world class chemical plant to reduce emissions.
Companies like Ballard are really at the cutting edge of
environmental technology. We certainly have a large number of
companies that are very progressive on this issue. Others are
rather less forward-thinking, but I think that is inevitable.

Mr. Efford: Could I ask a question? This is a test question.
We are talking about Canadians and what we are doing. There
are 22 bulbs up there. Are they energy efficient?

Senator Spivak: They should be.
Mr. Efford: They should be.

Je suis optimiste par nature. Je I’ai toujours été. J’essaie de
trouver ce que chaque chose a de meilleur. A ’occasion, si je dois
adopter un point de vue pessimiste, je vais le faire et en assumer
les conséquences, quelles qu’elles soient.

Dans I’ensemble, je suis trés fier de ce que nous faisons au
Canada. Nous ne sommes pas seuls a le faire. Les gouvernements
ne peuvent pas agir tout seuls, que ce soit au niveau fédéral,
provincial ou municipal. Nous devons collaborer avec 'industrie.
Avons-nous un long chemin a parcourir? Absolument. Mais je ne
vais slirement pas clamer que I'industrie ne fait pas sa part ou
refuse de faire sa part. L’industrie fera ce qu’on peut
raisonnablement s’attendre a ce qu’elle fasse. Je vais laisser
M. Brown parler des aspects techniques. Toutefois, depuis que je
suis responsable des ressources naturelles du Canada, j’ai
constamment dit que nous devons développer 1’économie du
pays — c’est impératif — mais pas au détriment de
I’environnement. En méme temps, nous ne devons pas
surprotéger I’environnement au détriment de I'industrie. 11 faut
en arriver a un certain équilibre. Nous devons protéger
I’environnement et, en méme temps, permettre a I’économie de
croitre.

Nous avons plus d’un million de personnes qui travaillent dans
le secteur des ressources naturelles. Souhaitons-nous fermer des
entreprises et mettre a pied 25 000, 30 000, 40 000 ou 50 000
travailleurs? Ce serait irrationnel. L’industrie doit se montrer
responsable. Le gouvernement définit les politiques. Nous devons
collaborer avec I'industrie, et 'industrie doit collaborer avec les
gouvernements.

M. Brown : J’ai passé une grande partie des deux derniéres
années a discuter avec les représentants de I'industrie canadienne
de la mise en ceuvre d’un systéme d’échange de droits d’émission
destiné a réduire la pollution. Dire que I'industrie canadienne
n’est pas tres orientée sur I'avenir a cet égard revient a dire que les
Canadiens eux-mémes ne pensent pas en fonction de I’avenir.
C’est vrai pour certains d’entre eux, mais il y en a d’autres qui
sont trés avant-gardistes.

Iy a un groupe, I’Association internationale pour ’échange de
droits d’émission, qui se compose de représentants de grandes
multinationales du monde entier. Le directeur général de
I’association est un Canadien, qui vient de I’Ontario Power
Generation. L’ancien président était aussi un Canadien qui venait
de TransAlta. Ces sociétés ont été des pionni¢res mondiales des
échanges des droits d’émission. Dupont Canada a mis en place
une usine de produits chimiques de calibre mondial pour réduire
les émissions. Des sociétés comme Ballard sont a la fine pointe de
la technologie environnementale. Nous avons indubitablement un
grand nombre d’entreprises qui sont trés progressistes dans ce
domaine. D’autres le sont moins, mais je crois que c’est inévitable.

M. Efford : Puis-je poser une question? C’est en quelque sorte
une question d’examen. Nous parlons des Canadiens et de ce
qu’ils font. Nous avons ici 22 ampoules. Est-ce que ce sont des
ampoules a grand rendement énergétique?

Le sénateur Spivak : Elles devraient I’étre.
M. Efford : Elles devraient I’étre.
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The Chairman: I am assured that they are.
Mr. Efford: That is part of the One-Tonne Challenge.

Senator Angus: My question relates to page 6 of your opening
statement. I may have missed the answer, because I only joined
the committee during this session of Parliament. You say:

Last March we announced support for Canada’s first
hydrogen highway that will run from Vancouver to
Whistler in time for the 2010 Olympics.

I am quite curious about this highway. What is a hydrogen
highway? What is the story there? It is not like the information
highway, is it?

Mr. Efford: No.
Senator Angus: It sounds interesting.

Mr. Efford: Many vehicles will be used at those winter
Olympics, and they must be able to obtain fuel.

Mr. Richard Davies, Manager, Office of Coordination and
Technical Information, CanMet Energy Technology Centre,
Energy Sector: It is basically a concept of a series of filling
stations that would go from Vancouver up to Whistler. There
is talk of including Victoria in that as well. It can include
a mix of different types of filling stations, some producing
hydrogen from electricity and maybe some from natural gas.
We have not been restricted to industry’s demands on that.
Part of our support, the Prime Minister announced last March,
was to hire a manager to work with industry to really set up the
parameters of that project and to start some of the initial
feasibility work for those stations. You can appreciate that
when you are building an infrastructure, you are starting from
scratch. There is a series of codes and standards work that
needs to be done and getting all the loads for the stations. We
also need vehicles for those stations so there are loads as well for
the various stations. We are not actually building a road but we
are building the stations along the road.

Senator Angus: Along the road that exists there now?
Mr. Efford: Yes.

Senator Angus: People will be able to drive their current
gas-guzzling beasts up the road there. You should talk to them
about that.

Mr. Efford: Some of the vehicles that will be used will be the
alternative fuel vehicles of the future. Demonstration vehicles will
be used. In order to do that, we will need filling stations to take
care of those vehicles. Will our gas-guzzling vehicles still be used?
Unfortunately, yes.

Senator Angus: There will be hybrid vehicles, so they might
function on a blend of regular gas and ethanol, for example?

Le président : On m’affirme qu’elles le sont.
M. Efford : Cela fait partie du Défi d’une tonne.

Le sénateur Angus : Ma question porte sur ce que vous dites a
la page 6 de votre exposé. J’ai peut-étre manqué la réponse parce
que je ne suis membre du comité que depuis "ouverture de cette
législature. Vous dites :

En mars dernier, nous avons annoncé notre appui a la
premiére autoroute de ’hydrogéne au Canada, qui ira de
Vancouver a Whistler et sera terminée a temps pour les Jeux
olympiques d’hiver de 2010.

Je suis tres curieux de savoir en quoi consiste cette autoroute.
Qu’est-ce qu’une autoroute de I’hydrogene? De quoi parlez-vous?
Est-ce que cela a quelque chose a voir avec l'autoroute de
I'information?

M. Efford : Non.
Le sénateur Angus : Cela semble intéressant.

M. Efford : De nombreux véhicules seront utilisés au cours de
ces Olympiques d’hiver. Il leur faudra un combustible.

M. Richard Davies, gestionnaire, Bureau de la coordination et de
Pinformation technique, Centre de la technologie de I’énergie de
CANMET, Secteur de I’énergie : Il s’agit essenticllement d’un
projet portant sur une série de postes de ravitaillement qui seront
établis entre Vancouver et Whistler. Il est méme question d’aller
jusqu’a Victoria. On peut penser a différentes sortes de postes de
ravitaillement. Certains pourraient produire de I’hydrogeéne a
partir d’électricité, et d’autres a partir de gaz naturel. Nous ne
nous sommes pas limités aux exigences de I'industrie a cet égard.
Dans le cadre de I'appui que le premier ministre a annoncé en
mars dernier, nous avons engagé un gestionnaire qui travaillera
avec lindustrie pour définir les paramétres du projet et
entreprendre une étude initiale de faisabilité en ce qui concerne
ces postes de ravitaillement. Il faut se rendre compte que nous
voulons batir une infrastructure en commengant a zéro. Il faudra
définir une série de codes et de normes et déterminer la charge de
ces postes. Nous aurons également besoin de véhicules pouvant
étre ravitaillés par ces postes. Nous n’allons donc pas construire
une autoroute, mais plutdt établir des postes le long de la route.

Le sénateur Angus : Le long de la route qui existe aujourd’hui?
M. Efford : Oui.

Le sénateur Angus : Les gens pourront donc conduire leurs
affreux camions actuels sur cette route? Vous devriez leur en
parler.

M. Efford : Certains des véhicules utilisés seront choisis parmi
ceux qui consomment les combustibles de remplacement de
lavenir. On se servira de véhicules de démonstration. Pour
pouvoir le faire, nous aurons besoin de postes de ravitaillement
pour ces véhicules. Allons-nous continuer a utiliser des véhicules
qui consomment énormément d’essence? Malheureusement, oui.

Le sénateur Angus : Il y aura des véhicules hybrides pouvant
fonctionner avec un mélange d’essence et d’éthanol, par exemple,
n’est-ce pas?
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Mr. Davies: The hydrogen stations we are talking about would
use either hydrogen fuel cell vehicles or hydrogen burned in
natural gas.

Senator Angus: You buy Ballard Power; you do not buy
ethanol stuff.

Mr. Davies: The vehicles will be running on hydrogen.
Basically, the plan is that the vehicles, up to that period, would
be showcase vehicles, especially given the worldwide attention.

Senator Spivak: But there are buses that run on hydrogen.

Mr. Efford: Some of those buses will be included.
Senator Spivak: They run in Chicago, do they not?

Mr. Davies: The Chicago field trials by Ballard has ended, but
Ballard is selling buses to Europe now. I believe they have sold
20 or so.

Senator Spivak: The buses are in Japan and other places.

Mr. Davies: The plan would be to bring them to Vancouver
and run a test fleet as well.

The Chairman: The hydrogen buses already run in Vancouver.

Mr. Davies: The buses have run in Vancouver, but they were a
prototype bus. There is a full-cost bus. These are the next
generation. These are pre-commercialization vehicles.

Mr. Anderson: It should be understood that we are quite far
away from commercial hydrogen. This is all part of
understanding the technology.

Senator Spivak: We understand that.

Mr. Anderson: There is technology with the filling stations;
there is technology at the production of hydrogen.

Senator Angus: If you can pull it off, it is a super way to
illustrate the science. You are talking, Minister, about
communicating to Canadians, making them understand first
how big the problem is, which people are starting to get.
The younger generation understands it. It is guys like us who
have to be born again. The government has announced the
program. I did not know what it was but today I am hearing
a bit about it. The whole world will be watching.

Mr. Efford: Absolutely.

Senator Angus: If we could have the slogan: Skip the bother,
skip the fuss, take a hydrogen bus, and our Chairman will play.

The Chairman: Not only a gentleman but an artist.

I have a series of quickies, as they would have once been called
on Reach for the Top, Minister and officials. You have
complimented us kindly in your opening remarks about our
report, which, as you know, certainly was not critical of the

M. Davies : Le postes de ravitaillement en hydrogeéne dont
nous parlons permettront de ravitailler des véhicules propulsés
par des piles a hydrogéne ou par de I’hydrogéne brilé dans du gaz
naturel.

Le sénateur Angus : Vous financez Ballard, mais pas 1’éthanol.

M. Davies : Les véhicules fonctionneront a I’hydrogene.
Jusque-la, ce seront des véhicules de démonstration, surtout a
cause de l’attention suscitée dans le monde entier.

Le sénateur Spivak : Mais il y a déja des autobus qui
fonctionnent a I’hydrogene.

M. Efford : Quelques-uns de ces autobus seront inclus.
Le sénateur Spivak : Ne circulent-ils pas déja a Chicago?

M. Davies : Les essais menés par Ballard a Chicago sont
terminés, mais Ballard vend actuellement des autobus a I’Europe.
Je crois que la société en a déja vendu une vingtaine.

Le sénateur Spivak : Il y a des autobus au Japon et ailleurs.

M. Davies : Nous prévoyons en avoir Vancouver et exploiter
un parc d’essai.

Le président : Des autobus a hydrogéne roulent déja a
Vancouver.

M. Davies : Effectivement, mais il s’agissait de prototypes.
Nous parlons de la génération suivante, qui consistera en
véhicules de précommercialisation.

M. Anderson : Il faut bien comprendre que nous sommes
encore trés loin d’une utilisation commerciale de ’hydrogéne.
Tout cela nous aidera a mieux comprendre la technologie.

Le sénateur Spivak : Nous comprenons cela.

M. Anderson: Il y a une technologie pour les postes de
ravitaillement, pour la production de ’hydrogéne.

Le sénateur Angus : Si vous réussissez, ce sera un moyen génial
e faire étalage de notre science. Monsieur le ministre, vous parlez
de f: talage de not M 1 t 1
e sensibiliser les Canadiens, de leur faire comprendre
d bil les Canad de 1 f: d
importance du probléme. Je crois que les gens commencent a
r t d bl J 1 t
comprendre, surtout dans le cas des jeunes. Ce sont les gens
comme nous qu’il faut vraiment convaincre. Le gouvernement a
annoncé le programme. Je ne savais pas de quoi il s’agissait, mais
jen entends parler un peu aujourd’hui. Le monde entier sera a
I’écoute.

M. Efford : Tout a fait.

Le sénateur Angus : Nous pourrions adopter le slogan : Pas de
géne, pas d’embarras, prenez le bus a hydrogéne et notre président
paiera.

Le président : Ce n’est pas seulement un grand homme, c’est un
pocte!

Jai une série de questions rapides a poser au ministre et a ses
collaborateurs. Vous nous avez aimablement complimentés pour
notre rapport dans votre exposé préliminaire. Comme vous le
savez, notre rapport ne critiquait sirement pas le Défi d’une
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One-Tonne Challenge; in fact, it was hopeful of moving it along.
We hope that the roiling of the waters has contributed to that. We
hope it will make people at least more aware of what you do.

Do you believe that the information and coercion — if I can
use that word — or moral suasion, will be, without financial
incentives, enough to make the One-Tonne Challenge work?

Mr. Efford: Yes. In the case of the One-Tonne Challenge,
different from the retrofitting of houses, we should go the
education promotional route first. I think that will go a
long way. If I am more energy efficient in the way I carry out
my day-to-day life, I will make money and I will save money.
Saving money is making money. I am serious. What I have
done personally in my own home is amazing. I had to become
Minister of Natural Resources before I did it, but that is where
I learned how to do it.

The Chairman: We should rotate people very quickly through
your office.

Mr. Efford: This is where the education comes in. Rick Mercer
and Pierre Lebeau and the campaign they just started will go a
long way. The more you talk about it, the more it will take on. We
are investing millions of dollars into this nation-wide promotion
program on the One-Tonne Challenge. There are other things that
can be done. This is where the Minister of Finance can come into
it. We are talking about new vehicles, fuel efficient vehicles.
They cost more, so should there be tax incentives? Ontario
believes strongly that there should be tax incentives. That is
separate from the One-Tonne Challenge. That is into the larger
scheme of things.

The Chairman: Dr. Boon, I suspect that we might be asking
you to come and talk to us again. As has been said, we are after a
study on water and we would be very anxious to learn more about
the programs that already exist.

We have heard from the water people, and we are hearing,
for example, from Dr. Schindler next week because we want to
get different views. The nature of the question by Senator
Christensen was: Do you have specific suggestions you can make
to us? We have already determined that we are going to break
our study of water into two main parts, east and west, because
the situations are totally different in one than in the other, and
into tiny, bite-sized bits. Do you have any suggestions as to
where we should go first and what should be our first small,
bitten off chunks of the question of water in the west, which is our
first focus?

Mr. Boon: Alberta. The reason is that when you look on
the map of North America at night and you see the lights, you
can see that Alberta sticks up like a finger into the north,
much farther than do the other provinces. That also means that
Alberta is more populated in regions where other provinces
are not. Also, Alberta has a number of industries that draw on
water, and there is also a tourism industry for which water
is important.

tonne. En fait, nous souhaitions lui donner un coup de pouce.
Nous espérons que le Défi sensibilisera au moins les gens a ce que
vous faites.

Croyez-vous que 'information et la coercition — si je peux
utiliser ce mot — ou la pression morale suffiront, sans incitatifs
financiers, a faire réussir le Défi d’une tonne?

M. Efford: Oui. Dans le cas du Défi d’une tonne,
contrairement a la rénovation des maisons, nous devons
emprunter d’abord la voie de la promotion et de la
sensibilisation, qui devrait nous mener assez loin. Si chaque
personne pouvait utiliser plus efficacement I’énergie dans sa vie de
tous les jours, elle gagnerait de ’argent en faisant des économies.
Oui, épargner, c’est gagner de I’argent. Je suis séricux. Ce que j’ai
fait personnellement dans ma propre maison est extraordinaire. Il
a fallu que je devienne ministre des Ressources naturelles pour
que je le fasse. C’est 1a que j’ai appris comment procéder.

Le président : Dans ce cas, il faudrait peut-étre donner vos
fonctions a tour de réle a un grand nombre de personnes.

M. Efford : Voila ou intervient la sensibilisation. Rick Mercer,
Pierre Lebeau et la campagne qu’ils viennent de lancer devraient
nous permettre d’aller assez loin. Plus on en parlera, plus la
campagne aura de succeés. Nous investissons des millions de
dollars dans cette promotion nationale du Défi d’une tonne. Ily a
d’autres choses que nous pouvons faire. C’est 1a qu’interviendrait
le ministre des Finances. Nous parlons de nouveaux véhicules, a
plus grand rendement énergétique. Ces véhicules sont plus
coliteux. Devons-nous accorder des stimulants fiscaux?
L’Ontario en est persuadé. Mais tout cela est distinct du Défi
d’une tonne. Cela s’inscrit dans un tableau plus vaste.

Le président : Monsieur Boon, je pense que nous pourrions
bien vous demander de revenir pour donner plus d’explications au
comité. Comme on I’a déja dit, nous réalisons une étude sur ’eau

et serions trés intéressés a en apprendre davantage sur les
programmes qui existent.

Nous avons entendu le témoignage des responsables de I’eau.
La semaine prochaine, nous recevons M. Schindler pour avoir un
point de vue différent. La question de madame le sénateur
Christensen avait pour objet de vous demander si vous avez des
recommandations particuliéres a nous faire. Nous avons déja
décidé de diviser notre étude de ’eau en deux grandes parties,
I'une pour I’Est et ’autre pour I’Ouest, les deux régions ayant des
situations totalement différentes. Avez-vous des suggestions sur ce
que nous devrions faire en premier? Sur quel petit aspect du
probléme de I'eau dans 1’Ouest devrions-nous concentrer nos
premiers efforts?

M. Boon : L’Alberta. La raison, c’est que si vous examinez une
carte de ’Amérique du Nord la nuit, avec toutes les lumiéres, vous
verriez que I’Alberta s’étend beaucoup plus au nord que les autres
provinces. Cela signifie également que 1’Alberta est plus peuplée
que les autres provinces dans ses régions septentrionales. De plus,
I’Alberta a un certain nombre d’industries qui consomment
beaucoup d’eau, sans compter le tourisme pour lequel I'eau est
également importante.
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With respect to climate change, the southeastern part of
Alberta would be affected very strongly by drought and,
therefore, that would pose an additional burden. In addition,
large portions of that province are already stressed for water, as
we mentioned before.

The Chairman: Drought is one word, but desertification is
another word, is it not?

Mr. Boon: It could be desertification depending on the severity
of the drought.

The Chairman: Mr. Brown, you talked about trading. Trading
is good, but emissions trading does not cut back any emissions. In
fact, it allows emissions to continue, does it not?

Mr. Brown: That is not quite right. The logic of emissions
trading is that the person who can reduce the emissions at lowest
cost should do so. If he has cut back emissions by more than he is
obligated to, he will have some that he can sell to someone else.

There is a particular issue with what has been called Russian
hot air. The Russian hot air does not result in any emissions
reductions but, in general, emissions trading certainly does result
in emissions reductions.

The Chairman: I hope that it does.
Mr. Brown: Could I give you an example?
The Chairman: Please.

Mr. Brown: Probably the cheapest way in the world to reduce
emissions is to reclaim methane from landfills in the Third World.
You can go to Brazil, for example, and you can capture methane
which, as you know, is a very potent greenhouse gas. I do not
know what the latest figure is, but it is something in the order of a
couple of bucks a ton. Suppose you have a Canadian company
and it would cost them, let us say, $40 a ton to reduce emissions.
Rather than spending the $40 a ton to reduce his emissions here,
does it not make sense for him to spend the $2 a ton in Brazil? The
reality is that the atmosphere does not care if you reduce in
Canada or in Brazil.

The Chairman: That is true. There are no glass walls going to
heaven.

Minister, what is happening with offshore drilling in the
Pacific?

Mr. Efford: We are not there yet. Seriously, we received some
time ago a Royal Society report. We just recently received the
Priddle and the Cheryl Brooks reports, where she consulted with
the Aboriginal communities. We are in the process of analyzing
those reports. I will be talking to my cabinet colleagues in further
detail in the near future in British Columbia. We will also be
having further discussions with the Government of British
Columbia, and sometime early in the New Year — I cannot put
a date on it — I will be making a recommendation to the
government on whether we keep the moratorium. There were four
recommendations.

Mr. Anderson: Four options.

En ce qui concerne le changement climatique, la région sud-est
de I’Alberta serait tres fortement touchée par la sécheresse, ce qui
constituerait un fardeau supplémentaire. De plus, d’importantes
parties de la province connaissent déja des contraintes en ce qui
concerne I’eau, comme nous ’avons dit plus tot.

Le président : La sécheresse est une chose et la désertification
en est une autre, n’est-ce pas?

M. Boon : La désertification pourrait venir selon la gravité de
la sécheresse.

Le président : Monsieur Brown, vous avez parlé d’échanges,
mais 1’échange des droits d’émission ne réduit pas la pollution. En
fait, il permet de maintenir les émissions, n’est-ce pas?

M. Brown : Ce n’est pas tout a fait exact. La logique de
I’échange consiste a confier la réduction des émissions a celui qui
peut la réaliser au cott le plus bas. S’il peut réduire ses émissions
au-dela de ce qu’il est obligé de faire, il peut vendre la différence a
quelqu’un d’autre.

La question s’est posée dans le cas de ce qu'on a appelé le
« vent russe ». Faire du vent ne permet pas de réduire des
émissions, mais, d’une fagon générale, 1’échange des droits
d’émission aboutit effectivement a des réductions

Le président : Jespére que c’est vrai.
M. Brown : Puis-je vous donner un exemple?
Le président : Je vous en prie.

M. Brown : Le moyen le moins cotiteux de réduire les émissions
dans le monde consisterait probablement a récupérer le méthane
des décharges publiques du tiers monde. Au Brésil, par exemple,
on peut capter le méthane qui, comme vous le savez, est un trés
puissant gaz a effet de serre. Je ne connais pas les chiffres les plus
récents, mais je crois que le prix serait de 'ordre de 2 §$ la tonne.
Prenons maintenant le cas d’une société canadienne qui aurait a
débourser, disons, 40 $ la tonne pour réduire ses émissions. Ne
serait-il pas plus logique pour cette société¢ de dépenser 2 § la
tonne au Brésil? En réalité, pour ’atmosphére, le fait que la
réduction se produise au Canada ou au Brésil n’a aucune espéce
d’importance.

Le président : C’est vrai. Il n’y a pas de murs de verre lorsqu’on
va au paradis.

Monsieur le ministre, qu’advient-il des forages extracotiers
dans le Pacifique?

M. Efford : Nous n’y sommes pas encore. Sérieusement, nous
avons re¢u, il y a quelque temps, un rapport de la Société royale.
Nous avons récemment regu le rapport Priddle ainsi que celui de
Cheryl Brooks, qui a consulté les collectivités autochtones. Nous
procédons actuellement a 1’analyse de ces rapports. J’en parlerai
trés bientot a mes collégues du Cabinet en détail, en Colombie-
Britannique. Nous aurons également des pourparlers avec le
gouvernement de la Colombie-Britannique. A un moment donné,
dans la nouvelle année — je ne peux pas étre plus précis pour le
moment —, je présenterai au gouvernement une recommandation
sur le maintien du moratoire. Il y avait quatre recommandations.

M. Anderson : Quatre options.
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Mr. Efford: I should not say recommendations — four options.
We will be looking at all of the options, and then I will be making
a recommendation to government in the New Year.

The Chairman: Kyoto is interesting and sort of a moving
target, it seems. Mr. Anderson has had things to say about it.

Most Canadians, I think, do not understand that even if we
were to achieve Kyoto in spades, it is just the first, very tiny step
in what we need to do with respect to changing our lives and the
way we deal with things. Will we tell people that sometime?

Mr. Efford: We would have to go back to what we have
referenced in a number of the points we have made between
ourselves this evening, namely education, and talk more about
what we are doing and need to do. I have said a couple of times
already we are guilty as Canadians or as a government because we
are not talking enough about what we are doing. The more we
talk about it, the more we promote, and the more we educate, the
more Canadians will understand it.

You are absolutely right: If you conducted a poll and you
asked average Canadians what they know about the Kyoto file,
I suspect they would say, like you and me, very little. When you
are in the day-to-day lives of people, education, promotion and
ideas, the One-Tonne Challenge is a big step towards dealing with
the climate change part of the Kyoto file, but there are many
other areas where we can do things like that. We are doing that,
by the way. The One-Tonne Challenge is only one small relevant
part of the Kyoto file.

The Chairman: Do you plan upon regulations with respect to
what we traditionally call the “large emitters™?

Mr. Efford: The LFEs, yes. Are you asking whether we are
contemplating mandatory regulation?

The Chairman: Yes.

Mr. Efford: My focus is to work with industry to get MOUs
signed with industry stakeholders. Once we get those MOUs
signed, will we need some backstop legislation to ensure that the
companies do it? Yes, we will.

The Chairman: Therefore, if it is necessary, but not necessarily.

Mr. Efford: I would not say “not necessarily.” I would say once
we get the agreements with industry. We are looking at an
approach with which I will go to cabinet and have some
discussion on. No final decision has been made. I have had
some discussions with my colleague Minister Dion. We will do
whatever is necessary to move the files forward, and one of the
files that we have some good results from is the auto industry.

M. Efford : Je ne devrais pas dire recommandations, mais bien
quatre options. Nous examinerons toutes les options, apreés quoi
je présenterai une recommandation au gouvernement dans la
nouvelle année.

Le président : C’est intéressant, on a I'impression que Kyoto
constitue une cible mobile. Monsieur Anderson avait des choses a
dire a ce sujet.

La plupart des Canadiens, je crois, ne comprennent pas que
méme si nous réussissons a respecter parfaitement les objectifs de
Kyoto, ce ne serait qu'un tout petit pas car le but réel est de
changer notre vie et la fagon dont nous faisons les choses. Allons-
nous dire la vérité aux gens a un moment donné?

M. Efford : Nous devrons revenir a ce dont nous avons parlé ce
soir, c’est-a-dire la sensibilisation, et en dire davantage sur ce que
nous faisons et avons besoin de faire. J’ai déja dit et répété que
nous sommes coupables, comme Canadiens ou comme
gouvernement, parce que nous ne parlons pas assez de ce que
nous faisons. Plus nous en parlerons, plus nous ferons de
promotion, plus nous sensibiliserons et plus les Canadiens
comprendront.

Vous avez parfaitement raison. Si vous faites une enquéte et
demandez aux Canadiens moyens ce qu’ils savent du dossier de
Kyoto, je crois bien qu’ils diraient, comme vous et moi : pas
grand-chose. Quand on intervient dans la routine quotidienne des
gens, quand on parle de sensibilisation, de promotion et d’idées, le
Défi d’une tonne est un grand pas en avant pour ce qui est de
l’aspect changement climatique du dossier de Kyoto, mais il y a
beaucoup d’autres domaines dans lesquels nous pouvons
également intervenir. Nous le faisons. Le Défi d’une tonne n’est
qu'une petite partie du dossier de Kyoto.

Le président : Avez-vous l'intention d’adopter des réglements
au sujet de ce qu’on appelle traditionnellement les « grands
émetteurs »?

M. Efford : Les grands émetteurs finals, oui. Vous voulez
savoir si nous envisageons une réglementation obligatoire?

Le président : Oui.

M. Efford : Je voudrais surtout travailler avec I'industrie et
signer des protocoles d’entente avec les intervenants. Une fois que
nous aurons ces protocoles d’entente, aurons-nous besoin de
mesures législatives pour nous assurer que les sociétés respectent
leurs obligations? Oui, nous en aurons besoin.

Le président : Vous dites donc: si nécessaire, mais pas
nécessairement.

M. Efford : Je ne dirais pas « pas nécessairement ». Je dirais
que nous le ferons une fois que nous aurons signé les ententes avec
I'industrie. Nous sommes a la recherche d’une approche que je
proposerai et que nous débattrons au Cabinet. Aucune décision
finale n’a été prise. J’en ai déja discuté avec mon collégue, le
ministre Dion. Nous ferons tout le nécessaire pour faire avancer
ce dossier. Nous avons déja quelques bons résultats dans le cas de
I'industrie automobile.
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Minister Dion and I met with the auto industry early in
November, and we went there. We were both very clear and left a
very clear message with the auto industry that we want to see
results, and we want an early meeting before Christmas. They
have come back to us and are requesting a meeting. They know
we are serious. We believe we can do it with that kind of
approach.

Senator Spivak: I know you stress education and so forth.
I believe that that is the foundation. You must have education.
When you look at the hole in the ozone, if we had waited for
education, we would have had serious consequences. Everybody
is talking about a lack of urgency. The Green Budget Coalition
has a number of things, tax incentives and so forth, that the
Department of Finance can institute, but none of that has
happened yet. That is not a question of costing money, or very
little of what they have suggested, according to them, has really
happened. We are talking about tax incentives, for example,
taxing inefficiency, taxing polluting and incentives to the other
side. That is not something that necessarily costs money. It is
forgone tax expenditures, I suppose.

Is part of your agenda to hasten these green budget kinds of
things?

Mr. Efford: First, I do not agree with some of the statements
being made this evening that Canadians, our governments — our
people — do not see the urgency. I tell you seriously, we all see the
urgency. Can some files be moved faster than others? Dr. Boon
said clearly that his file on gas hydrates will take some time.

Government is doing many things in moving the files on an
urgent matter and investing millions and billions of dollars in
many different files. We are not talking about that enough, but
maybe we should convey to your committee a detailed list of
exactly what the government is doing.

When it comes to incentives, again | think I have mentioned
the One-Tonne Challenge a number of times, but I must use it
again as an example. I am something like Senator Adams, from
the North. I do not have an extremely large home in
Newfoundland, but my heating bill for my home averages, from
November to the end of May, $600 a month.

Senator Spivak: Wow!
Mr. Efford: If I save 10 per cent, that is $60 a month.

Senator Christensen: You need a retrofit.

Mr. Efford: Believe me, I got that done.

Senator Spivak: High efficiency furnaces.

Le ministre Dion et moi-méme nous sommes entretenus avec
des représentants de I'industrie automobile en novembre. Nous
avons tous deux été trés clairs et leur avons transmis un message
sans ambiguité : nous voulons des résultats et nous voulons une
réunion avant Noél. Ils ont repris contact et ont demandé une
réunion. Nous savons qu’ils sont sérieux. Nous croyons pouvoir
réussir avec ce genre d’approche.

Le sénateur Spivak : Je sais que vous insistez sur ’éducation,
et cetera. Je crois que, pour vous, c’est la base, que la
sensibilisation est essentielle. Si on considére le trou dans la
couche d’ozone, les conséquences auraient été graves si nous
avions attendu les résultats de la sensibilisation. Tout le monde
parle d’'une attitude nonchalante, qui ne donne pas I'impression
que le probléme est urgent. La Coalition du budget vert propose
différentes choses — stimulants fiscaux, et cetera — que le
ministére des Finances pourrait faire, mais dont nous n’avons rien
vu jusqu’ici. Ce ne sont pas des mesures colteuses. Pour la
Coalition, ces mesures codteraient trés peu, mais vous n’avez pas
fait grand-chose. Nous ne parlons pas ici de stimulants fiscaux,
mais, au contraire, de mesures qui puniraient I'inefficacité et la
pollution, c’est-a-dire de mesures dissuasives. Cela ne cofiterait
pas nécessairement de largent. Je suppose que ce serait des
dépenses fiscales reportées.

Avez-vous l'intention d’accélérer ’adoption de mesures vertes
de ce genre?

M. Efford : Tout d’abord, je ne suis pas d’accord que les
Canadiens, les gouvernements, nos gens ne se rendent pas compte
de I'urgence de la situation. Je vous le dis trés sérieusement, nous
sommes trés conscients de cette urgence. Est-ce que certains
dossiers pourraient avancer plus vite que d’autres? M. Boon a dit
clairement que son dossier sur les hydrates de gaz prendra un
certain temps.

Le gouvernement fait beaucoup pour accélérer les mesures
concernant des questions urgentes. Il investit des millions et des
milliards de dollars dans différents dossiers. Nous n’en parlons
pas suffisamment. Nous devrions peut-&tre transmettre a votre
comité une liste détaillée énumérant trés exactement ce que fait le
gouvernement.

Pour ce qui est des stimulants, je sais que j’ai parlé a plus d’une
reprise du Défi d’une tonne, mais je dois encore I'utiliser comme
exemple. Je suis un peu comme le sénateur Adams, qui représente
le Nord. A Terre-Neuve, je n’habite pas dans une trés grande
maison, mais les factures de chauffage, entre novembre et la fin
mai, s’élévent en moyenne a 600 § par mois.

Le sénateur Spivak : Ben, dites donc!

M. Efford : Sijarrive a économiser 10 p. 100, cela fait 60 $ par
mois.

Le sénateur Christensen : Vous avez besoin de travaux de
rénovation.

M. Efford : Croyez-moi, je les ai déja fait faire.

Le sénateur Spivak : Une chaudiére a grand rendement.
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Mr. Efford: That is an incentive in itself. I have a four-wheel
drive. That lease is up in a few months. I will not be getting
another one because of the high cost of gas. There are many
things we can do as Canadians. We believe in those incentives. A
penny saved is a penny earned. You cannot give tax incentives on
everything.

Let me tell you, I have said many times that Canada is the
greatest country in the whole world. Look at our health care. We
do not have to pay for health care in this country. When you go to
the United States, where do we get the money to pay for that? We
get it through taxes from our people. There are many incentives
and ways to accomplish them.

Senator Kenny: Regarding offshore oil on the west coast, what
is your experience, minister, in terms of problems with offshore
drilling in Canada? I know that there has been a spill recently on
the east coast. Generally speaking, the Beaufort and the east coast
has been pretty safe.

Mr. Efford: Absolutely. I have been a strong promoter and
advocate for the offshore oil and gas drilling off Nova Scotia and
Newfoundland. I was Minister of Fisheries in Newfoundland and
Labrador and worked cooperatively with the fishermen’s union
and oil and gas industry to make it happen. As a result, since we
started producing oil on the Grand Banks of Newfoundland, a
month ago Hibernia reached 5 million barrels of oil without a
cupful spilled. Unfortunately, we had a problem with Terra Nova
last week. However, I look at it this way: How many oil tankers
have travelled across Canada and had an accident — spilled oil or
chemicals or whatever? There is no such thing as a perfect
situation.

The oil and gas industry today, with the technology that
surrounds us — and it has been proven worldwide — is very safe;
as safe as any other industry, whether it is on land or on the
ocean. I will not quit on the oil and gas industry because we had a
small spill just recently in Newfoundland, and which, when we
look at it, maybe could have been preventable. With what we have
done to date, that is the first one.

There are many opportunities. It is resources that we need; it
grows the economy, but it has to be very environmentally friendly
and we have to put every means in place to lessen the risk.

Senator Kenny: That is a really good answer because you
got to my next question before I got to it. We have many vessels
coming down from Alaska that are carrying oil. There was a
significant spill in Long Beach a little over a decade ago. We
had a spill in Vancouver harbour about the same time.
How do you assess the risk of bringing oil into the country by
ship versus us producing it ourselves?

M. Efford : C’est un stimulant en soi. Je conduis un véhicule a
quatre roues motrices, dont le bail arrivera a expiration dans
quelques mois. Je n’ai pas 'intention de prendre un autre véhicule
du méme genre a cause du prix de I’essence. Il y a beaucoup de
choses que les Canadiens peuvent faire. Nous croyons a ses
stimulants. Un sou épargné est un sou gagné. Nous ne pouvons
pas accorder des stimulants fiscaux pour chaque chose.

Jai dit et répété que le Canada est le meilleur pays du monde.
Considérez notre systéme de santé. Nous n’avons pas a payer
pour les soins. Ce n’est pas le cas aux Etats-Unis. Oul voulez-vous
que nous prenions ’argent pour payer ces soins? Nous devons le
prendre dans les impots payés par les contribuables. Il y a de
nombreux stimulants et beaucoup de moyens d’atteindre
I’objectif.

Le sénateur Kenny : En ce qui concerne le pétrole extracotier de
I’Ouest, que pensez-vous, monsieur le ministre, des problémes que
pose le forage au large des cotes du Canada? Je sais que nous
avons récemment eu un déversement sur la céte Est. D une fagon
générale, la mer de Beaufort et la cote atlantique ont été assez
sares.

M. Efford : Absolument. J’ai été un fervent partisan de la
prospection et de I’exploitation du pétrole et du gaz au large de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse et de Terre-Neuve. J’ai été ministre des Péches de
Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador, et j’ai collaboré avec le syndicat des
pécheurs et l'industrie pétroliere. Comme résultat, depuis que
nous avons commencé a produire du pétrole sur les grands bancs
de Terre-Neuve, Hibernia avait atteint 5 millions de barils le mois
dernier sans déverser une goutte de pétrole. Malheureusement,
nous avons eu un probléme la semaine derni¢re a Terra Nova.
Toutefois, ma fagon de voir les choses est la suivante : combien de
pétroliers ont eu un accident au Canada, ou ont déversé du
pétrole, des produits chimiques ou autre chose? La perfection
n’est pas de ce monde.

Aujourd’hui, I'industrie pétroliére — avec toute la technologie
dont elle dispose et qui a fait ses preuves dans le monde entier —
est trés shre, aussi siire que n’importe quelle autre industrie, sur
terre ou en mer. Je ne devais pas condamner 'industrie pétroliére
a cause du petit déversement que nous avons récemment eu a
Terre-Neuve, et qu’il aurait été possible de prévenir. Avec tout ce
que nous avons réalisé jusqu’ici, c’est quand méme le premier
déversement.

Il y a de nombreuses occasions. Ce sont des ressources dont
nous avons besoin, qui font croitre 1’économie. Il faut
naturellement protéger I’environnement. Nous avons donc pris
toutes les mesures possibles pour réduire les risques.

Le sénateur Kenny : C’est vraiment une bonne réponse parce
que vous étes arrivés a ma prochaine question avant que je ne
vous la pose. Beaucoup de pétroliers chargés viennent de 1’Alaska.
Un important déversement s’est produit a Long Beach il y a un
peu plus de 10 ans. Nous en avons eu un autre dans le port de
Vancouver a peu prés au méme moment. Quelle est votre
évaluation du risque de I'importation du pétrole par bateau par
rapport au risque qu’il y a a le produire nous-mémes?
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Mr. Efford: Actually, it is interesting that you ask that
question. Yesterday I did an interview with a local radio station
back in Newfoundland because I am getting really concerned
about the number of tankers that are coming into port in
Newfoundland, plus the number of ships that bypass
Newfoundland and go up to the Great Lakes. Bill C-15, which
is now before the House for a vote, increases the minimum and
maximum fines against ships dumping from their bilges. That is
one of the biggest problems. We have lost something like
300,000 seabirds in the last decade off Newfoundland and
Labrador. One bird is criminal, but that number takes it
beyond all imagination.

The other thing for North America and a lot of the free world
is that we have to be stricter on the types of vessels, the single hull
versus the double-hull vessels, and strengthen the hulls. Those
types of regulations must be brought in. You take an oil tanker
carrying a million barrels — am I right when I say a million
barrels of oil — can you imagine that tanker coming into one of
the communities in one of the bays and hitting an ice storm or reef
and cracking in two?

The one in Spain last year should be a lesson for us all to learn.
There is a risk and there always will be, whether it is on land or
sea. It is up to governments and agencies of governments to
minimize the risk and enforce the regulations to lessen the risk of
those things happening.

Senator Kenny: Minister, our understanding is that double-hull
regulations are in place and they are coming forward; that that in
fact is happening, is that not so?

Mr. Efford: That is correct.

Senator Kenny: This committee has received evidence in the
past that fishing in the Gulf of Mexico was enhanced as a result of
offshore drilling. Do you have any evidence to suggest that that is
the case off the East Coast?

Mr. Efford: Fishing was enhanced because of offshore drilling?

Senator Kenny: Exactly. The fish liked the habitat better.

Mr. Efford: I will confess I have never heard that statement.
I have never read it.

Senator Kenny: Mr. Anderson, you must have an answer.

Mr. Anderson: I am not the expert on this, but there is a bit of
an artificial reef effect. In some cases, when they finish with
offshore drill rigs, they tip them over and leave them there
because they provide a habitat. Whether, on balance, people
would say it is a positive or a negative for the whole operation, I
do not know.

Senator Kenny: If you do not have spills —
Mr. Anderson: Absolutely.

Senator Kenny: Why do you say whether on balance? Why do
you not know?

M. Efford : 11 est trés intéressant que vous posiez cette
question. Hier, je donnais une interview a une station locale de
radio de Terre-Neuve parce que je m’inquiéte vraiment du
nombre de pétroliers qui accostent dans la province, sans
compter tous ceux qui passent par les Grands Lacs sans venir a
Terre-Neuve. Le projet de loi C-15, sur lequel la Chambre doit
maintenant se prononcer, augmente le minimum et le maximum
des amendes imposées aux navires qui vident leurs cales en mer.
C’est I'un des plus grands problémes. Nous avons perdu quelque
300 000 oiseaux de mer au large de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador
dans les 10 derniéres années. Tuer un seul de ces oiseaux est
criminel, mais en détruire un tel nombre dépasse I'imagination.

Il y a une autre chose a faire en Amérique du Nord et ailleurs,
dans le monde libre : il faudrait étre plus strict quant au genre de
navire, par exemple a simple ou a double coque, et au
renforcement des coques. Il faut adopter la réglementation
nécessaire a cette fin. Prenons un pétrolier transportant un
million de barils de pétrole. Pouvez-vous imaginer la catastrophe
si ce pétrolier heurtait un récif prés d’une localité cotiére et se
brisait en deux?

L’accident qui s’est produit en Espagne ’année derniere devrait
constituer une lecon pour nous tous. Il y a un risque et il y en aura
toujours, aussi bien sur terre qu’en mer. Il incombe au
gouvernement et aux organismes compétents de minimiser le
risque et d’appliquer des réglements pour prévenir les accidents.

Le sénateur Kenny : Monsieur le ministre, j’avais cru
comprendre que la réglementation concernant les doubles
coques est en bonne voie. Est-ce exact?

M. Efford : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Kenny : Le comité a entendu des témoignages dans
le passé selon lesquelles la péche dans le Golfe du Mexique s’est
améliorée par suite des forages extracotiers. Y a-t-il des indices
qui permettent de croire que la méme chose se produit sur la cote
atlantique?

M. Efford : La péche aurait été favorisée par les forages
extracotiers?

Le sénateur Kenny : Exactement. Il semble que le poisson
aimait mieux son habitat.

M. Efford : Je dois avouer que je n’en ai pas entendu parler.

Le sénateur Kenny : Monsieur Anderson, vous avez sans doute
une réponse.

M. Anderson : Je ne suis pas expert dans ce domaine, maisily a
un effet de récif artificiel. Dans certains cas, une fois que le forage
terminé, on incline l'installation et on la laisse sur place parce
qu’elle constitue un habitat pour le poisson. Je ne peux cependant
pas dire si, dans I’ensemble, le forage a un résultat net positif ou
négatif pour le poisson.

Le sénateur Kenny : En ’absence de déversement...
M. Anderson : Absolument.

Le sénateur Kenny : Pourquoi dites-vous « dans I’ensemble »?
Pourquoi n’avez-vous pas une réponse?
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Mr. Anderson: | have never seen a full-blown study. This is
anecdotal for me, really.

Senator Kenny: It seems that it is something that is pertinent to
pursuing offshore drilling off the West Coast. If you can make a
case that it will enhance the life of fishermen and give them a
better opportunity to protect their livelihood, you might find oil
men and fishermen enjoying a profitable existence.

Mr. Efford: We work very well with the oil industry off
Newfoundland and Labrador — when I say “we,” I mean the
fishing industry, because I have many family members who are in
the fishing industry. I am hoping some of my people in the back
are taking notes, but I would not mind searching that out. I can
tell you there is a strange thing happening on the Grand Banks
of Newfoundland because the cod stocks are refurbishing
at a faster pace than we expected, considering the predator-prey
relationship.

In the bays where I live, in Trinity and Conception Bay
and those bays, I have been there all of my life and in the
last 20-25 years, we have seen more fish in the last year than I
have seen in the last 25 years at any one time. There is nature and
the environment, and something is changing. There is something
good happening.

Senator Kenny: You said the number of fish is going up?

Mr. Efford: Increasing stocks.

Senator Kenny: Do you attribute that to Terra Nova?
Mr. Efford: No, I do not.

Senator Milne: I was going to suggest salmon farms.

The Chairman: Minister and officials, thank you very
much. You have been very generous with your time. There
are long lists of questions that we have not asked you. When
we come across them in the course of our next deliberations,
I hope that you will permit us to contact your department
and that you will answer our questions when and if you can.
I hope that you will permit us, Minister, to ask some of your
officials to come back and see us again on specific subjects.

Mr. Efford: Thank you very much, senators. I want to thank all
the officials for sitting in the background, and Dr. Boon for
running back and forth to the table.

Let me take this opportunity on behalf of my staff and
myself — I may see some of the senators, maybe not all of you —
to wish you a very merry Christmas and a happy New Year.
Like I told my staff last year, and I will suggest the same
thing this year, we have worked hard all year and now, let
us take some time and enjoy our families and Christmas and
celebrate.

M. Anderson : Je n’ai jamais vu une étude compléte sur le sujet.
Les éléments dont je dispose sont de nature anecdotique.

Le sénateur Kenny : C’est une question tout a fait pertinente en
ce qui concerne les forages au large de la cote Ouest. Si vous
pouvez prouver qu’ils améliorent le rendement de la péche et
permettent aux pécheurs de mieux gagner leur vie, les sociétés
pétroliéres et les pécheurs pourraient tous deux y trouver un
avantage.

M. Efford : Nous collaborons trés bien avec l’industrie
pétroliere au large de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador. Quand je dis
« nous », je parle de I'industrie de la péche parce que beaucoup
de membres de ma famille en font partie. J’espére que certains de
mes collaborateurs prennent des notes, mais j’aimerais bien faire
moi-méme quelques recherches a ce sujet. Je peux vous dire
qu’'une chose étrange se produit sur les grands bancs de Terre-
Neuve parce que les stocks de morue augmentent a un rythme
plus rapide que nous ne I’avions prévu, compte tenu du rapport
prédateur-proie.

Dans la région des baies de la Trinité et de la Conception ou je
vis et ou j’ai passé toute ma vie, nous avons vu plus de poisson
I’année derniére que dans n’importe laquelle des 20 ou
25 derniéres années. Il y a la nature et l’environnement, et
quelque chose a changé. C’est un changement positif.

Le sénateur Kenny : Dites-vous que les stocks de poissons
augmentent?

M. Efford : Oui, les stocks augmentent.

Le sénateur Kenny : Attribuez-vous cela a Terra Nova?
M. Efford : Non, pas du tout.

Le sénateur Milne : Je pensais aux élevages de saumon.

Le président : Je tiens a exprimer mes remerciements au
ministre et a ses collaborateurs. Vous avez été trés généreux de
votre temps. Nous avons de longues listes de questions que nous
ne vous avons pas posées. Si nous avons besoin de réponses au
cours de nos prochaines délibérations, j’espére que vous nous
permettrez de prendre contact avec votre ministére et que vous
répondrez a nos questions dans la mesure ou vous pouvez le faire.
J’espére que vous nous permettrez, monsieur le ministre, de
demander a certains de vos collaborateurs de revenir nous voir
pour nous parler de questions particuliéres.

M. Efford : Merci beaucoup, sénateurs. Je voudrais remercier
tous les fonctionnaires assis derriére, ainsi que M. Boon qui allait
et venait pour répondre.

Permettez-moi de profiter de cette occasion, au nom de mes
collaborateurs et en mon nom — je verrai peut-étre certains
d’entre vous plus tard, mais pas tous —, pour vous souhaiter un
trés joyeux Noél et une bonne et heureuse Nouvelle Année.
Comme je I’ai dit a mes collaborateurs ’année derniére, et je le
répéterai probablement cette année, nous avons travaillé fort
toute I'année et nous pouvons donc prendre un moment pour
célébrer Noél avec notre famille.
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The Chairman: Thank you.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Thursday, December 9, 2004

The Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment
and Natural Resources met this day at 8:37 a.m. to examine and
report on emerging issues related to its mandate.

Senator Tommy Banks (Chairman) in the Chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Good morning. Senators, our last witness in the
committee’s study on water has been called the “Indiana Jones of
ecology.” Dr. David Schindler will be honoured tomorrow when
he receives the Order of Canada. We are delighted to welcome
him to our meeting this morning to assist us in our considerations.
Mr. Schindler, please proceed.

Dr. David Schindler, Killam Memorial Professor of Ecology,
Faculty of Science, University of Alberta: Good morning, senators.
Thank you for inviting me to appear before the committee. I have
prepared a number of slides of what I think are the most
important aspects in respect of the Prairies. I have others that we
can use in discussion, if necessary. I have been told that senators
like to discuss some of the potential problems rather than simply
listen to a presentation.

The first slide is a depiction of the plumbing of the country. We
are always told flatly that Canada is a water-rich country but, in
fact, Canada is almost the size of Europe and many of the
provinces of Canada would equate with the largest country of
Europe. For example, Alberta is bigger than Sweden or the U.K.
or Germany. As a result, there are some distance problems with
piping water around Canada and with many of the things that
people fantasize about doing with respect to water.

The black dots on the map are major population centres and
show up as a little band about 300 to 400 kilometres from the
American border. Most of the water is north of the border or is
busy making its way north. The area we should be concerned
about first is the grey area in Alberta and Saskatchewan on
the map. That area generates no net outflow even during the
wettest period for which we have instrumental records in
the mid-20th century.

Evaporation removes more water than falls as precipitation in
that area. The main reason there is any water in that landscape at
all is that the area is adjacent to the Rocky Mountains, which
receive almost three times the precipitation. The area of greatest
concern is Alberta because in addition to being an extremely arid
part of the country, it is developing rapidly. In this next slide,
senators can see that there is higher activity in Alberta than

Le président : Je vous remercie.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 9 décembre 2004

Le Comité sénatorial permanent de [’énergie, de
I’environnement et des ressources naturelles se réunit
aujourd’hui a 8 h 37 pour examiner de nouvelles questions
concernant son mandat et en faire rapport.

Le sénateur Tommy Banks (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président : Bonjour, la séance est ouverte. Sénateurs, on dit
de notre dernier témoin de I’enquéte du comité sur les ressources
hydriques du Canada qu’il est I'« Indiana Jones de I’écologie ».
M. David Schindler sera honoré demain alors qu’il recevra
I’Ordre du Canada. Nous sommes enchantés de I’accueillir a notre
réunion ce matin pour qu’il nous aide dans notre étude. Monsieur
Schindler, la parole vous appartient.

M. David Schindler, chaire commémorative Killam, professeur
d’écologie, faculté des sciences, Université de I’Alberta : Bonjour,
sénateurs. Merci de m’avoir invité a comparaitre devant le comité.
J’ai préparé un certain nombre de diapositives de ce que je crois
étre les aspects les plus importants en ce qui concerne les Prairies.
J’en ai d’autres que nous pourrons utiliser dans la discussion, si la
chose est nécessaire. On m’a dit que les sénateurs aimaient
discuter de certains des problémes potentiels plutét que de
simplement écouter une déclaration.

La premicre diapositive est une image de la plomberie du pays.
On nous dit toujours sans détour que le Canada est un pays riche
en eau, mais en fait, le Canada a presque la méme taille que
I’Europe et bien des provinces du Canada sont aussi grandes que
le plus grand pays d’Europe. Par exemple, I’Alberta est plus
grande que la Suéde, la Grande-Bretagne ou I’Allemagne. Par
conséquence, 1’expédition d’eau par pipeline un peu partout au
Canada et bien d’autres choses que les gens s’imaginent pouvoir
faire avec I’eau se heurtent a certains problemes liés a la distance.

Les points noirs sur la carte représentent les grands centres de
population; ces derniers se situent dans une mince bande de terre
d’environ 300 a 400 kilométres a partir de la frontiére américaine.
La plus grande partie de 1’eau se situe au nord de la frontiére ou
s’affaire a trouver son chemin vers le nord. La région dont nous
devrions nous préoccuper en premier lieu, c’est la zone colorée en
gris, en Alberta et en Saskatchewan, sur la carte. Cette région ne
produit aucune sortie nette d’eau méme dans les périodes plus
humides pour lesquelles nous avons des relevés instrumentaux,
c’est-a-dire depuis le milieu du XX siécle.

Dans cette région, I’évaporation élimine plus d’eau que les
précipitations n’en apportent. La principale raison pour laquelle il
y a de I’eau dans cette région, c’est qu’elle jouxte les Montagnes
Rocheuses qui regoivent presque trois fois plus de précipitations.
La région qui suscite le plus d’inquiétude, c’est I’Alberta parce
qu’en plus d’étre une des parties extrémement arides du pays, son
développement est trés rapide. Sur la prochaine diapositive, les
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anywhere in the American West. Of course, with industry comes
people and industrial water use. In addition to the natural
drought, that is a second threat.

Next, we have a map of the mid-20th century precipitation in
Alberta. As you can see, the area in the south and east is of
greatest concern. Through much of that area, the precipitation is
less than evaporation, particularly anything depicted in pale green
and into the yellows and reds on the map.

Within that area, we have extremely high population growth,
especially in the vicinity of Calgary where it is currently in the
order of 4 per cent per year and higher for some of the suburban
areas.

Another factor is high water use for irrigation. About
70 per cent of Alberta’s water use is for irrigated crops that,
for the most part, feed livestock. We have to think long-term
about the fact that the major reason is to export livestock to the
U.S. under normal circumstances when we do not have BSE
border closures.

There is a third factor that comes increasingly into play —
climate warming. A few people would still like to debate whether
greenhouse emissions are causing that warming. My response
from the standpoint of water is that it does not matter whether the
cause is natural or from greenhouse gases. Either way,
evaporation will increase. The excess of evaporation over
precipitation will increase. If the models are correct, we can
expect to see a considerable temperature increase in the remainder
of this century.

However, we must remember that the global average figures
on this map are a range of all the scenarios of all major
climate models. You will find that the Prairies are expected to
have two or three times the global average. The global average
is much damped by the high heat capacity of the oceans. I would
say that, behind the west, because it is so dry already and has a
high human population, the Prairies are our first concern.

The next concern would be the North, which is also extremely
dry. Fortunately, we do not have the population pressure in
that area, yet. The North is expected to warm even more than
the Prairies.

While you can look back in history and fuss about Mediaeval
warm periods and mid-Holocene climate and make all kinds
of excuses, the fact remains that the forcing of greenhouse
gases can be measured as well as models. The measurements of
forcing indicate that we will have very rapid warming. On the
map, the change in land surface from light colours — snow and
ice cover — to darker colours will have a huge effect. Think of

sénateurs peuvent constater qu’il y a une activité plus grande en
Alberta que partout ailleurs dans I’ouest de I’Amérique du Nord.
Evidemment, I'industrie entraine dans son sillage des gens et des
usages industriels de I’eau. Outre la sécheresse naturelle, c’est la
deuxiéme menace.

Nous avons ensuite une carte des précipitations de ’Alberta
pour le milieu du XX siécle. Comme vous pouvez le voir, la
région du sud et de I’est suscite le plus d’inquiétude. Dans la plus
grande partie de cette région, les précipitations sont inférieures a
I’évaporation, surtout dans les endroits colorés en vert pale, en
jaune et en rouge sur la carte.

Dans cette région, la croissance démographique est
extrémement élevée, surtout dans les environs de Calgary, ou la
croissance est de I’ordre de 4 p. 100 par année et méme davantage
dans certaines banlieues.

Un autre facteur est 'utilisation considérable de I’eau pour
I'irrigation. Environ 70 p. 100 de I’eau en Alberta est utilisée pour
I’irrigation des cultures qui servent, principalement, a
I’alimentation du bétail. Nous devons réfléchir a long terme sur
le fait que la principale raison de cette situation est I’exportation
du bétail vers les Etats-Unis dans les circonstances normales,
c’est-a-dire lorsque la frontiére n’est pas fermée a cause de la
maladie de la vache folle.

Il y a un troisieme facteur qui intervient — le réchauffement
climatique. Quelques personnes doutent encore que les émissions
de gaz a effet de serre soient la cause du réchauffement. Ma
réponse, c’est que du point de vue de 1’eau, cela ne change rien que
la cause soit naturelle ou qu’elle soit attribuable aux gaz a effet de
serre. D’une fagon ou de l'autre, I’évaporation se poursuivra.
L’excés d’évaporation par rapport aux précipitations augmentera.
Si le mode¢le dit vrai, nous pouvons nous attendre a une
augmentation considérable de la température durant le reste du
siecle actuel.

Cependant, nous devons nous rappeler que les valeurs
moyennes mondiales indiquées sur cette carte représentent une
étendue de tous les scénarios provenant des principaux modéles
climatiques. Vous constaterez que 1’on s’attend a ce que les
Prairies aient deux ou trois fois la moyenne mondiale. Cette
derniére est en grande partie atténuée par la grande capacité
thermique des océans. Je dirais, quand on parle de I'Ouest, que les
Prairies constituent notre premiére source de préoccupation parce
qu’elles sont déja tellement séches et qu’elles ont une forte
population humaine.

La préoccupation suivante serait le Nord, qui est également
extrémement sec. Heureusement, il n’y a pas encore de pression
exercée par la population dans cette région. On s’attend a ce que
le Nord se réchauffe encore plus que les Prairies.

Bien que I'on puisse remonter dans I’histoire et faire tout un
plat avec les périodes de réchauffement du Moyen-Age et le climat
du milieu de la période holocéne, et apporter toutes sortes
d’excuses, le fait demeure que le forgage des gaz a effet de serre
peut étre mesuré, tout comme les modéeles. Les mesures du forgage
indiquent que nous aurons un réchauffement tres rapide. Sur la
carte, le changement de la surface terrestre qui passera d’une
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the difference in heat levels between the surfaces of a white
car and a black one in the summer. The difference is between
reflecting solar radiation and absorbing it. These are the
greenhouse forcings for the human produced greenhouse gases.
You can see the combination of gases up to the left, for which the
IPCC has very high to medium confidence in what they will do.

The Chairman: What is the IPCC?

Mr. Schindler: The International Panel on Climate Change.

Most scientists would agree with the IPCC. There was a
summary article in last week’s issue of Science that reviewed
952 abstracts in peer reviewed journals and did not find a single
article that dissented with the view that these gases are causing
greenhouse warming. Most of the dissension seems to be on
websites and in the popular press. In all fairness, the sceptics
have some good points, but they do not have the overwhelming
point of view; and the fact that these forcings can be measured
carries the day.

Of course, we have another factor which really did not come
into focus until the last five for six years. However, there are
examples going far back in time. These are Palliser’s notorious
diaries after reviewing the West. Of course, we know now that
Palliser arrived at the end of a 25 year drought, one more severe
than anything we have had in this century. Fortunately, that
drought broke soon afterward and, while I do not think any
Prairie farmer would claim that there have been lavish livings
made on the Prairies, they did eke out a living and we have
a lot of farmers hanging on.

One piece of evidence which I think is fairly scary is from the
so-called mid-Holocene which had at its maximum, about six
thousand years ago, various records from tree ring position,
species of trees and so on, to suggest that the prairies and much
of southern Canada were about one degree centigrade warmer
than the mid-20th century. Some pretty frightening things
happened then that I think should give us some pause.

I have coloured Lake Manitoba in red. This would be a great
lake in any country but Canada. It is actually the tenth largest
lake on the continent. Work at the University of Manitoba
suggests that Lake Manitoba was dry in the mid-Holocene. The
slide shows the depth in lake muds in the bottom of the lake. You
will see green bands. At those depths there were bands of grass
embedded in the lake sediments which were buried afterward. It
suggests that Lake Manitoba was a buffalo pasture, not a lake in

couleur pale — la couverture de neige et de glace — a une couleur
plus foncée aura un effet énorme. Pensez a la différence de chaleur
que 'on observe entre la surface d’une voiture blanche et celle
d’une voiture noire I'été. C’est ce qui fait la différence entre
absorber le rayonnement solaire et le réfléchir. Nous voyons ici les
forgages liés aux gaz a effet de serre produits par les humaines.
Vous pouvez voir, a gauche, la combinaison des gaz dont le GIEC
connait les conséquences avec un degré de confiance variant de
moyen a élevé.

Le président : Que veut dire le GIEC?

M. Schindler : Groupe d’experts intergouvernemental sur
I’évolution du climat.

La plupart des scientifiques seraient d’accord avec le GIEC.
Dans le numéro de la semaine derniére de la revue Science, il y
avait un article de synthése portant sur 952 résumés publiés dans
des revues a comité de lecture et les auteurs n’ont pas trouvé un
seul article qui rejetait I’'idée que ces gaz causaient un
réchauffement par effet de serre. La plus grande partie de
I’opinion dissidente se retrouve dans des sites Web ou dans la
presse populaire. En toute équité, les septiques ont quelques bons
points en leur faveur, mais ils n’ont pas le point de vue dominant;
et le fait que ces forgages peuvent étre mesurés tranche
définitivement le débat.

Evidemment, nous avons un autre facteur qui ne s’est pas
manifesté avant les cinq ou six derniéres années. Toutefois, on
trouve des exemples qui remontent loin dans le temps. Il y a le
fameux journal de Palliser qui a exploré 'Ouest. Evidemment,
nous savons maintenant que Palliser est arrivé dans la région a la
fin d’une sécheresse qui a duré 25 ans, une sécheresse plus grave
que tout ce que nous avons connu au cours du dernier siccle.
Heureusement, cette sécheresse a cessé peu de temps apres et, bien
que je ne pense pas qu’il y ait d’agriculteurs dans 1’Ouest qui
prétendent qu’on menait une vie somptueuse dans les Prairies, ils
sont parvenus a vivoter et nous avons beaucoup d’agriculteurs qui
s’accrochent.

Un élément d’information qui, & mon avis, fait un peu peur,
c’est ce qu’on appelle le réchauffement du milieu de la période
holocéne; divers indices comme la position des anneaux de
croissance des arbres, les essences d’arbre et ainsi de suite,
donnent entendre qu’a son apogée, il y a environ 6 000 ans, les
Prairies et une bonne de partie du sud du Canada avaient un
climat qui était plus élevé d’un degré Celcius que celui du milieu
du XX° siécle. Des choses assez épouvantables sont alors
survenues, ce qui devrait nous donner matiére a réflexion.

Jai coloré le lac Manitoba en rouge. Il s’agirait d’un grand lac
dans n’importe quel pays du monde sauf au Canada. Par sa taille,
il figure au dixiéme rang des lacs du continent. Des travaux faits a
I’Université du Manitoba laissent entendre que le lac Manitoba
était desséché au milieu de la période holocéne. La diapositive
montre la profondeur des sédiments au fond du lac. Vous pouvez
voir des bandes vertes; a ces profondeurs, il y avait des bandes
contenant de I’herbe emprisonnée dans les sédiments du lac qui
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those periods. Much of Lake Winnipeg was also gone. It was a
much smaller pool of water than it is now.

When I went to university we were told that the prairie
wetlands had been left by the glaciers. A study by two scientists
from Edmonton suggests otherwise. What these two scientists
did was to take the oldest peat from the bottoms of wetlands
where it started to accumulate and date it, using carbon-14
dating. The numbers on this figure, which range from three
to five, are the age of the oldest peat in thousands of years.
They show that all of these wetlands were formed after
this mid-Holocene warm period. They probably were formed
after glaciation, then dried up during the mid-Holocene
period when it was only a degree or so warmer than the
20th century, and then reformed again as the climate cooled
in the Little Ice Age. Many of those wetlands are dry again
now, due to the drought of the late 1990s and early part of
this century.

Several studies in the last few years indicate some pretty
disturbing things. Of course, before about 1890, we have no
temperature or precipitation records. A number of people have
used proxy records, matching tree rings with temperature
and precipitation or diatoms that grow in lakes and are
preserved in sediments because they have siliceous frustules.

This is a tree ring example, done by scientists at the University
of Regina. They found that in the 20th century they got a
very good correlation between the width of tree rings in
places like the Cyprus Hills that are surrounded by prairie
and precipitation. Since that was good, they assumed that
they go back farther in time if they could find older wood. As
you can see from these two sites, one in Alberta and one in
adjacent Montana, they can go back three or four hundred
years. This suggests, and the diatom record suggests the same,
is that the 20th century was unique in this whole period.
It was by far the wettest century and, of course, because this is
when Europeans settled and we had industrial development.
We have come to think of the 20th century as normal.

On the graph every coloured bar represents a drought,
and the red ones represent droughts that lasted 10 years or
more. The second bar from the right side would be the Dirty
Thirties. It was a puny drought by historical comparisons.

ont été enterrés par la suite. Cela donne a entendre qu’a ces
différentes époques, le lac Manitoba était un paturage a bisons et
non un lac. Une bonne partie du lac Winnipeg avait également
disparu. C’était un plan d’eau beaucoup plus petit qu’a I’heure
actuelle.

Lorsque j’étudiais a I'université, on nous disait que les terres
humides des Prairies avaient été laissées par les glaciers. Une
étude réalisée par deux scientifiques d’Edmonton indique autre
chose. Ce que ces derniers ont fait, c’est procéder a la datation au
carbone 14 de la tourbe la plus vieille située au fond des terres
humides ou elles ont commencé a s’accumuler. Les chiffres
indiqués sur cette diapositive, qui varient de trois a cing,
représentent 1’age la tourbe la plus vieille en milliers d’années.
Elle montre que toutes ces terres humides ont été formées apres la
période de réchauffement du milieu de I'Holocéne. Elles ont
probablement été formées aprés la glaciation, puis elles se sont
asséchées au milieu de la période holocéne, alors que le climat
n’était plus chaud que d’environ un degré par rapport a celui du
XX€ siécle, et ensuite, elles se sont reformées au fur et a mesure
que la climat s’est refroidi au cours de la Petite Age glaciére. Un
bon nombre de ces terres humides sont redevenues séches a
I’heure actuelle, a cause de la sécheresse de la fin des années 90 et
du début du présent siécle.

Plusieurs études réalisées au cours des derniéres années
indiquent des choses assez troublantes. Evidemment, nous
n’avons pas de données sur la température ou sur les
précipitations avant environ 1890. Un certain nombre de
personnes ont utilisé des témoins indirects, en établissant des
relations entre les anneaux de croissance des arbres et la
température et les précipitations, ou encore la présence de
diatomées qui croissent dans les lacs et qui sont conservés dans
les sédiments parce qu’elles sont dotées de frustules siliceuses.

Voici un exemple fondé sur les anneaux de croissance des
arbres, travail réalis¢é par des scientifiques de 1’Université de
Regina. Ces derniers ont constaté qu’au cours du XX siécle, ils
obtenaient une treés bonne corrélation entre la largeur des anneaux
de croissance et les précipitations dans des endroits comme
Cyprus Hills qui sont entourés de prairies. Puisque ces données
étaient bonnes, ils ont supposé qu’ils pourraient remonter plus
loin dans le temps s’ils pouvaient trouver du bois plus agé.
Comme vous pouvez le voir dans le cas de ces sites, un en Alberta
et 'autre dans le Montana adjacent, ils peuvent remonter a trois
ou quatre cents ans en arriére. Ces travaux indiquent, et on peut
en dire autant des données obtenues a partir des diatomées, que
dans toute cette période de temps, le XX siécle était unique.
C’était de loin le siécle le plus humide et, évidemment, parce que
c’est a ce moment que les Européens sont venus s’y installer et que
nous avons eu du développement industriel, nous en sommes
venus a croire que le XX siécle représentait la situation normale.

Sur ce graphique, chaque ligne coloriée représente une
sécheresse et les barres colorées en rouge représentent des
sécheresses qui ont duré 10 ans ou plus. La deuxiéme barre a
partir de la droite correspondrait aux « sales années 30 ». C’était
une sécheresse de rien du tout comparativement a ce que l’'on a
connu dans lhistoire.
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The diatom records indicate exactly the same thing except
that, so far, they have pushed the record back 2000 years and
even going back that far, the 20th century stands out as
exceptionally wet.

The scenario that I see developing is a huge increase in
population and industrial development in Alberta. The periodic
droughts that I think we can expect, if we return to anything like
pre-20th century conditions, and the accelerated evaporation
from climate warming, at some point in the next century will
come together. My guess is, earlier rather than later in the
century. We will know what water shortage is all about in
Alberta. I think that through the late 1990s, many people are
beginning to realize that already.

To mention some recent work, for a couple of years, a young
colleague of mine, Bill Donahue, and I have been trying to
piece together changes in temperature, precipitation and river
flows. These are modelled data. The left-hand clump shows
measured records. The rest are modelled by a combination of
global models and scenarios run at the University of Victoria’s
climate centre. They are an average for the Western Prairie
cities that have major meteorological stations. You can see
that they predict an increase of about 6.5 degrees on average.
The bars are the limits. Different stations have different
scenarios. You can run these for yourself on their website
by plugging in latitude and longitude and the year you would
like to see. It will do a run of a major model for you right on
your laptop and give you a scatter plot of what the various
models predict.

One more factor that we will have to contend with is the
loss of glacial water. I have heard a lot of people try to
dismiss this glacial water concern because, on an annual basis,
it is a small part of the flow of major rivers. However, it is not
a small part in mid- to late summer. That is when agriculture
needs the water. There is also a high municipal demand for
water for washing cars and watering gardens and lawns.
That combination makes me think we need to pay more
attention to those low-flow periods.

The Athabasca glacier is probably the most famous because
it is at the ice field centre. This is a replica of the display
they have there, showing this glacier receding 1.5 kilometres in
a period of about 70 years. The average that they have figured
for that period is that the glacier has lost about 16 million cubic
metres of water per year in excess of what it has regained from
annual snow.

Les données sur les diatomées indiquent exactement la méme
chose, sauf que, jusqu’ici, les chercheurs sont parvenus a remonter
dans le temps jusqu’a il y 2 000 ans, et méme lorsqu’on remonte
aussi loin dans le temps, le XX° siécle ressort toujours comme une
période exceptionnellement humide.

Le scénario que je vois se dérouler, c’est une forte
augmentation de la population et du développement industriel
en Alberta. Les sécheresses périodiques auxquelles, je pense, nous
devons nous attendre, si nous revenons a des conditions qui
prévalaient avant le XX° siécle, et I’évaporation accélérée
attribuable au réchauffement climatique, se manifesteront a un
moment donné dans le prochain siecle. Je dirais que ce sera plus
tot que plus tard dans le siécle. Nous saurons alors ce que signifie
une pénurie d’eau en Alberta. Je pense qu’au cours de la fin des
années 90, bon nombre de personnes ont commencé a s’en rendre
compte.

Pour parler de certains travaux récents, pendant quelques
années, un jeune collégue, Bill Donahue, et moi-méme avons
essayé de mettre ensemble les changements touchant la
température, les précipitations et le débit fluvial. Il s’agit de
données modélisées. La grappe de points du c6té gauche indique
des données mesurées. Le reste représente des données modélisées
par une combinaison de modéles et de scénarios globaux
appliqués au centre de climatologie de I’Université de Victoria.
Ces chiffres représentent une moyenne pour les villes de 1’ouest
des Prairies qui sont dotées de stations météorologiques
importantes. Vous pouvez constater que ces données laissent
prévoir une augmentation moyenne de la température d’environ
6,5 degrés. Les barres représentent les limites. Différentes stations
ont des scénarios différents. Vous pouvez vérifier par vous-méme
sur leur site Web en indiquant la latitude et la longitude ainsi que
l’année que vous aimeriez voir. Vos données seront traitées a
l’aide d’un modéle reconnu pour vous directement sur votre
ordinateur portatif et vous obtiendrez un diagramme de
dispersion de ce que les différents modéles prévoient.

Un autre facteur avec lequel nous serons confrontés sera la
perte de ’eau des glaciers. J’ai entendu beaucoup de gens essayer
d’écarter cette préoccupation au sujet de I’eau des glaciers parce
que, sur une base annuelle, elle ne représente qu’une petite partie
du débit des principales riviéres. Cependant, il ne s’agit pas d’une
petite partie au milieu et a la fin de 1’été. Et c’est a ce moment-la
que l'agriculture a besoin d’eau. Il y a également une forte
demande en eau dans les municipalités pour laver les voitures et
arroser les jardins et les pelouses. Cette combinaison m’améne a
penser que nous devrions accorder plus d’attention a ces périodes
d’étiage.

Le glacier Athabasca est probablement le plus célébre,
parce qu’il est au centre du champ de glace. Voici une réplique
de la maquette qu’ils ont la-bas, montrant ce glacier reculer de
1,5 kilométre en une période d’environ 70 ans. Pendant cette
période, on a calculé que le glacier a perdu, en moyenne, environ
16 millions de métres cubes d’eau par année, en plus de ce qu’il a
gagné a partir de la neige annuelle.
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However, it is not the worst of the lot. This is the
Saskatchewan glacier, the head waters of the North
Saskatchewan. These are taken by Graeme Pole, a friend of
mine who produced them for a hiking book. I wrote a section for
his hiking book in return for getting copies of these to display.
You can see, by comparing 1924 and 2002, how much that glacier
has receded.

The worst, however, is the Bow Glacier. Graeme took the
lower picture as a replica of one he found in the Whyte museum.
One picture was taken in 1898 and the other in 2002. It is
noteworthy that this is the same tree in the two photos. It has
fallen another 90-degrees but it still has almost all its branches.
Unfortunately, the ice was not preserved that well. It is
disappearing over the horizon. This is the same glacier where,
in some past work, we documented enormous releases of
pesticides being deposited in the mid-20th century that were
melting into the Bow River as the ice receded.

The Chairman: To give us an idea of the scale in case someone
has not stood at the face of the Columbia ice fields, how deep is
the ice at the face of the glacier?

Mr. Schindler: T do not know what the maximum would be.
These cover variable terrain. I know there has been a considerable
thinning. We have few glaciers for which we have good mass
balance. One of my main recommendations would be that we do
not have good information for many of those glaciers. We need
the depth profiles and, over a time period, that will allow some
calculation of this mass. Where we have the data, the indication is
that we have had a 40 per cent loss.

Some of the small glaciers have been receding much more
rapidly. Some are only a kilometre or two in extent. They are
literally in little heated bowls where the terrain around them,
being much darker in colour, absorbs radiation. They are
retreating very rapidly. There has been a detailed study done in
Glacier National Park, just across the border in Montana. They
predict that that area will be essentially glacier free by 2050.
Probably many of the smaller glaciers will be in the same
situation.

There are some predictions that the Bow Glacier and the Peyto
Glacier, the two glaciers that feed the Bow River, are already over
the hill. No matter how much it warms, they cannot keep pace or
yield any more water.

I added data here for the Athabasca showing that the glacier is
still responding with accelerated stream flows because of
warming.

This is pretty indicative. We have done these sorts of
calculations for all the major precipitation stations on the
prairies. I show you a few here for Alberta. In Alberta, there
seems to be a gradient from south to north. That continues into
the territories, with Fort Smith having even more warming than
Fort Chipewyan. I have deliberately chosen sites that do not have
urban heat island effect, as some of our business reporters are
fond of reporting. Anyone who has landed in Fort Chipewyan in

Cependant, ce n’est pas le pire du groupe. Voici le glacier
Saskatchewan, la ou prend sa source la riviére Saskatchewan
Nord. Ces photos ont été prises par Graeme Pole, un ami, qui les
a utilisées pour illustrer un ouvrage sur la randonnée pédestre. J’ai
rédigé une partie de son livre en échange de copies de ses photos.
Vous pouvez voir dans quelle mesure le glacier a reculé en
comparant les photos de 1924 et de 2002.

Toutefois, le pire, c’est le glacier Bow. Graeme a pris la photo
du bas pour reproduire une photo qu’il a trouvée au musée
Whyte. Une photo a été prise en 1898 et ’autre en 2002. Il vaut la
peine de noter qu’il s’agit du méme arbre dans les deux photos. Il
a chuté de 90, mais il a encore presque toutes ses branches.
Malheureusement, la glace n’a pas été aussi bien préservée. Elle
disparait a ’horizon. C’est dans ce glacier que, dans des travaux
antérieurs, nous avons documenté la libération d'une grande
quantité de pesticides qui se sont déposés au miliecu du XX siécle
dans la riviere Bow par suite de la fonte du glacier.

Le président : Pour nous donner une idée de 1’échelle de
grandeur au cas ou quelqu’un ne s’est pas rendu en face du champ
de glace Columbia, quelle est la hauteur de la glace a I’avant du
glacier?

M. Schindler : J’ignore quel serait le maximum. Les glaciers
recouvrent un terrain variable. Je sais qu’il y a eu un
amincissement considérable. Il y a peu de glaciers pour lesquels
nous avons un bon bilan massique. Une de mes principales
recommandations, c’est que nous n’avons pas une bonne
information concernant un grand nombre de ces glaciers. Nous
avons besoin de profils de profondeur qui nous permettront, avec
le temps, de faire un certain calcul de cette masse. La ou nous
avons des données, elles indiquent que nous avons eu une perte de
40 p. 100.

Certains des petits glaciers disparaissent plus rapidement.
Certains n’ont qu’un ou deux kilométres d’étendue. Ils se trouvent
littéralement dans des petits bols chauffés ou le terrain autour
d’eux, de couleur beaucoup plus foncée, absorbe le rayonnement
solaire. Ils disparaissent trés rapidement. Une étude détaillée a été
effectuée dans le parc national des Glaciers, juste de 'autre co6té
de la frontiere du Montana. On prévoit qu’il n’y aura
essentiellement plus de glaciers d’ici 2050. Il est probable que de
nombreux glaciers plus petits subiront le méme sort.

Il y a certaines indications que le glacier Bow et le glacier
Peyto, les deux glaciers qui alimentent la riviére Bow, ont déja
atteint leur limite. Peu importe dans quelle mesure le climat se
réchauffe, ils ne peuvent suivre le rythme ou donner plus d’eau.

Jai ajouté des données ici pour I’Athabasca, montrant que le
glacier réagit au réchauffement par des débits accélérés.

C’est trés révélateur. Nous avons fait ce genre de calculs pour
toutes les principales stations pluviométriques des Prairies. Je
vous en montre quelques-uns ici pour I’Alberta. En Alberta, il
semble y avoir un gradient du sud vers le nord. Cela se continue
dans les territoires, ou on peut constater que Fort Smith connait
un réchauffement plus important que Fort Chipewyan. J’ai choisi
délibérément ces endroits qui n’ont pas d’effet d’ilot de chaleur
urbain, comme se plaisent a signaler nos chroniqueurs



5:44

Energy, Environment and Natural Resources

9-12-2004

the middle of summer knows there is not much or an urban heat
island there. It is a small community and the airport is
10 kilometres away. In Edmonton and Calgary, the 1837 on
records are for the sites of the international airports. Considerable
warming has already happened since that mid-20th century period
that is generally used as a baseline.

The next table is more complicated than I would like it to be.
However, it varies somewhat depending on what model
for evaporation we use. There are several well-known models.
Some require more data than others. We cannot run all the
models for all stations. In general, they indicate we have had a
10 to 12 or 13 per cent increase in evaporation already from that
mid-20th century period, as the result of warming. These are for
Edmonton and Fort McMurray, two sites of interest. In the case
of Fort McMurray’s it was a matter of rapid development around
the oil sands.

This period indicates what will happen with another three
degrees centigrade increase. From that mid-20th century baseline,
if you add those together, we would have close to 25 per cent
increase in evaporation. Through much of this area, precipitation
is almost equal to evaporation now, with only a slight excess.

In terms of predicted temperatures and precipitation,
temperatures are supposed to increase, but precipitation is not
supposed to change much. In some cases, there is about
5 per cent increase predicted and people think that will be
wonderful. What they forget is this huge effect of temperature and
a longer ice-free season on evaporation. Even though it can rain a
bit more, conditions can be dryer.

One more factor that we can already see is the effect on
snow pack. This is based on some work done by scientists
at the University of Lethbridge. The green line indicates the
actual 1973 to 1974 snow pack. The black line indicates
what they model would have happened to the snow pack
with the climate warming expected by 2050. In general, less of
the precipitation falls as snow and more as rain, something
we can already see in the many of the southern river
catchments. You can see those sharp declines. At several points
where snow does fall, it is subjected to increasing periodic
winter melts so that it seeps away during the winter. As a result,
there is less available when we would like to be recharging
our rivers in the spring. Their calculations indicate a decrease
of about one third in river flows as the result of those warmer
conditions, assuming the same snow pack. That is yet another
factor that I am sure will be affecting prairie water supplies.

économiques. Quiconque a atterri a Fort Chipewyan au milieu de
I’été sait qu’il n’y a pas d’ilot de chaleur urbain a cet endroit. Il
s’agit d’une petite collectivité et I’aéroport est situé a 10 kilométres
plus loin. A Edmonton et Calgary, les données de 1937 ont été
prises a I’emplacement des aéroports internationaux. Un
réchauffement considérable a déja eu lieu depuis la période du
milieu du XX° siécle qui est généralement utilisée comme ligne de
base.

Le tableau suivant est plus compliqué que je le voudrais.
Cependant, les données varient quelque peu selon les modéles
d’évaporation que I’on utilise. Il existe plusieurs modeles bien
connus. Certains nécessitent plus de données que d’autres. Nous
ne pouvons utiliser tous les modéles pour toutes les stations. En
général, ils indiquent que nous avons déja eu une augmentation de
I’évaporation de 10 a 12 ou 13 p. 100 par rapport a cette période
du milieu du XX°¢ siécle, a cause du réchauffement. Ce sont des
données pour Edmonton et Fort McMurray, deux endroits
d’intérét. Dans le cas de Fort McMurray, c’est une question de
développement rapide autour des sables bitumineux.

On indique ici ce qui arrivera par suite d’'une augmentation
additionnelle de la température de trois degrés Celsius. A partir
des valeurs de base du milieu du XX° siécle, si vous les
additionnez ensemble, vous obtenez prés de 25 p. 100
d’augmentation de 1’évaporation. Dans une grande partie de
cette région, les précipitations sont presque égales a I’évaporation
a ’heure actuelle; il n’y a qu'un léger surplus.

En termes de température et de précipitations prévues, les
températures sont censées augmenter, mais on ne prévoit pas de
grand changement dans les précipitations. Dans certains cas, on
prévoit une augmentation d’environ 5 p. 100 et les gens croient
que c’est merveilleux. Ce qu’ils oublient, c’est I'effet énorme
qu’auront sur ’évaporation la température et une saison libre de
glace plus longue. Méme s’il pleut un peu plus, les conditions
peuvent étre plus séches.

Un autre facteur que nous pouvons déja voir, c’est I'effet sur
I’accumulation annuelle de neige. Ces résultats sont fondés sur des
travaux effectués par des scientifiques de 1’Université de
Lethbridge. La ligne verte indique I'accumulation annuelle de
neige réelle de 1973 a 1974. La ligne noire indique ce que le
modé¢le prévoit qu’il arrivera a I’accumulation annuelle de neige
avec le réchauffement climatique prévu pour 2050. En général,
moins de précipitations tombent sous forme de neige et plus sous
forme de pluie, phénoméne que I’on peut déja observer dans de
nombreux bassins versants du sud. Vous pouvez voir ces chutes
abruptes. Dans plusieurs endroits ou la neige tombe encore, cette
derniére est sujette a des fontes périodiques plus importantes en
hiver, de sorte que I’eau disparait durant I’hiver. En conséquence,
il en reste moins au printemps au moment ot nous aimerions que
nos riviéres gonflent. Les calculs de ces chercheurs indiquent une
diminution d’environ 30 p. 100 du débit des riviéres en raison de
ces conditions plus chaudes, si I’on suppose la méme
accumulation annuelle de neige. Il s’agit d’un autre facteur qui,
j’en suis sar, influera sur I’approvisionnement en eau des Prairies.
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If any of you are interested, you can plug into this website and
it will ask you for a year, latitude and a longitude. It will give you
a choice of 20-20, 20-50 or 20-80. After you fill in those few
blanks, it will run. These are all the IPCC models and their major
scenarios, the scenarios being for different assumptions about
CO; output. It has precipitation on one axis and temperature on
another axis. This example is for the oil sands area. While the
models have different predictions, you will see clusters. This is for
20-20, with a predicted additional temperature increase of a
degree and a half or so and a precipitation increase of about
5 per cent. I have drawn a line for the evaporation that has
already increased from the mid-20th century. Evaporation by the
middle of the century, if the models are correct, will be elevated. If
you run these for all the major sites on the Prairies, you will find
that, based on model predictions, there is no site where the
predicted increases in precipitation can match the predicted
increases in evaporation, when taken from these temperature
increases and running them through any number of well-known
evaporation models.

I was told that one of the interests of the committee is the oil
sands. This next slide was compiled by me with several people
from the University of Lethbridge. The blue lines indicate the
actual licensed water. This was done by a number of my students
in a graduate course. The yellow lines indicate the predicted water
use in the oil sands. Senators, the name on this should be “Alberta
Energy and Utilities Board.” For some reason my students
confused this with “Alberta Environment.” The red lines on this
same slide indicate water use for producing oil — six barrels of
water per barrel of oil produced, which to date has been the
average. The green lines indicate that the new companies, such as
CNRL and Shell, can produce one barrel of oil using only three
barrels of water. I hope that they are able to succeed with that
usage but I have heard reports that they have had corrosion
problems when trying to reuse the water that much. I am hopeful
that they can overcome the problem.

My point in showing this is that this water use would
be roughly half the winter flow of the Athabasca River,
if our predictions about river flows and these projections of use
by the oil sands come to pass. That amount should be of
considerable concern.

Much of the oil sands are overlain by wetlands. With the last
two projects, 56 per cent of the would-be-mined area was
overlain by what my wife would call a “wooded fen” — a big,
thick, peat blanket with some old spruce trees sticking out of it.
There is no way to restore those wetlands afterward. The oil
companies have had several meetings with international groups of
scientists who simply shake their heads because it has taken

Si quelqu’un d’entre vous est intéressé, vous n’avez qu’a vous
brancher sur ce site Web et on vous demandera une année, une
latitude et une longitude. On vous donnera le choix entre 20-20,
20-50 ou 20-80. Aprés que vous aurez inscrit ces données, le
modeéle se mettra en marche. Ce sont tous les modeéles du GIEC et
leurs principaux scénarios, ces derniers variant selon des
hypothéses différentes touchant la production de CO,. Vous
avez les précipitations sur un axe et la température sur ’autre. Cet
exemple concerne la région des sables bitumineux. Bien que les
modéles donnent des prévisions différentes, vous verrez des
grappes. Ici, c’est pour 20-20, pour une augmentation
additionnelle de la température prévue d’environ 1 degré et
demi et une augmentation des précipitations d’environ 5 p. 100.
J’ai tracé une ligne pour I’évaporation qui a déja augmenté a
partir du milieu du XX° siécle. Si les modéles sont exacts,
I’évaporation d’ici le milieu du siécle sera élevée. Si vous appliquez
ces modeles a tous les principaux endroits dans les Prairies, vous
constaterez que d’aprés les prévisions des modeéles, il n’y a aucun
endroits ou les augmentations prévues dans les précipitations
peuvent compenser les augmentations prévues de ’évaporation,
lorsqu’on utilise ces augmentations de température et qu'on les
traite avec n’importe quel modéle d’évaporation bien connu.

On m’a dit que I'un des intéréts du comité, ce sont les sables
bitumineux. La diapositive suivante a été compilée par moi avec
I’aide de plusieurs personnes de 1’Université de Lethbridge. La
ligne bleue indique I'eau dont l'utilisation a été autorisée. Ce
travail a été réalisé par un certain nombre de mes étudiants au
niveau du deuxiéme ou troisiéme cycle. La ligne en jaune indique
I'usage prévu de I'eau dans les sables bitumineux. Sénateurs, le
nom qui devrait figurer sur ce graphique devrait étre celui de
I'« Alberta Energy and Utilities Board ». Pour une raison
quelconque, mes étudiants confondent ce nom avec « Alberta
Environment ». Les lignes en rouge sur cette méme diapositive
indiquent I'utilisation de I’eau pour la production du pétrole —
six barils d’eau par baril de pétrole produit, ce qui se trouve a étre
la moyenne jusqu’ici. Les lignes vertes indiquent que les nouvelles
entreprises, comme CNRL et Shell, peuvent produire un baril de
pétrole en utilisant seulement trois barils d’eau. Jespére qu’ils
seront capables de réussir avec une telle utilisation, mais j’ai
entendu dire qu’ils avaient des problémes de corrosion lorsqu’ils
essayaient de réutiliser ’eau a ce point. J’ai bon espoir qu’ils
parviendront a surmonter cette difficulté.

La raison pour laquelle je montre cela, c’est que
cette utilisation de I’eau correspondrait grossiérement a
la moitié du débit d’hiver de la riviére Athabasca, si nos
prédictions concernant les débits des riviéres et ces projections
sur l'utilisation de l’eau pour les sables bitumineux se
concrétisaient. Une telle quantité devrait étre une source
d’inquiétude considérable.

Une bonne partie des sables bitumineux sont recouverts de
terres humides. Avec les deux derniers projets, 56 p. 100 de la zone
qui serait exploitée sont recouverts par ce que mon épouse
appellerait « un marais boisé » — une couche étendue et épaisse
de tourbe dans laquelle sont plantées de vielles épinettes. 11 sera
impossible de remettre ces terres humides en état par apreés. Les
entreprises pétroliéres ont eu plusieurs réunions avec des groupes
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thousands of years for those fens to develop and there is no way
to restore them. Their best restorations look like pools you would
find on a golf course. I do not think they will have the same
function as this large, old wetland, which is akin to a huge sponge
such that snow-melt in the spring and big rainstorms in the
summers are absorbed. That water is then released slowly through
low-flow periods in the winter and becomes the mainstay of river
flow during periods when precipitation is frozen or non-existent
during a drought. I suspect there will be some fairly major
consequences for the oil sands area, the Athabasca River and its
tributaries.

In another direction, this next slide depicts some of Dave
Sauchyn’s recent work. He has used the same two factors that I
have been talking about — P stands for precipitation and PE
stands for potential evaporation, if there were water there to
evaporate.

The upper slide indicates that ratio as a standard measure of
aridity for the base-line period, 1961 to 1990. The two lightest
colours represent “sub-humid” and “semi-arid” as determined by
a geographer. There are climates where agriculture is clearly
limited by water. Running the same thing with a scenario for the
middle of the coming century indicates a rough doubling of those
areas. That is not good news for agriculture. Of course, about
$2 billion has already been spent because of the puny droughts
that we have seen in the late 1990s through 2002. It is likely that
such a scenario will make life even more miserable for Prairie
farmers than it is now, which is pretty hard to imagine.

We will go next to actual river flows. A number of studies have
looked at total year river flows in the past. In general, the records
are not very good, particularly in the early years of the
20th century. That is probably because roads were poor and
people could not get to the sites to do the monitoring. For two
reasons, Bill and I have chosen another time period — summer
flow — which is May through August. We found that the record
was pretty complete for that time, and it is also the period of high
demand by both municipalities and agriculture.

This first one shows the duration of record that we have
for the Athabasca River. I show it first because this is the
only river coming from the eastern slopes of the Rocky
Mountains that does not have any dams or major withdrawals.
Earlier I showed you the blue line on the previous graph
that indicated actual licensed withdrawals. They are all
quite small, at least below the oil sands area. Dams, of course,
while they do not necessarily remove water, change the
seasonality. Therefore, we decided to look at this critical
summer period.

de scientifiques internationaux qui ne peuvent étre d’accord parce
qu’il a fallu des milliers d’années pour produire ces marais et qu’il
n’y a aucun moyen de les rétablir. Les meilleurs efforts de remise
en état se sont soldés par des étangs comme ceux que I’on retrouve
sur les terrains de golf. Je ne pense pas qu’ils joueront le méme
réle que ces terres humides anciennes, de grande taille, qui
agissent comme une éponge gigantesque qui absorbe 1’eau de
fonte au printemps et les grosses pluies I’été. L’eau est ensuite
libérée lentement durant les périodes de faible débit, durant
I’hiver, et devient la principale composante du débit des riviéres
lorsque les précipitations sont gelées ou inexistantes par suite
d’une sécheresse. J'imagine qu’il y aura des conséquences assez
importantes pour la région des sables bitumineux, pour la riviére
Athabasca et ses tributaires.

Dans un autre ordre d’idée, la diapositive suivante décrit le
travail récent de Dave Sauchyn. Il a utilisé les deux mémes
facteurs dont j’ai parlé — P signifie précipitation et PE signifie
évaporation potentielle, s’il y avait dans ces endroits de 1’eau qui
pouvait s’évaporer.

La partie du haut indique le rapport comme une mesure
standard de P’aridité pour la période de base, 1961 a 1990. Les
deux couleurs les plus claires représentent les zones
« subhumides » et « semi-arides » déterminées par un
géographe. Il y a des climats sous lesquels I'agriculture est
clairement limitée par I’eau. Si on utilise le scénario prévu pour le
milieu du siécle en cours, on constate, grosso modo, que ces zones
ont doublé en superficie. Ce n’est pas une bonne nouvelle pour
Iagriculture. Evidemment, environ 2 milliards de dollars ont déja
été dépensés a cause des petites sécheresses que nous avons
connues a la fin des années 90 jusqu’en 2002. Il est vraisemblable
qu’'un tel scénario rendra la vie des agriculteurs des Prairies encore
plus difficile qu’elle ne ’est a ’heure actuelle, ce qui est assez
difficile a imaginer.

Nous passons ensuite aux débits réels des rivieres. Un certain
nombre d’études ont porté sur le débit annuel total des riviéres
dans le passé. En général, les données ne sont pas trés bonnes,
particuliérement en ce qui concerne les premiéres années du
XX¢ siécle. Cette situation est probablement attribuable au fait
que les routes étaient mauvaises et que les gens ne pouvaient se
rendre sur place pour faire la surveillance. Bill et moi avons choisi
une autre période de temps — le débit d’été — c’est-a-dire de mai
a aoit, pour deux raisons. Nous avons constaté que les données
étaient plus complétes pour cette période de temps et il s’agit
¢également de la période au cours de laquelle la demande en eau est
élevée tant pour les municipalités que pour I’agriculture.

Le premier tableau montre la durée pour laquelle nous avons
des données dans le cas de la riviere Athabasca. Je la montre en
premier parce que c’est la seule riviére qui vient du versant est des
montagnes Rocheuses qui n’a pas de barrage ou qui ne fait pas
I’objet d’une extraction importante. Plus tot, je vous ai montré la
ligne bleue sur le graphique précédent qui indiquait les utilisations
autorisées a I’heure actuelle. Elles sont toutes assez modestes, du
moins au sud de la région des sables bitumineux. Evidemment, les
barrages, méme s’ils n’enlévent pas nécessairement de I’eau,
changent son caractére saisonnier. Par conséquent, nous avons
décidé d’examiner cette période estivale critique.
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Looking at that in detail for several stations, the red stars going
down the Athabasca River indicate where the gauging stations are
to measure river flows. We looked at the high point on that first
graph, 1970, and the current point. We are missing a couple of
years and we have not had the opportunity to rerun this since
gathering the initial data through 2003. Drawing a regression line
through those and comparing the early part with the late part of
that regression show us that flows are down in all stations except
for Sunwapta. This station is right below the Athabasca Glacier.
Almost all the water it receives is flow from that glacier. The
excess melting of the glacier with about 2 degrees of climate
warming currently at Lake Louise, has caused the flow from the
glacier to increase by more than 20 per cent. Of course, it is a
small area, so it cannot compensate for what is happening
downstream. It is trying hard, but there are much bigger areas of
the basin below it.

If you go through that and subtract the areas above and look
at the yield per unit of the watersheds down below, you will see
that the yields are way down for every site, except for Sunwapta.
This provides senators with an impression of what will happen
once that glacier is in such a recession that it cannot sustain those
increases again. The system will become much drier.

Then we looked at most of the major rivers on the Prairies.
I will just give you a few examples. This is the Peace River. We
have calculated a regression line through those periods. The
number indicates the difference between the percentage of an
initial flow of 100 per cent and what happens further on.

The Peace River is down about 40 per cent already.
The Oldman, which is heavily subscribed with lots of dams
all over it and lots of big withdrawals for irrigation, much of
which is not returned to the river, is down by almost 60 per cent.
The worst river we came across was the South Saskatchewan.
This is run using data through 2003. The South Saskatchewan is
the total of three heavily subscribed rivers, the Oldman, the Bow
and the Red Deer. The Red Deer has no glaciers in the catchment.
I showed you the Bow Glacier, and it and the Peyto Glacier
appear to already have receded so much that they cannot yield
more water. With the Oldman, much of the water comes from
just snow pack.

On all three of the rivers, there are major dams and
agricultural withdrawals and cities like Calgary, of course, and
other rapidly growing cities in southern Alberta. The flows out
here are only about 16 per cent what they were a century ago.
I know that many people around Saskatoon are quite concerned
about that.

Voyons la situation en détail pour plusieurs stations; les étoiles
rouges le long de la riviere Athabasca indiquent les endroits ou se
trouvent les stations de jaugeage ou 1’on mesure les débits de la
riviéere. Nous avons regardé le point élevé sur le premier
graphique, en 1970, et le point actuel. Il nous manque des
données pour quelques années et nous n’avons pas eu I’occasion
de refaire le tracé depuis que ’on a obtenu les données initiales
jusqu’a 2003. Si on trace une ligne de régression entre ces points,
et si 'on compare la premicre partie de cette régression avec la
partie tardive, on constate que les débits sont a la baisse dans
toutes les stations sauf celle de Sunwapta. Cette station se situe
juste en dessous du glacier Athabasca. Presque toute 1’eau que
cette riviére regoit provient de ce glacier. La fonte excessive du
glacier a cause dun réchauffement du climat d’environ deux
degrés a Lac Louise, a I’heure actuelle, a entrainé une
augmentation de plus de 20 p. 100 du débit d’eau provenant du
glacier. Evidemment, il s’agit d’une région assez limitée, et cela ne
peut compenser pour ce qui arrive en aval. Ce systéme travaille
fort, mais il y a des régions beaucoup plus grandes du bassin
versant en aval.

Si vous prenez ces données et que vous soustrayez les régions
au-dessus et regardez le rendement par unité de bassin versant en
dessous, vous verrez que les rendements ont beaucoup diminué
dans chacune des stations, sauf a Sunwapta. Cela donne aux
sénateurs une idée de ce qui arrivera une fois que le glacier aura
tellement rétréci qu’il ne pourra plus maintenir de telles
augmentations. Le systéme deviendra encore beaucoup plus sec.

Ensuite, nous regardons la plupart des principales riviéres des
Prairies. Je vais vous donner quelques exemples. Voici la riviere de
la Paix. Nous avons calculé une ligne de régression pour ces
périodes. Le nombre indique la différence entre le pourcentage
d’un débit initial de 100 p. 100 et ce qui arrive par la suite.

Le débit de la riviere de la Paix a déja diminué d’environ
40 p. 100. Le débit de la riviere Oldman, riviere qui est fortement
taxée parce qu’elle comporte de nombreux barrages et qu’on y fait
de nombreuses extractions importantes pour l'irrigation, dont la
plus grande partie n’est pas retournée a la riviere, a diminué de
prés de 60 p. 100. La pire situation que nous avons rencontrée
concerne la riviere Saskatchewan Sud. Ces résultats ont été
obtenus a l'aide des données allant jusqu’a 2003. La riviére
Saskatchewan Sud est la somme des trois riviéres lourdement
taxées, Oldman, Bow et Red Deer. Dans le bassin versant de la
riviere Red Deer, il n’y a pas de glacier. Je vous ai montré le
glacier Bow; or, ce dernier et le glacier Peyto semblent avoir déja
reculé tellement qu’ils ne peuvent donner plus d’eau. Dans le cas
de la riviere Oldman, une bonne partie de I’eau vient uniquement
de I'accumulation annuelle de neige.

Dans le cas des trois riviéres, il y a des barrages importants, des
extractions pour I’agriculture et des villes comme Calgary,
évidemment, et d’autres villes a croissance rapide dans le sud de
I’Alberta. Les débits ici ne représentent plus que 16 p. 100 de ce
qu’ils étaient il y a un siécle. Je sais que beaucoup de gens autour
de Saskatoon sont trés préoccupés par cette situation.
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I do not have a graph of the North Saskatchewan River. We
have not run it using the last two years of data yet, but the
number would be about the same as the Peace. It is down about
40 per cent.

The Chairman: Are those actual figures?

Mr. Schindler: Those are actual river flows for that May
through August period. That is important to remember. People
often write to me saying that they have read the paper and that
my numbers do not agree. I look back, and what other people
have used are the total flows with the gaps, particularly early in
the 20th century that I indicated.

That is pretty much what I have to say about water quantity.
Most people have forgotten that, as the result of the work
that we did on nutrients in the 1970s, the models all indicate that
these water flows, especially when they get to lakes like Lake
Winnipeg or many of the Alberta lakes, dilute the nutrients
less, and they have as big an influence on the algal blooms of
lakes, so-called eutrophication, as the nutrient inputs. Roughly, if
you have the water flow through a lake, it is equivalent to
doubling the amount of nutrient going in, in terms of what the
lake can do.

Would you like me to stop there and interact? I could go on
with some of actual nutrient examples.

The Chairman: Perhaps we should stop and have you help
us digest what we have heard so far. It is easier for me, at least,
to grasp the problems that have to do with the flow and
availability of water rather than what is in it and what it does,
which is, as you say, another question. We will have questions
from members now, and if there is more time we can proceed
with that later.

Senator Cochrane: I must congratulate you in advance for
receiving the Order of Canada. That is wonderful. You deserve it.

Mr. Schindler: Thank you.

Senator Cochrane: I appreciate you spending time with us here
today because the ecologists of Canada have done our country a
great service. You deal with Alberta. Are other ecologists in other
provinces doing work similar to yours?

Mr. Schindler: Much of the work that I showed was from
scientists at the University of Regina. There seems to be pretty
active work there. For example, the work of Dave Sauchyn on
past climates using tree rings, and much of the diatom work
that I referred to was done by Peter Leavitt in the biology
department there who worked with me as a post-doctoral
student.

Je n’ai pas de graphique pour la riviere Saskatchewan Nord.
Nous n’avons pas encore établi le graphique avec les données des
deux derniéres années, mais les chiffres devraient étre semblables
a ceux de la riviére de la Paix. Le débit a diminué d’environ
40 p. 100.

Le président : S’agit-il de chiffres réels?

M. Schindler : II s’agit des débits des riviéres réels pour cette
période de mai a aout. Il est important de s’en rappeler. Les gens
m’écrivent souvent pour me dire qu’ils ont lu le journal et que mes
chiffres ne correspondent pas aux leurs. J’ai regardé la situation et
ce que les autres personnes ont utilisé, ce sont les débits totaux
avec les lacunes, surtout au début du XX° siécle, que jai
indiquées.

Voila en gros tout ce que jai a dire au sujet de la quantité
d’eau. La plupart des gens ont oublié qu’a la suite du travail que
nous avons fait sur les éléments nutritifs dans les années 70, tous
les modéles indiquent que ces débits d’eau, surtout lorsqu’on
arrive dans des lacs comme le lac Winnipeg ou de nombreux
lacs de I’Alberta, diluent moins les éléments nutritifs et ont
un effet aussi important que l'apport d’éléments nutritifs sur
la prolifération des algues dans les lacs, ce qu’on appelle
l’eutrophisation. Grosso modo, si ’eau s’écoule a travers le lac,
cela équivaut a doubler la quantité d’éléments nutritifs qui entre
dans le lac, en termes de ce que peut faire le lac.

Voudriez-vous que je m’arréte ici et poser des questions? Je
pourrais poursuivre avec certains exemples concrets sur les
éléments nutritifs.

Le président : Peut-étre devrions-nous nous arréter pour que
vous nous aidiez a assimiler ce que nous avons entendu jusqu’ici.
Du moins, il est plus facile pour moi de comprendre les problémes
qui ont trait au débit et a la disponibilité de ’eau plutét que ce qui
entre dans ’eau et ce que cela fait, ce qui est, comme vous dites,
une autre question. Nous allons laisser les membres poser des
questions et s’il reste plus de temps, nous allons continuer avec
votre exposé plus tard.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Je tiens a vous féliciter a I’avance
d’avoir regu 1’Ordre du Canada. C’est quelque chose de
merveilleux. Vous le méritez.

M. Schindler : Merci.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Je vous suis reconnaissant de passer du
temps avec nous aujourd’hui, parce que les écologistes canadiens
ont rendu un grand service a notre pays. Vous traitez du cas de
I’Alberta. Y a-t-il d’autres écologistes dans d’autres provinces qui
font du travail semblable au votre?

M. Schindler : La plus grande partie du travail que j’ai montré
a été réalisé par des scientifiques de I’Université de Regina. On
semble étre assez actif 1a-bas. Par exemple, je pense au travail de
Dave Sauchyn sur les climats du passé a 1’aide des anneaux de
croissance des arbres; et une bonne partie du travail sur les
diatomées auquel j’ai fait allusion a été ’ccuvre de Peter Leavitt
du département de biologie de cette université, et qui a déja
travaillé avec moi dans le cadre d’un stage postdoctoral.



9-12-2004

Energie, environnement et ressources naturelles

5:49

There are also some very good groups in Manitoba. There, the
focus tends to be on government groups, particularly the
Freshwater Institute. There is also what used to be called the
National Hydrology Institute. Now they have the same name as
the eastern one, the Saskatoon National Water Research
Institute. Both of those agencies have gone through bad
financial times.

With respect to what I see happening on the Prairies, one thing
that badly needs doing is resurrecting the research capability of
those two organizations.

Senator Cochrane: How do we educate people about the
problems that we will be encountering in the future? Last night I
watched Peter Mansbridge on television talking about Calgary.
The masses of people that are coming into Calgary is amazing, as
is the construction that is going on there.

Mr. Schindler: The water part seems pretty easy. People are
very interested in it. I give probably one talk a week, and lately
I have had to get students and my wife and various other people
to give some talks for me, so there is huge public interest.
Organizations such as Ducks Unlimited are doing a really good
job of spreading the word and undertaking some projects like
wetland restoration. One thing that people do not realize is that
the reason their well goes dry is that they have ploughed under all
their wetlands or drained them. There is a huge disconnect in the
way people treat the plumbing of their landscape and what they
expect it to do for them.

It is coming. I am a little disappointed in the newspapers for
not picking this up, although just earlier this week, the editor of
The Edmonton Journal asked if 1 would write an article on this.
Various other papers have picked up on items such as the glacial
melt. My main concern is not that the word is not spreading, but
that it is not spreading rapidly enough.

Some of the people most capable of spreading the word are in
federal government organizations. There has been a tradition of
not speaking out in those organizations. If I were a minister, on
the annual evaluation of my people, I would have a box to tick on
whether they had given some public talks or not. It is tragic that
the experts in those organizations are not more involved in
education. They may give you some nice pamphlets, but there is
nothing like one-on-one contact with somebody who has done
the work.

Senator Cochrane: In an article in AlbertaViews, you
mentioned how we thoughtlessly use high quality water for
irrigation, flushing toilets and extracting oil and gas. We have
heard this from others. You said that it is not clear why we use a
resource as scarce as prairie water for some of these practices.
I would like to hear your thoughts on why we do that but, more
importantly, I would like to know how you would go about

Il y a également certains bons groupes de chercheurs au
Manitoba. La-bas, le travail est fait surtout par les groupes
gouvernementaux, particuliérement I'Institut des eaux douces. Il'y
a également ce que nous avions I’habitude d’appeler I'Institut
national de recherches en hydrologie. Maintenant, il porte le
méme nom que sa contrepartie dans 'est du pays, I'Institut
national de recherches sur les eaux de Saskatoon. Ces deux
organismes ont connu des temps difficiles au plan financier.

Avec ce que je vois arriver dans les Prairies, une des choses
qu’il est important de faire, c’est de ressusciter la capacité de
recherche de ces deux organismes.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Comment éduquons-nous les gens au
sujet des problémes auxquels nous serons confrontés dans
I’avenir? Hier soir, j’ai regardé Peter Mansbridge a la télévision
qui parlait de Calgary. L’afflux de gens a Calgary est
extraordinaire, tout comme la construction qui se fait 1a-bas.

M. Schindler : La partie concernant 1’eau est assez facile. Les
gens sont trés intéressés par cette question. Je donne
probablement une conférence par semaine et, derniérement, j’ai
du faire en sorte que des étudiants, mon épouse et diverses autres
personnes donnent des conférences a ma place; c’est donc dire
qu’il y a un intérét public énorme pour cette question. Des
organismes comme Canards Illimités font vraiment un excellent
travail au chapitre de I'information et dans certains projets de
remise en état des terres humides. Une chose que les gens ne
réalisent pas, c’est que la raison pour laquelle leurs puits sont
taris, c’est qu’ils ont labouré en-dessous de leurs terres humides ou
qu’ils les ont asséchées. Il y a un écart énorme entre la fagon dont
les gens traitent la plomberie de leur environnement et ce qu’ils
attendent d’elle.

Mais il y a du progrés. Je suis un peu dégu des journaux qui ne
reprennent pas cette histoire, bien que plus t6t cette semaine,
I’éditeur du Edmonton Journal m’ait demandé de rédiger un article
sur ce sujet. Divers autres journaux ont publié des articles sur des
questions comme la fonte des glaciers. Ma principale
préoccupation, ce n’est pas que I'information ne se propage pas,
mais qu’elle ne se propage pas assez vite.

Certaines des personnes les mieux placées pour diffuser cette
information sont employées dans des organismes du
gouvernement fédéral. Il y a une tradition dans ces organismes
de ne pas prendre la parole. Si j’étais ministre, sur le formulaire
d’évaluation annuelle de ces gens, j’aurais une case a cocher pour
savoir s’ils ont donné des conférences publiques ou non. Il est
tragique que les spécialistes qui travaillent pour ces organismes ne
participent pas plus que cela a I’effort d’éducation. Ils peuvent
trés bien vous donner une belle petite brochure, mais il n’y a rien
de tel qu'un contact de personne a personne avec quelqu’un qui a
fait le travail.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Dans un article paru dans
AlbertaViews, vous avez parlé du fait que nous utilisons sans
réfléchir de I’eau de haute qualité pour I'irrigation, pour chasser
I’eau des toilettes et pour extraire le pétrole et le gaz. D’autres
nous ont dit la méme chose. Vous avez dit qu’il n’était pas clair
pourquoi nous utilisons une ressource aussi rare que l’eau des
Prairies pour certaines de ces activités. J’aimerais savoir pourquoi
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changing this reality. Are there good models that exist that we
may follow so that we use our highest quality water more
efficiently?

Mr. Schindler: I could talk about this for about two hours,
so I will hit a few of the high points.

One thing we could do is water recycling. Of the 250 litres to
300 litres per day that we treat to drinking water standards, the
average person drinks maybe three to four. We use that same
highly treated water for washing the car and flushing the toilet. At
the very least, a lot of that water could be caught — shower water
and sink water — and used for lawn watering, toilet flushing and
so on. I see cities that do not even meter their water. Some have
incentives to use more water, say, for industries, by offering a
declining price as water use increases. I seldom see low-flow
shower heads or low-flush toilets. All of those things would help.

As an example, Edmonton probably has the highest priced
water in Canada. It is about the equivalent of an average
European country and about four times as expensive as the
Canadian average. As a result, Edmonton is one of the most
water efficient cities in Canada. Something as simple as charging a
little bit, something like a tenth of a cent per litre, which is not
much, has the effect of making people watch what they use.

In terms of what we can do, my best example is my family.
For 22 years, we lived in a part of southern Manitoba that
had saline ground water, so we had to have water trucked
into a cistern, as did many of our neighbours. Our standard
water use for a family of four worked out to between 22 and
25 litres a day. That caused us no hardship. We did not wash the
car or water the garden, but it looked after our needs otherwise
just fine.

Senator Milne: Thank you, Dr. Schindler, this is fascinating.

From what we have seen and heard this morning, it would
seem that, basically, it is too late for agriculture in the Prairie
provinces and that we should be advising farmers to sell up and
get out while they still can do that.

Mr. Schindler: Being from a farm family, I am not willing to go
that far.

Senator Milne: That is the problem. My background is also
farming.

Mr. Schindler: I would be telling farmers to not waste the water
irrigating crops for livestock feed. That is an expensive use of
water. It is my view that most livestock ought to be reared in areas
that have plentiful water. That being said, I looked at the water
use for these operations in Alberta and the best ones use
20 per cent of the water that the average farmer uses. If we were

nous le faisons, mais, plus important encore, j’aimerais savoir
comment vous feriez pour changer cette réalité. Existe-t-il de bons
modéles que nous pourrions suivre de sorte que nous utilisions
notre eau de la plus haute qualité d’'une maniére plus efficace?

M. Schindler : Je pourrais parler de cette question pendant
deux heures, alors je vais donner quelques points saillants.

Une chose que nous pourrions faire, c’est le recyclage de I’eau.
Des 250 a 300 litres d’eau que nous traitons par jour selon les
normes d’eau potable, la personne moyenne n’en boit peut-étre
que trois ou quatre. Nous utilisons cette méme eau hautement
traitée pour laver la voiture ou chasser I’eau des toilettes. Au
moins, une bonne partie de cette eau pourrait étre récupérée —
I’eau de la douche et ’eau de I’évier — et étre réutilisée pour
arroser la pelouse, chasser ’eau des toilettes et ainsi de suite. Je
vois des villes qui n’ont méme pas de compteurs d’eau. Certaines
ont méme des incitatifs pour utiliser plus d’eau, disons, a
I'intention des industries, en offrant un tarif décroissant avec
l’augmentation de I'utilisation de I’eau. Je vois rarement des
pommes de douche a faible débit ou des toilettes a débit d’eau
restreint. Tous ces éléments aideraient.

A titre d’exemple, Edmonton est probablement la ville au
Canada ou I’eau cofite le plus cher. Le cott de I’eau y est environ
I’équivalent de ce que I’on paye dans un pays européen moyen et
quatre fois plus élevé que la moyenne canadienne. En
conséquence, Edmonton est 'une des villes les plus efficaces au
Canada pour ce qui est de l'utilisation de I’eau. Parfois, le simple
fait d’exiger un petit quelque chose, comme un dixiéme de cent le
litre, ce qui n’est pas beaucoup, a pour effet d’inciter les gens a
surveiller leur utilisation.

Pour ce qui est de ce que nous pouvons faire, le meilleur
exemple que je puisse vous donner, c’est celui de ma famille.
Pendant 22 ans, nous avons vécu dans une partie du sud du
Manitoba dont ’eau souterraine est salée, alors, il nous fallait
faire venir I’eau par camion-citerne, comme le faisaient un grand
nombre de nos voisins. Notre famille de quatre personnes utilisait
entre 22 et 25 litres par jour. Cela ne nous a pas causé de
privations. Nous ne lavions pas la voiture et nous n’arrosions pas
le jardin, mais cela répondait bien a tous nos autres besoins.

Le sénateur Milne : Merci, monsieur Schindler, c’est fascinant.

D’aprés ce que nous avons vu et entendu ce matin, il semblerait
que, fondamentalement, il soit trop tard pour 'agriculture dans
les provinces des Prairies et que nous devrions prévenir les
agriculteurs de tout vendre et de déménager pendant qu’il en est
encore temps.

M. Schindler : Etant moi-méme originaire d’une famille
d’agriculteurs, je ne suis pas prét a aller aussi loin.

Le sénateur Milne : C’est 1a le probléme. Moi aussi je viens de
la ferme.

M. Schindler : Je dirais aux agriculteurs de ne pas gaspiller
I’eau a irriguer des cultures destinées a ’alimentation du bétail. Il
s’agit d’une utilisation cofiteuse de ’eau. Je suis d’avis que la plus
grande partie du bétail devrait étre élevée 1a ou il y a beaucoup
d’eau. Ceci dit, j’ai examiné I’utilisation de I’eau pour ces activités
en Alberta et les meilleures exploitations utilisent seulement
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to push the standard a bit and demand that the practices of the
average be equivalent to the practices of the best, we could save
agriculture for a while.

Senator Milne: Would that save us for a while?

Mr. Schindler: Yes. As well, we could grow many crops that
require less water. Canola requires much less water than alfalfa or
sugar beets. It would certainly help to direct farmers in that way.
Of course, for other reasons, we should encourage farmers to
engage in low-till agriculture methods.

In terms of water protection, if we could leave stream bank
riparian areas and wetlands in place, we would benefit because
part of the problem we see with the river flows relates to the
destruction of those areas.

Senator Milne: Each time you fly over any part of the Western
provinces, you see fewer and fewer little slews because people are
draining and ploughing over them.

Mr. Schindler: That is right. I actually saw the wetland
vegetation — peat — being bailed two years ago in
Saskatchewan. Ducks Unlimited’s figures indicate that about
70 per cent of those wetlands have disappeared since we started
farming on the Prairies.

If we could educate people, those wetlands could be restored.
At the very least, we ought to protect the wetlands in new farm
land. One thing we have to do is to turn around the push for more
and more agriculture, although I do not know if I would call for a
lot less agriculture. The Alberta government’s position of
doubling agriculture in 10 years is a bad position when there is
no more farm land in the white zone of the Prairies and it is
coming right out of the southern edge of the boreal region

Senator Milne: In reference to urban areas, you talked about
our not using high-quality treated drinking water to flush our
toilets. In fact, you are talking about a separate water delivery
system and doubling the catchment system. If you want to save
the grey water and reuse it, then you would require two systems. |
doubt very much if we could ever persuade any city to do that.

Mr. Schindler: There are a number of ways to do it and some
are being used in the southwestern U.S. and in Israel. One is the
equivalent of the old cistern system that would catch gray water
as we run it through our showers. That is then piped back to the
toilets and so forth. The other system involves catching roof water
and piping it in. The final stage is to have two streams of water
treatment such that only drinking water is highly treated and the
other would be treated to a lesser degree. That would probably be
quite expensive, especially to set up in previously developed areas.
We could accomplish a lot if we were to recycle within individual

20 p. 100 de I'eau qu’utilisent les fermes moyennes. Si nous
imposions cette norme a tous les agriculteurs, nous pourrions
sauver 'agriculture pendant un certain temps.

Le sénateur Milne : Est-ce que cela nous sauverait pendant un
certain temps?

M. Schindler : Oui. De plus, nous pourrions cultiver des
espéces végétales qui nécessitent moins d’eau. Le canola demande
beaucoup moins d’eau que la luzerne ou la betterave a sucre. Il
serait certainement utile d’orienter les agriculteurs dans ce sens.
Evidemment, pour d’autres raisons, nous devrions encourager les
agriculteurs a utiliser des pratiques agricoles a travail réduit du
sol.

En matiére de protection de I’eau, si nous pouvions laisser
intactes les rives des cours d’eau et les terres humides, nous y
gagnerions parce qu’une partie du probléme que nous éprouvons
avec les débits des riviéres est liée a la destruction de ces zones.

Le sénateur Milne : Chaque fois que vous survoler les provinces
de I’Ouest, vous voyez de moins en moins de marécages parce que
les gens les asséchent ou qu’ils les labourent.

M. Schindler : C’est exact. En fait, j’ai vu de la végétation des
terres humides — de la tourbe — étre mises en ballots il y a deux
ans en Saskatchewan. Les chiffres de Canards Illimités indiquent
qu’environ 70 p. 100 de ces terres humides ont disparu depuis que
nous avons commencé I’agriculture dans les Prairies.

Si nous pouvions éduquer les gens, ces terres humides
pourraient étre remises en état. A tout le moins, nous pourrions
protéger les terres humides sur les nouvelles terres agricoles. Une
chose que nous devons faire, c’est d’inverser la tendance vers
I’accroissement sans fin de ’agriculture, bien que j'ignore si nous
pouvons demander beaucoup moins d’agriculture. La position du
gouvernement de I’Alberta de vouloir doubler 1’agriculture en dix
ans n’est pas une bonne position lorsqu’il ne reste plus de terres
agricoles dans la zone blanche des Prairies et que ces terres
proviennent directement de la bordure sud de la région boréale.

Le sénateur Milne : Concernant les zones urbaines, vous avez
parlé de ne pas utiliser de I’eau potable traitée de haute qualité
pour chasser I’eau des toilettes. En fait, vous parlez d’un systéme
d’approvisionnement en eau séparé et du dédoublement du
systéme de captage des eaux. Si vous voulez économiser I’eau
grise et la réutiliser, vous avez alors besoin de deux systémes. Je
doute beaucoup que ’on puisse jamais persuader une ville de faire
cela.

M. Schindler : Il existe différents moyens, dont certains sont
utilisés dans le sud-ouest des Etats-Unis et en Israél. L’un d’eux
est I’équivalent du vieux systéme de citerne qui récupére les eaux
grises de nos douches et les achemine vers les toilettes, et cetera.
L’autre systéme consiste a récupérer I’eau des toits. La derniere
étape consiste a avoir deux systémes de traitement : seule I'eau
potable fait ’objet d’un traitement intensif tandis que I’eau
destinée a d’autres usages est traitée dans une moindre mesure. Ce
serait probablement trés coliteux, en particulier dans des secteurs
déja établis. On pourrait accomplir beaucoup en recyclant a
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dwellings. As well, it would help if people were to end their
fascination with Kentucky bluegrass and grow something
indigenous to their areas.

Senator Milne: We should return to native vegetation on our
front lawns. Some people are doing that now in downtown
Toronto.

Mr. Schindler: My wife hates mowing the lawn and she actually
encourages the grass to die and she would never consider watering
the lawn.

Senator Milne: It is easy to kill the lawn when you live in
Alberta. One of my particular interests is with the International
Joint Commission of Canada and the United States. Your field of
expertise is the activity in the drylands of the west. I understand
that the 1JC, which I thought dealt with only the Great Lakes,
deals with all international boundaries. The Red River flows
across the north-south border and the Columbia crosses between
Yukon and Alaska. The 1JC also deals with some waterways; and
it is now under such political pressure.

Mr. Schindler: I have just written a paper on that, which I
could give to you. It is posted on the website of the University of
Victoria.

Senator Milne: I would like that very much because the issue is
of particular concern to me. Mr. Chair, given the nature of our
study, perhaps the more immediate problem might be the 1JC
because it presents a political issue over which we might have
some influence. I would very much appreciate whatever
information you can provide to the committee.

Mr. Schindler: There are some truly troubling spots in the west.
For example, the Columbia River is up for renegotiation. The
first negotiations resulted in a bad deal for Canada with a lump
sum payment that did not equate to the amount we paid to build
dams to generate American hydro power. We also lost all our
salmon. We need to renegotiate with more strength.

Moving east, there is a big altercation shaping up over the
St. Mary and Milk rivers in southern Alberta. There was a
written agreement in 1921, 1 believe, after an IJC decision. Now,
the Montana farmers want more of the water. They have
unbelievable irrigation practices. They simply flood the land.
You do not see that these days outside of Third World countries.

Senator Milne: They do that in Australia.

Mr. Schindler: Moving further east, the decision has been made
to drain the saline Devil’s Lake into the Red River. That is
currently under construction and that water will begin to flow by
the middle of next summer. They have another plan to connect
the Missouri system to Devil’s Lake. If all of that were done,
potentially, we could have some huge alien species problems

I'intérieur de chaque habitation. On gagnerait également si les
gens cessaient d’étre fascinés par le paturin des prés et se mettaient
a cultiver des plantes indigénes.

Le sénateur Milne : Il faudrait revenir a une végétation
indigéne sur nos parterres. Certaines personnes le font
maintenant dans le centre-ville de Toronto.

M. Schindler : Mon épouse déteste tondre le gazon; elle
I’encourage plutdét & mourir et elle n’aurait jamais I'idée
d’arroser la pelouse.

Le sénateur Milne : C’est facile de laisser mourir la pelouse
lorsque vous vivez en Alberta. Ce qui m’intéresse
particuliérement, c’est, entre autres, la Commission mixte
internationale des Etats-Unis et du Canada. Votre domaine
d’expertise touche a lactivité sur les terres arides de I’Ouest. Je
crois comprendre que la CMI s’occupe de toutes les frontiéres
internationales, alors que je croyais qu’elle ne s’intéressait qu’aux
Grands Lacs. La riviere Rouge traverse la frontiére nord-sud
tandis que le fleuve Columbia traverse la frontiére entre le Yukon
et ’Alaska. La CMI s’occupe également de certaines voies de
navigation; elle subit & I’heure actuelle beaucoup de pressions
politiques.

M. Schindler : Je viens tout juste de rédiger un document a ce
sujet, que je pourrais vous remettre. Il est affiché dans le site Web
de I’Université de Victoria.

Le sénateur Milne : J’aimerais beaucoup, parce que cette
question me préoccupe tout particulierement. Monsieur le
président, compte tenu de la nature de notre étude, le probléme
le plus immédiat pourrait étre la CMI, parce qu’elle présente un
enjeu politique sur lequel nous pourrions avoir une certaine
influence. J’aimerais beaucoup que vous remettiez au comité toute
I'information que vous pouvez.

M. Schindler : On trouve certains points chauds dans I’Ouest.
Par exemple, le fleuve Columbia doit faire I’objet de nouvelles
négociations. Les premiéres ont abouti a une entente défavorable
pour le Canada. En effet, nous avons obtenu une somme
forfaitaire qui n’équivalait pas au montant que nous avons payé
pour construire des barrages afin de donner de I’hydroélectricité
aux Américains. Nous avons aussi perdu tout notre saumon.
Nous devons renégocier avec plus de fermeté.

Un peu plus a ’est, un important affrontement est en train de
se préparer relativement aux riviéres St. Mary et Milk, au sud de
I’Alberta. Une entente avait été signée en 1921, je crois, aprés une
décision de la CMI. Aujourd’hui, les agriculteurs du Montana
veulent davantage d’eau. IlIs ont des pratiques d’irrigation
incroyables. Ils inondent tout simplement les terres. On ne voit
plus cela de nos jours, sauf dans les pays du tiers monde.

Le sénateur Milne : Cette pratique est utilisée en Australie.

M. Schindler : Encore un peu plus a l’est, on a décidé de
drainer I'eau saline du lac Devil’s dans la riviére Rouge. Des
travaux de construction sont en cours et cette eau commencera a
couler des le milieu de 1’été prochain. Les Américains prévoient
également relier le réseau du Missouri au lac Devil’s. Si tous ces
projets se réalisent, nous pourrions avoir d’énormes problémes



9-12-2004

Energie, environnement et ressources naturelles

5:53

because of the introduction of southern species, including some
from Eurasia, into the Red River and Lake Winnipeg. As well, we
have the annex 2001 problem in the Great Lakes.

Actually, I skipped one spot. There is an alien species problem
in the Rainy River with the introduction of rainbow smelt, which
will eventually invade the whole system, including Lake Winnipeg
and the Nelson River. It is now in Hudson’s Bay and I am told
that it is moving into streams north of there. Two or three other
species, mostly small crustaceans, have caused problems. The
bythotrephes, a spiny crustacean that has caused many problems
in the Great Lakes, has apparently just invaded the Rainy River
system. Zebra muscles, which are another potential problem, are
one drainage pipe away.

Senator Milne: It takes only one person pulling a boat out of
one water system and putting it in another water system to
introduce an alien species.

Mr. Schindler: That is right. Bythotrephes even stick to fishing
lines. You cannot use the same fishing rod in two basins when one
of them is infected.

In respect of the Great Lakes, annex 2001 is a real problem.
Even some of the environmental groups were fooled by some of
the nice language in the draft annex, such as “a resource
improvement.” In fact, if you look at the language as the draft
is written, there is no protection for water on the Canadian side.
Water can be withdrawn from the basin up to a certain amount.
There is a restriction on the size of the withdrawals but not on the
number. There are dozens of cities in Ohio and Wisconsin, in
particular, that would love to ship that water 10 miles. It is not
even clear where that basin begins and ends with respect to
groundwater. We need some improved science there. If we are
going to ship water over the divide, into adjacent parts of Ohio,
for the Great Lakes, it is the same as shipping it to Arizona. The
water is out of the basin.

I do not think people realize how precarious the water balance
of the Great Lakes is. Only 1 per cent of the water is renewed per
year on average. It will be less as the climate warms because
evaporation will increase. Even fiddling around with 10 per cent
of that 1 per cent is something. We have already had some
periods when lake levels have been down. In shipping costs, if you
do not care about anything else, it is billions of dollars. Dredging,
if we do it, would increase that cost.

Senator Spivak: Mr. Schindler, congratulations. You are a
limnologist, not an ecologist. What is that?

Mr. Schindler: It is the freshwater equivalent of an
oceanographer.

Senator Spivak: Is it absolutely established that there will be a
doubling of CO,? Is that no longer in question?

Mr. Schindler: That is no longer in question. We are so locked
in now that the best scenarios would be slightly less than that, but
the worst ones would be slightly more. Of course, there seems to

parce que des espéces étrangeres du Sud, dont certaines d’Eurasie,
seraient introduites dans la riviere Rouge et le lac Winnipeg. [1y a
aussi I’'annexe de 2001 concernant les Grands Lacs qui nous cause
des problémes.

En fait, j’ai sauté un point chaud. L’éperlan s’est introduit dans
la riviére a la Pluie et envahira tét ou tard tout le systéme, y
compris le lac Winnipeg et le fleuve Nelson. L’espéce étrangére se
trouve maintenant dans la baie d’Hudson, et on me dit qu’elle
s’introduit dans des ruisseaux plus au nord. Deux ou trois autres
espeéces, dont la plupart sont de petits crustacés, ont entrainé des
problémes. Le cladocére épineux, un crustacé qui a causé de
nombreux problémes dans les Grands Lacs, aurait apparemment
envahi le réseau de la riviere a la Pluie. La moule zébrée est un
autre probléme qui nous guette.

Le sénateur Milne : Il suffit qu'une seule personne prenne un
bateau qui a baigné dans un réseau hydrographique et I’'ameéne
dans un autre réseau pour introduire des especes étrangeres.

M. Schindler : C’est exact. Le cladocére épineux s’accroche
méme aux lignes de péche. Vous ne pouvez utiliser la méme ligne a
péche dans deux bassins différents si I'un des deux est infecté.

Concernant les Grands Lacs, I’annexe de 2001 pose un
véritable probléeme. Méme certains groupes écologistes se sont
faits berner par les beaux mots que comporte le projet d’annexe,
comme I’amélioration de la ressource. En fait, dans sa forme
actuelle, le document ne comporte aucune protection pour ’eau
du coté canadien. L’eau peut étre retirée d’un bassin jusqu’a une
certaine quantité. On a prévu une limite sur le volume des retraits,
mais non sur le nombre. Des douzaines de villes de I’Ohio et du
Wisconsin, en particulier, aimeraient bien expédier cette eau a
10 milles de la. On ne sait méme pas exactement ou le bassin
hydrogéologique commence et ou il se termine. La science doit
faire des progrés dans ce domaine. Si nous devons expédier 'eau
au-dela de la ligne de partage des eaux, dans des zones adjacentes
de I’Ohio, c’est comme si nous I’expédions en Arizona. L’eau n’est
plus dans le bassin.

Je ne crois pas que les gens réalisent a quel point I’équilibre de
I’eau des Grands Lacs est précaire. En moyenne, seulement
1 p. 100 de cette eau est renouvelé. Ce pourcentage diminuera
avec le réchauffement du climat, parce que 1’évaporation va
augmenter. Méme une variation de 10 p. 100 de ce 1 p. 100 aura
des conséquences. Nous avons déja connu des périodes ou les
niveaux des Grands Lacs étaient bas. En terme de colts de
navigation, si c’est la seule chose qui vous préoccupe, on parle de
milliards de dollars. Les travaux de dragage, si nous en faisons,
augmenteraient ces cofts.

Le sénateur Spivak : Monsieur Schindler, félicitations. Vous
étes un limnologue, et non un écologiste. Qu’est-ce que c’est?

M. Schindler : C’est 1’équivalent d’un océanographe, mais
d’eau douce.

Le sénateur Spivak : Est-il établi sans équivoque que le niveau
de CO, va doubler? Cette prévision est-elle remise en question?

M. Schindler : Cette prévision n’est plus remise en question.
Nous sommes tellement avancés maintenant que dans le meilleur
des scénarios, la hausse serait 1égérement moins forte, mais dans le
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be very little indication that we are going to take anything like a
conservation path. The best estimates are that we will see a
doubling somewhere between 2040 and 2060.

Senator Spivak: Our committee heard from representatives of
the Department of Natural Resources who told us about
groundwater. You made little mention of groundwater. They
told us that, so far, it looks like we are all right in that we do not
have any aquifers that are not capable of being naturally
replenished here.

The scenario is that, 10 years out, horrible things will perhaps
be on the minds of even the oil sands people. The Alberta
government is apparently looking at some sort of water policy;
but who knows what that is. If they run out of river and flow
water will they be attacking the groundwater? What do you see as
the future for the oil sands. What is more rational?

Mr. Schindler: That is a lot of questions.

Senator Spivak: Just before you answer, I would just add that
the technology is in place for irrigation. Israel has converted the
desert into arable land through with tiny spots of irrigation. Why
are we so stupid here that we do not adopt those methods before
the apocalypse? I do not get it.

Mr. Schindler: To start with groundwater, I must get two calls
a week from people in Alberta whose wells have gone dry. I would
dispute that those aquifers are being recharged at least in that part
of the world.

Some of the water in the West that is being used is several
hundred years old. The recharge times are very long. I also know
that the aquifers are not well known. Some of the ground water
records were monitored up until 1993, and they have not been
monitored since because of government cutbacks. Going into one
of these altercations as a scientist is useless. They expect you to be
a magic fairy and bring your own data. Without a database,
scientists are no better than anyone else in guessing what would
happen.

The same thing has happened both at federal and provincial
levels. There has been so much cutting back that instead of the
threatened duplication of minding the water store, we have no one
minding it. Somebody has to step in and take responsibility for
getting the databases we need to make some of these predictions.

I do not think the oil sands will ever be a big groundwater user.
Their main water has been coming directly from the Athabasca
River. The big danger to groundwater there would be that this big
mossy map that I indicated that covers much of that basin will be
stripped away. It cannot be put back. The return flow — that is
for all practical purposes groundwater — system acts like a
capacitor in an electrical system, evening out all the pulses and
keeping a nice uniform annual flow. Potentially, that is a real

pire des scénarios, cette augmentation serait légérement
supérieure. Evidemment, trés peu de signes laissent croire que
nous allons prendre la voie de la conservation. Selon les meilleures
estimations, les niveaux vont doubler entre 2040 et 2060.

Le sénateur Spivak : Des représentants du ministére des
Ressources naturelles sont venus nous parler de l’eau
souterraine. Vous en avez peu parlé. Ils nous ont dit que,
jusqu’a présent, la situation semble ne pas étre inquiétante
puisque nos aquiféres sont tous capables de se reconstituer
naturellement.

Dans 10 ans, on prévoit que des choses horribles pourraient
traverser méme l’esprit des exploitants des sables bitumineux. Il
semble que le gouvernement de 1’Alberta envisage une certaine
politique de I’eau, mais qui sait ce que cela signifie. Si I’eau des
riviéres venait & manquer, vont-ils s’attaquer a I’eau souterraine?
Comme voyez-vous I’avenir des sables bitumineux? Qu’est-ce qui
est plus rationnel?

M. Schindler : Voila beaucoup de questions.

Le sénateur Spivak : Avant que vous répondiez, j’aimerais
simplement ajouter que la technologie de l'irrigation existe. Israél
a transformé le désert en terre arable avec de petites parcelles
d’irrigation. Pourquoi sommes-nous si stupides que nous
n’adoptons pas ces méthodes avant 1’apocalypse? Je ne
comprends pas.

M. Schindler : D’abord, concernant I’eau souterraine, je regois
environ deux appels par semaines de gens de Alberta dont les
puits sont asséchés. Je remettrais en question 1'idée que ces
aquifeéres se reconstituent, du moins dans cette partic du monde.

Dans 1’Ouest, une partie de 1’eau utilisée a plusieurs centaines
d’années. La période de reconstitution est trés longue. Je sais
également qu’on ne connait pas trés bien les aquiféres. Certains
registres sur ’eau souterraine ont été suivis jusqu’en 1993 et ne
I’ont pas été depuis, en raison des compressions budgétaires du
gouvernement. Il est inutile pour un scientifique de prendre part a
une telle polémique. On s’attend a ce que vous soyez un magicien
et que vous produisiez vos propres données. En 1’absence d’une
base de données, les scientifiques ne valent pas mieux que d’autres
pour deviner ce qui pourrait arriver.

La méme chose s’est produite aux niveaux fédéral et provincial.
Il y a eu tellement de compressions budgétaires qu’au lieu de faire
double emploi comme on le redoutait, personne ne s’occupe de
I’eau. Quelqu’un doit prendre les choses en main et produire les
bases de données dont nous avons besoin pour faire certaines de
ces prévisions.

Je ne crois pas que les exploitants des sables bitumineux
deviendront un jour de grands consommateurs d’eau souterraine.
En général, I’eau qu’ils utilisent vient directement de la
riviere Athabasca. Ce qui pourrait menacer I’eau souterraine, ce
serait le retrait de toute cette mousse qui couvre la majeure partie
de ce bassin. Elle ne pourrait pas étre reconstituée. L’écoulement
restitué — il s’agit, a toutes fins pratiques, de I’eau souterraine —
agit comme un condensateur dans un systéme électrique, en
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problem. I would like to see those companies pushed a little bit
harder to water conservation measures.

I have been involved in two recent oil sands hearings,
making the case for water. In both, the energy and utilities
board ignored us. However, in both cases the companies said
that they believed us. They did not stop their projects but they
swore that they would go to 3 to 1 ratios of water to oil instead
of 6 to 1. Both put in some off-stream storage in that they can
pump water out of the river when there is a high flow condition
and not have to rely on the river in low mid-winter flows.

Senator Spivak: Is the land mass of the oil sands such that
they would destroy the entire landscape? What about the fact
that they will bring natural gas down? Do you always have to
have steam to get that oil out of the by bitumen, or can you use
something else?

Mr. Schindler: T am probably the wrong person to ask
about the technology, but I do know a little bit about it. Until
about five years ago I worked with some of the oil sands
companies and became rather frustrated as how fast they were
willing to move. Some of the newer plants use water to carry
the slurry. Instead of heating it to high temperatures, it is
essentially warm water that pumps along this bitumen for long
distances. It is an improvement in energy over what they once
did. They use twice the energy per barrel of oil of conventional
extraction methods. The figure I have heard, and I really would
not have you believe, is the equivalent of one barrel of oil
and energy for three barrels extracted, whereas conventional
oil is six or more.

It is not an efficient process. I think, again, efficiency needs to
be pushed. I hate to see natural gas used for just that extraction. I
am really afraid that between the rush to get that to the U.S. and
the need for energy in the tar sands, there will not be much
natural gas left for other things, and of course it is a valuable
commodity for plastics, conventional heating and all sorts of
things.

Senator Spivak: Where do you think we could have the most
leverage? This is what we are looking at. We are looking at how to
go about this. Do you think we should look at all of the matters
that pertain to the Prairies? Where do you think we could have
the most leverage at the federal level, in what areas of the country,
or what aspect of a particular problem?

Mr. Schindler: I would say that you could look to two areas.
One would be the Western Prairies, because the realization that
there are water problems is there. Alberta has this new Water for
Life program, but the minister who started it has decided not to

égalisant toutes les impulsions pour garder un flot annuel
universel, ce qui pourrait causer un véritable probléeme.
J’aimerais que l'on pousse un peu plus ces compagnies a
adopter des mesures de conservation de 1’eau.

Jai participé a deux audiences récentes concernant les sables
bitumineux, ou jai présenté des plaidoyers en faveur de I’eau.
Dans les deux cas, la commission de I’énergie et des services
publics n’a pas tenu compte de nous. Toutefois, les compagnies
ont dit qu’elles croyaient ce que nous disions. Elles n’ont pas mis
fin a leurs projets, mais elles ont juré de diminuer le ratio eau-
pétrole a trois pour un, au lieu de six pour un. Les deux
compagnies ont installé un réservoir dans lequel elles peuvent
pomper de I’eau de la riviére lorsque le débit est élevé, de maniére
a ne pas dépendre de la riviére lorsque le niveau est bas, au milieu
de I’hiver.

Le sénateur Spivak : Les sables bitumineux comportent-ils une
masse terrestre telle que tout le paysage sera détruit? Que penser
du fait qu’ils vont acheminer le gaz naturel vers le sud? Faut-il
toujours utiliser la vapeur pour extraire le pétrole du bitume, ou
peut-on utiliser autre chose?

M. Schindler : Je ne suis probablement pas la bonne personne a
qui poser ces questions sur la technologie, mais j’en sais quand
méme un peu. Il y a environ cing ans, j’ai travaillé avec certaines
des compagnies qui s’intéressent aux sables bitumineux et j’étais
plutét frustré de voir a quel point elles étaient empressées d’aller
de l'avant. Certaines des usines les plus nouvelles utilisent I’eau
pour transporter la boue de forage. Au lieu de la chauffer a de
fortes températures, c’est une eau tiede qui transporte ce bitume
sur de longues distances. C’est une amélioration par rapport a
I’énergie qu’elles utilisaient auparavant. Par ailleurs, elles utilisent
deux fois plus d’énergie pour produire un baril de pétrole que les
méthodes d’extraction conventionnelles. Selon les données qui
m’ont été rapportées, et vous n’étes pas obligés d’y croire, on
utilise I’équivalent d’un baril de pétrole pour extraire trois barils,
alors que la méme énergie donne six barils ou plus de pétrole
conventionnel.

Ce n’est pas un procédé efficace. Encore une fois, je crois qu’il
faut exiger l'efficacité. Le gaz naturel ne devrait pas étre utilisé
uniquement pour D’extraction. J’ai bien peur qu’entre
I’empressement de I'expédier aux Etats-Unis et le besoin
d’énergie pour I’extraction des sables bitumineux, il restera bien
peu de gaz naturel pour autres choses, et il s’agit évidemment d’un
produit appréciable pour les plastiques, le chauffage
conventionnel et toutes sortes de choses.

Le sénateur Spivak : Selon vous, ou pourrions-nous avoir le
plus d’influence? C’est ce que nous cherchons a savoir. Nous
voulons savoir ce qu’il faut faire. Croyez-vous que nous devrions
nous occuper de tout ce qui touche aux Prairies? Selon vous, ou
pouvons-nous avoir le plus d’influence au niveau fédéral, dans
quels secteurs du pays ou sur quel aspect d’un probleme
particulier?

M. Schindler : Je dirais que vous pourriez examiner deux
secteurs. D’abord, les Prairies, parce qu’elles sont aux prises avec
des probléemes d’eau. L’Alberta a ce nouveau programme L’eau
pour la vie, mais le ministre qui a démarré ce programme a décidé
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run again. Reading between the lines, I think he may be a little
frustrated in how slow it has been to get moving. Many of his
colleagues are not as far-seeing as he is.

That being said, the new Minister of Environment, Guy
Boutilier, just had his aide phone me to see if we could get
together so that I could give him some advice. At least there is
some realization that something needs to be done.

If you can arrange to support and enhance some of the things
that the more progressive of provincial politicians see as
necessary, that would be a positive step.

There is now widespread realization in the Prairie scientific
communities that all we would need is one of these prolonged
droughts of the past and we would be in for a real problem right
now. However, it is impossible is to predict is when that might
happen, except that in most past centuries we have had three or
four of them. It is probably not over a decade or two off, on
average.

Senator Angus: Mr. Schindler let me begin by saying how
privileged we are that someone of your stature and eminence
would come here this morning to be with us. I only wish the
benches were full of media. What you are saying should be,
literally, screamed from the rooftops. One of the biggest
questions we have is what to do about it. How can we do
something? I am a new member of this committee. They are
already calling me a “born again environmentalist” and “a green
senator.” I am really keen. This is a fascinating paper about your
good self: the “Indiana Jones of ecology.” I mean it when I say
you are “the man.” You are here and we have to find a way to
take advantage of that.

One paragraph on water caught my eye. It states “I don’t think
there is a scientist in freshwater ecology that has had a bigger
influence or is more highly regarded in the world than
Schindler.”... “He’s always on the cutting edge.” It also goes on
to say that you are not a pessimist, but that you are an optimist
and you call it the way it is. You say it the way it is but you do not
despair.

This committee’s mandate is to prepare a report. I noted that
you said some nice things about this committee’s report on the
Boreal Forest in 1999. Was it not this committee?

Senator Spivak: I believe it was the Agriculture Committee.

Senator Angus: It was an excellent Senate committee report,
which as far as I can see, in my new capacity as a born-again
environmentalist, has fallen more or less into a black hole.

Yesterday, in another committee, we had representatives of
Ducks Unlimited, to whom you referred. One of their senior
officers, Mr. Turner, has been sitting back here this morning

de ne pas se représenter. Si on lit entre les lignes, je crois qu’il est
un peu frustré de la lenteur du projet. Bon nombre de ses
collégues ne voient pas aussi loin que lui.

Cela dit, le nouveau ministre de I’Environnement, Guy
Boutilier, a demandé a un de ses collaborateurs de m’appeler
pour voir si nous pouvions nous rencontrer afin que je puisse lui
donner certains conseils. On se rend compte, au moins, qu’il faut
faire quelque chose.

Si vous pouvez appuyer et renforcer certaines initiatives que les
politiciens provinciaux plus progressistes jugent nécessaires, ce
serait un pas dans la bonne direction.

La communauté scientifique des Prairies se rend compte
maintenant qu’il suffirait d’une sécheresse prolongée comme
nous avons connue par le passé pour nous retrouver avec un grave
probléme. Toutefois, il est impossible de prédire quand une telle
sécheresse pourrait se produire, sauf que nous en avons eu trois
ou quatre dans la plupart des derniers siécles. Ce serait
probablement dans moins d’une décennie ou deux.

Le sénateur Angus : Monsieur Schindler, permettez-moi
d’abord de dire a quel point nous sommes privilégiés de
recevoir ce matin un témoin de votre calibre et de votre
compétence. C’est dommage que les bancs ne soient pas tous
occupés par des représentants des médias. Ce que vous dites
devrait étre littéralement crié sur tous les toits. Une des plus
grandes questions que nous avons est la suivante : que devons-
nous faire? Comment pouvons-nous faire quelque chose? Je suis
un nouveau membre de ce comité. On dit déja que je suis un
« environnementaliste nouvellement converti » et un « sénateur
vert ». Je suis trés enthousiaste. C’est un rapport fascinant que
vous nous avez remis et qui porte sur vous, « L’Indiana Jones de
I’écologie ». Je dis que vous étes vraiment I'homme de la
situation. Vous étes ici et nous devons trouver un moyen de
profiter de votre présence.

Un paragraphe sur I’eau a attiré mon attention. On y dit : « Je
ne connais aucun autre spécialiste de 1’écologie des eaux douces
qui a exercé autant d’influence ou qui est plus estimé dans le
monde que Schindler » ... « Il est toujours a ’avant-garde. » On
dit également que vous n’étes pas un pessimiste, mais plutét un
optimiste qui dit les choses comme elles sont. Vous dites les choses
comme elles sont, mais vous ne désespérez pas.

Le comité a le mandat de rédiger un rapport. Vous avez dit de
belles choses sur le rapport que le comité a rédigé sur la forét
boréale en 1999. Ce n’était pas notre comité?

Le sénateur Spivak : Je crois que c’était le comité de
l’agriculture.

Le sénateur Angus : C’était un excellent rapport produit par
un comité sénatorial qui, & ce que je sache en tant
qu’environnementaliste nouvellement converti, est plus ou
moins tombé dans I’oubli.

Hier, dans le cadre des travaux d’un autre comité, nous avons
entendu des représentants de Canards Illimités, dont vous avez
parlé. Un de leurs cadres supérieurs, M. Turner, était assis ici ce
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Perhaps Ducks Unlimited should make representations at our
committee since they have an interest in water and the wetlands.

Yesterday, the Ducks Unlimited people were talking about
what the government could do as an incentive for the owners of
many of these wetlands who, it appears, have no other use for that
land other than to destroy it. The suggestion was to give them a
proper tax break.

We hear that there is tremendous resistance in the Department
of Finance to do anything that would advance the causes you
talked about. I will be arguing in this committee that we have to
make a big noise. As I said, it would be good if the media were
here to report our meeting.

You wrote a wonderful article in one of our national
newspapers two Saturdays ago. On the wetlands, what would
you recommend? You are solution-oriented. You are an optimist.
I look at the photographs of those glaciers and I see what can
happen in 100 years. I am reminded of the old saw about a picture
being worth a thousand words. Are you telling us there is nothing
we can do to reverse this situation?

Mr. Schindler: I do not think those glaciers will be back until
we have another ice age. That might happen, but I also think that
we will postpone another ice age for a while at the rate we are
going.

One solution might be to try to couple the money that we hand
out to farmers for compensation and, instead, put that money up
front into things like wetland protection and riparian protection.
When we do hand out money, we hand out big sums of money
with no strings attached.

Given the warming climate and the high population pressure in
Alberta and the disappearance of the glaciers, we really need to
start drought proofing the landscape. The last thing we need is to
have the wetlands disappear, the rivers channelled and the
riparian areas gone. I think that protection is a good part of
drought proofing. There are also the conservation measures that
we were talking about earlier.

Perhaps something could be done to couple the money that is
already being given to farmers as incentives to protect water
courses. However, I think it is unrealistic to expect farmers to pay
out more money right now. They will walk away. Maybe
eventually that is what it will come to.

I see big consortiums taking over farms. There is less care
about the wetlands and the riparian areas. The equipment gets
bigger, so those little pot holes increasingly get in the way if you
try to drag a hundred foot harrow between two that are only
50 feet apart. It does not take rocket science to see what will
happen. The people who own them are not resident on the
landscape.

matin. Cet organisme devrait peut-étre faire valoir son point de
vue devant notre comité puisqu’il s’intéresse a I’eau et aux milieux
humides.

Hier, les porte-parole de Canards Illimités parlaient de ce que
le gouvernement pouvait faire pour encourager les propriétaires
de ces milieux humides qui, semble-t-il, non rien d’autre a faire de
cette terre que de la détruire. On a suggéré de leur accorder un
allégement fiscal convenable.

On dit que le ministére des Finances est trés réticent a faire
quoi que ce soit pour faire avancer les causes dont vous avez
parlé. Je dirai a notre comité que nous devons parler d’une voix
forte. Comme je I’ai dit, c’est dommage que les représentants des
médias ne soient pas ici pour rendre compte de notre réunion.

Vous avez rédigé un article extraordinaire dans un de nos
journaux nationaux il y a deux samedis de cela. Que
recommanderiez-vous a propos des milieux humides? Vous étes
axé sur les solutions. Vous étes un optimiste. Je regarde les
photographies de ces glaciers et je vois ce qui pourrait se produire
dans cent ans. Je me rappelle le vieux dicton qui dit qu’une image
vaut mille mots. Etes-vous en train de nous dire que nous ne
pouvons rien faire pour renverser la situation?

M. Schindler : Je ne crois que ces glaciers reviendront avant la
prochaine période glaciére. Ca pourrait arriver, mais je crois aussi
que nous allons retarder la venue d’une autre période glaciere
pendant un certain temps, au rythme ou nous allons.

Une solution serait d’essayer de combiner ’argent que nous
distribuons aux agriculteurs en guise d’indemnités de maniére a ce
qu’il serve plutét a la protection des milieux humides et de
I’habitat rivulaire. Lorsque nous distribuons de I’argent, ce sont
de grosses sommes d’argent qui sont données sans aucune
condition.

Compte tenu du réchauffement du climat, de la pression
démographique en Alberta et de la disparition des glaciers, nous
devons absolument prémunir la terre contre les risques de
sécheresse. La derniére chose dont nous avons besoin, c’est bien
que les milieux humides disparaissent, que les riviéres soient
canalisées et que les zones rivulaires disparaissent. Je crois que la
protection de ces milieux est une bonne facon de se prémunir
contre la sécheresse. Il y a aussi les mesures de conservation dont
nous avons parlé un plus tot.

L’argent que nous donnons déja aux agriculteurs pourrait étre
assorti d’un incitatif pour protéger les cours d’eau. Toutefois, il
serait peu réaliste de s’attendre a ce que les agriculteurs paient
davantage qu’a I’heure actuelle. Ils vont s’en aller. Nous allons
peut-étre en arriver a cela.

Je vois de grands consortiums prendre possession des fermes.
On se soucie moins des milieux humides et des zones rivulaires.
L’équipement devient plus gros, si bien que les petits nids de poule
deviennent de plus en plus génants quand vous tentez de tirer une
herse de 100 pieds et que des cavités se retrouvent a tous les
50 pieds. Nul besoin d’étre un génie pour voir ce qui arrivera. Les
gens qui possédent les fermes n’habitent pas ces endroits.
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production — when I was a teenager in the northern U.S. pour d’autres raisons — la surproduction — lorsque j’étais

It had a marvellous influence on wildlife and water courses.
Farmers were paid to keep land out of production. If they were
paid to protect the riparian strips in the wetlands, instead of
giving them a lump sum once they are in trouble, that coupling
might work.

Senator Angus: Another consideration is the awareness factor.
There seems to be no doubt that, today, our youngest generation,
above the age of reason, seems much more sensitized to climate
change than we were when we were kids in high school. Would I
be right in saying that one of the best things we can do is to raise
the level of awareness of the gravity of the problem, or do you
think there is sufficient awareness?

Mr. Schindler: I think raising the awareness is important.
Frankly, I can already see movement in Alberta. In 1998,
there was a report in Alberta showing the bad state of water
quality in agricultural areas. Since then, many farming groups
have pulled up their socks. There are programs to fence
cattle away from stream banks. Water is pumped to them
rather than having them fouling the streams and lakes. What
has happened at the Oldman is almost a miracle, in that the
people doing that have found that their cattle gain weight
faster. Now there is more interest in that than there was
originally. Some grassroots groups like Cows and Fish will go
around and help farmers to make these things happen.

There are groups of big ranches in Southern Alberta, most
notably the Pekisko group that held the protest here in Ottawa
several years ago, that have decided that they are going to take
matters into their own hands, and they will protect their own
landscape. They are not many in number, perhaps 100 ranchers,
but some of those ranches are 10 townships or more in area. It is a
tremendous amount of land and much of it on the eastern slopes.
They are influential people, so when they start moving on water
conservation, many others will move.

The same landscape is threatened by urbanization. Calgary is
growing almost twice as fast in area as it is in population.
Projections indicate that by 2050, if Calgary continues to grow, it
will reach literally from Canmore to Bassano, east to west. There
will be a tremendous area under pavement with no infiltration to
speak of, a lot of destroyed wetlands and river courses, and a
tremendous demand for water. That conflict with population is
going to be an important one.

In the Red Deer area, the realization is even more acute. This
past summer, I appeared in an altercation between nine
municipalities and an oil company that wanted to pump river
water from the Red Deer River down an oil well. Nine

adolescent et que je demeurais dans le nord des Etats-Unis. Ces
programmes ont eu un effet extraordinaire sur les espéces
sauvages et les cours d’eau. On a payé les agriculteurs pour
qu’ils n’exploitent pas leurs terres. Si on les payait pour protéger
les bandes rivulaires des milieux humides, au lieu de leur donner
une somme forfaitaire lorsqu’ils ont des problémes, cette mesure
pourrait rapporter.

Le sénateur Angus : Il faut tenir compte également de la
sensibilisation. Il ne fait aucun doute que les jeunes d’aujourd’hui,
ceux qui ont dépassé 1’dge de raison, semblent davantage
conscients des changements climatiques que nous [’étions
lorsque nous avions leur age. Aurais-je raison de dire qu’une
des meilleures choses que nous pouvons faire, c’est de les
sensibiliser encore davantage a la gravité du probléme, ou
croyez-vous que cette sensibilisation est suffisante?

M. Schindler : Je crois qu’il importe de sensibiliser les gens
davantage. Pour dire vrai, je peux déja voir une certaine
mobilisation en Alberta. En 1998, un rapport a été produit en
Alberta et faisait état de la piétre qualité de I’eau dans les secteurs
agricoles. Depuis ce temps, un grand nombre de groupes
d’agriculteurs se sont secoués. Il existe des programmes qui
visent a installer des clotures pour empécher le bétail de
s’approcher des cours d’eau. Au lieu de permettre aux animaux
de fouler les cours d’eau et les lacs, on pompe 1’eau jusqu’a eux.
Ce qui s’est produit a la riviere Oldman tient presque du miracle,
puisque les gens qui ont fait cela ont constaté que leur bétail
prenait du poids plus rapidement. Cette pratique suscite
maintenant plus d’intérét qu’a I’origine. Certains groupes
locaux, comme Cow and Fish, se déplacent pour aider les
agriculteurs a réaliser ce type de projet.

Il y a des groupes de grands éleveurs dans le sud de ’Alberta,
dont le plus connu, le groupe Pekisko, est venu manifester ici a
Ottawa il y a plusieurs années, ont décidé de prendre les choses en
mains et de protéger leurs terres. IlIs ne sont pas trés nombreux,
peut-étre une centaine de grands éleveurs, mais certains de ces
ranchs couvrent ’équivalent de 10 comtés ou plus. 11 s’agit de trés
grandes étendues, dont la plupart se trouvent sur les versants
est. Ces personnes ont de I'influence et lorsqu’elles s’attaqueront
a la conservation de I’eau, un grand nombre d’autres emboiteront
le pas.

Les mémes terres sont menacées par l'urbanisation. La
croissance du territoire de Calgary est presque deux fois plus
rapide que sa croissance démographique. Selon les projections, si
Calgary continue de s’agrandir, la ville s’étendra, d’est en ouest,
de Canmore a Bassano, d’ici 2050. Une trés grande partie du
territoire sera pavée, sans infiltration, une grande partie des
milieux humides et des cours d’eau seront détruits et il y aura une
trés forte demande en eau. Ce conflit avec la population sera
important.

La situation est encore plus grave dans la région de Red Deer.
L’été dernier, j’ai témoigné dans une affaire qui opposait neuf
municipalités a une pétroliére qui voulait injecter de I'eau de la
riviecre Red Deer dans un puits de pétrole. Neuf municipalités
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municipalities were represented by their mayors in opposing it.
They still lost, although the government cut down the amount the
company could use, but that sort of action would have been
unheard even five years ago.

Senator Angus: Nothing raises public awareness in a greater or
more powerful way than the personal experience of droughts of
these ranchers or of Walkerton. I am not a great believer in
government getting into more things, but this seems to be an area
in which government has a responsibility to bring the problems to
the public awareness, especially those people who otherwise are
not being daily touched by it. It is key.

If there were one thing you would like to see in our report,
what would it be?

Senator Milne: Mr. Chair, perhaps Senator Angus does not
realize Mr. Schindler is only halfway through his presentation.
We want to see the rest of it.

The Chairman: That is an important question — “If there were
one thing...” Let’s be sure Mr. Schindler answers that question.

Senator Chaput has a question.

Senator Chaput: Mr. Schindler has just answered part of the
question I had, so I would rather see the presentation.

The Chairman: Mr. Schindler, Senator Angus has asked an
important question. Would you prefer to finish or get further into
your presentation before you answer that question? The question
is: What is the one thing, if all else failed, that you think we could
include in our first report or be the subject of our first report,
which would have the greatest effect?

Mr. Schindler: That is a tough one.

The Chairman: I am asking you, if you can, to put a specific
point on it.

Mr. Schindler: I think the most important thing now — and |
will qualify this by saying that I think many organizations are
spreading the word — is the database behind what we have to
spread. It is most important to resurrect the science programs that
were lost in the 1990s. When I talk to people about problems in
their areas, the scarcity of data is limiting. The government
programs, both federally and provincially, that were lost in the
1990s need to be resurrected.

People are interested in this argument. They actively seek
advice on it. Normally I would say that communication would be
number one, but I think that communication is happening. Again,
Cows and Fish, Ducks Unlimited and groups like that are helping
to spread the message. It is being spread pretty effectively.

However, the scientific database on which we base our
predictions are becoming poorer.

The Chairman: Would you take us into the next step of your
presentation? You were discussing substances going into the
water.

Mr. Schindler: I will take up on the point I made that decreased
water flows will affect water quality.

représentées par le maire se sont opposées au projet. Elles ont
perdu, bien que le gouvernement ait réduit la quantité d’eau que
pouvait utiliser la pétroliére. Il y a cinq ans, une telle chose aurait
été impensable.

Le sénateur Angus : Rien n’éveille davantage 1’attention du
public que les expériences qu’ont vécues les agriculteurs victimes
de sécheresse ou les habitants de Walkerton. Je ne suis pas
vraiment un partisan de l'interventionnisme, mais il me semble
que, dans ce cas-ci, le gouvernement devrait sensibiliser la
population a ces questions, notamment les personnes qui n’ont
pas a composer avec ces problemes tous les jours. C’est essentiel.

Y a-t-il un point en particulier que nous devrions aborder dans
notre rapport?

Le sénateur Milne : Monsieur le président, le sénateur Angus ne
se rend peut-étre pas compte que M. Schindler n’a pas fini de
présenter son exposé. Nous voulons entendre le reste.

Le président : C’est une question importante — « Y a-t-il un
point en particulier... » Il faut que M. Schindler puisse répondre.

Le sénateur Chaput souhaite faire un commentaire.

Le sénateur Chaput : M. Schindler a répondu en partie a la
question que je voulais poser. Je préférerais entendre le reste de
son exposeé.

Le président : Monsieur Schindler, le sénateur Angus a posé
une question importante. Voulez-vous terminer votre exposé
avant d’y répondre? La question est la suivante : si tous les efforts
déployés restent vains, quelle est la recommandation qui devrait
figurer dans notre premier rapport, ou qui devrait faire I’objet de
notre premier rapport, et qui aurait I'effet le plus percutant?

M. Schindler : Vous posez-1a une question difficile.

Le président : Je vous demande, si possible, d’étre précis.

M. Schindler : Pour l'instant, la principale recommandation
qui me vient a l'esprit — et ils sont nombreux a insister
la-dessus — est celle qui concerne la base de données. Il faut
absolument remettre sur pied les programmes scientifiques qui
ont été abolis dans les années 90. La rareté des données semble
étre le plus gros probléme auquel sont confrontés les gens dans
leur domaine de travail. Les programmes gouvernementaux, aussi
bien fédéraux que provinciaux, abolis dans les années 90 doivent
étre rétablis.

C’est un sujet qui suscite beaucoup d’intérét, de questions. Je
dirais que la communication figure en téte de liste des priorités,
méme si des progres sont en train d’étre réalisés. Encore une fois,
Cows and Fish et Ducks Unlimited, entre autres, jouent un role
utile a ce chapitre, un réle qu’ils remplissent avec efficacité.

Toutefois, les bases de données scientifiques sur lesquelles nous
fondons nos prévisions s’appauvrissent de jour en jour.

Le président : Voulez-vous reprendre votre exposé? Vous
parliez des substances qui sont déversées dans ’eau.

M. Schindler : J’étais en train de dire que les débits plus faibles
altérent la qualité de 1’eau.
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This is an equation that I came up with in the 1970s for
predicting the amount of eutrophication, the amount of algae,
that a lake would support. This dealt with the input of
phosphorous, which was the focus then, mostly from detergents
in municipalities versus the volume of outflow from a lake.
That is a measure of how fast the lake will turn over. There are
a half dozen published versions of this with slight variations.
However, this is a database of mine based on Canadian and
Swedish lakes. You can see it is not a bad predictor of the
amount of algae as measured by the chlorophyll content. As I
mentioned, the amount of water flowing through a lake is
roughly equivalent to doubling the amount of nutrient, and, in
fact, both are happening because those same areas that I have
been talking about with water scarcity are having huge land
use changes, namely, agricultural, urban development and so
forth.

This is a set of data from the Experimental Lakes Area because
it is one I have at hand. During the period from 1970 to 1990, the
mean annual temperature there warmed by 1.7 degrees. This is the
amount of time it took for the water in a lake to be renewed. It
roughly quadruples during that warming period for a lake, that
uppermost line being a lake that turned over every five years, to
taking 20 years to getting the same water renewal by 1990. That is
the sort of thing I expect warming will do.

On top of that, our land use has changed. We no longer have
people farming with little Fords and tractors or teams of horses.
We have huge machines that are chewing up the landscape. This is
what it looks like in Alberta. This is near LaCrete, which is
halfway between Grand Prairie and the Northwest Territories
border. You can see the areas that have been cleared of forest.
This has already been planted, and the wetlands and ponds are
being drained to turn that entirely into farmland.

People do not realize that simply clearing the land — in this
example, it was turning a forest into pasture, and this is not even
much of the forest; these were tiny pastures and forests — doubles
the nutrient output from that land, which then flows into
receiving water.

Clearing of the land is not all that happens. We have these huge
livestock operations now, which are causing tremendous amounts
of manure to be applied to the landscape. On the national map
you can see that Alberta seems to be the manure capital of
Canada.

Mr. Schindler: When I worked on eutrophication in the 1970s,
if I had drawn a pie diagram, it would have been 50 per cent
municipal and industrial. We eliminated phosphate detergents
and put phosphorous removal on all the major sewage treatment
plants, particularly in the East.

We have allowed this explosion in fertilizer use and
manure production to take over to the point where this recent
Environment Canada study shows that we have an overwhelming

Voici une formule que j’ai congue dans les années 70 et qui sert
a prédire la quantité d’eutrophisation, la quantité d’algues, quun
lac peut supporter. Elle compare la quantit¢ de phosphore
provenant essentiellement des détergents au débit sortant d’un
lac. Elle permet de déterminer a quelle vitesse I'eau d’un lac se
renouvelle. Il existe une demi-douzaine de versions de cette
formule, avec quelques variantes. Toutefois, ¢’est moi qui ai établi
cette base de données a partir d’analyses effectuées dans des lacs
canadiens et suédois. Elle nous permet de prédire de maniére assez
efficace, a partir du contenu en chlorophylle, la quantité d’algues
qui peuvent se retrouver dans un lac. Comme je 1'ai déja
mentionné, le volume d’eau qui s’écoule dans un lac peut
contribuer a doubler, grosso modo, la quantité de nutriments
qui s’y trouvent. En fait, ce sont deux phénomeénes qui se
manifestent déja, car les zones auxquelles j’ai fait allusion et qui
connaissent une pénurie d’eau sont en train de subir des
changements majeurs sur le plan de l’agriculture, du
développement urbain, ainsi de suite.

Ces données-ci sont tirées de la région des lacs expérimentaux.
Entre 1970 et 1990, la température moyenne annuelle dans cette
région a augmenté de 1,7° degré. C’est le temps qu’il a fallu pour
que I’eau du lac se renouvelle. Ce phénomene a pris quatre fois
plus de temps a se réaliser pendant cette période de
réchauffement. Comme I'indique cette ligne supérieure, il a fallu
de 5 a 20 ans, soit jusqu'en 1990, pour que I’eau du lac se
renouvelle. Ce sont la les effets du réchauffement.

On remarque également des changements au niveau de
I'utilisation des terres. Les agriculteurs ne travaillent plus la
terre avec des petits tracteurs Ford ou des chevaux. Ils utilisent du
matériel agricole plus lourd. Voici a quoi ressemble le paysage en
Alberta. Nous sommes prés de LaCrete, qui est située a mi-
chemin entre Grand Prairie et la frontiére des Territoires du
Nord-Ouest. Vous pouvez voir les zones qui ont été déboisées.
Cette partie-ci a déja été cultivée. Les marécages et les étangs ont
été drainés et transformés en terres agricoles.

On ne se rend pas compte a quel point le défrichement — dans
cet exemple-ci, une petite partie de la forét a été transformée en
paturage; il y avait ici de petits paturages et de petites zones
boisées — double la quantité de nutriments qui se dégagent de la
terre et qui se déversent dans I’eau.

Ce n’est pas tout. En raison de la présence de grandes
exploitations d’élevage, des quantités énormes de fumier sont
répandues sur le sol. On a I'impression, d’aprés cette carte, que
I’Alberta est la capitale du fumier du Canada.

Jai effectué des travaux de recherche sur ’eutrophisation dans
les années 70. Si, a I'époque, j’avais dessiné un diagramme
circulaire, on aurait pu voir que 50 p. 100 de la pollution était
d’origine municipale et industrielle. Nous avons éliminé
le phosphate des détergents et installé des systéemes de
déphosphatation dans toutes les grandes usines de traitement
des eaux usées, surtout dans I’Est.

Nous avons trop encouragé l'utilisation d’engrais et la
production de fumier. Environnement Canada a réalisé,
récemment, une étude qui montre que nous sommes aux prises
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problem. This is a tougher problem to treat than eliminating
phosphate detergents or treating point source effluents because it
is diffused through whole watersheds.

Another thing that people do not realize is that, if you look at
the half dozen organisms that cause most of the gastrointestinal
disease, we share those with cattle and hogs. Having manure just
spread indiscriminately on the landscape, particularly after we
have removed the wetlands and riparian zone, so that if we get a
big rainfall event it can go right into the water courses, is not a
very smart thing to do.

I did this calculation for Alberta. There are too many columns
here for a quick presentation, so perhaps we could just look at
phosphorous, the nutrient that causes most of the eutrophication
problems. There are 3 million people in Alberta. If you look at the
equivalent, a beef cow produces 11 times as much phosphorous
per capita as a human being and a hog 10 times as much. When I
multiply those numbers through, we have the equivalent of
87 million people producing manure in Alberta. We treat the
3 million very precisely, but the other 84 is simply spread on the
land. It is probably no surprise that, as a result, when this study
was done in the 1990s, most of the waters were out of compliance
in agricultural areas with drinking water guidelines for fecal
coliforms.

The compliance is equally bad for nutrients. This spring, I went
to a meeting in the Oldman Basin where some of the farmers had
taken this seriously and taken some measures to protect riparian
zones and keep cattle out of them. The water quality was
improving significantly. Alternatively, I saw other areas where
cattle were fenced away from streams, but about midsummer,
during those periods of drought, the farmers could not resist. The
areas above the streams were picked clean, and they had run the
cattle in right along the stream at the worst possible time of year.
Enforcement was very poor. Enforcement is on a complaint basis,
and if you are in a rural area and everybody is doing the same
thing, nobody will complain. There are what appear to be some
fairly tough guidelines, but they are not well enforced.

The good news, though, is that we know how to protect our
watersheds. It is not the unknown problem it was 30 or 40 years
ago. We know enough to leave the wetlands and that low tillage
helps in riparian zones, and that we ought to strategically place
big livestock facilities. However, most of that knowledge is sitting
on university bookshelves, so we still tend to do it the old way.
Decisions are made by municipal boards or, now in Alberta,
provincial boards, but they do not seem to be doing much better.
Part of the name of the game is to apply what we already know to
these situations and, as I mentioned earlier, to improve the data

avec un probléme énorme qui est encore plus complexe que
I’élimination des détergents contenant du phosphate ou le
traitement d’effluents de source ponctuelle, ces matiéres étant
présentes dans tous les bassins hydrologiques.

Il y a autre chose dont on ne se rend pas compte : la demi-
douzaine d’organismes responsables de la plupart des maladies
gastro-intestinales chez ’homme se retrouvent également chez les
bovins et les porcs. Epandre du fumier au hasard sur les terres
agricoles, surtout aprés avoir éliminé les zones humides riveraines,
n’est pas une chose trés intelligente a faire, puisque lorsqu’on a de
fortes pluies, le fumier se déverse dans les cours d’eau.

Voici le calcul que j’ai fait pour I’Alberta. Comme il m’est
impossible de vous I’expliquer rapidement parce qu’il y a trop de
colonnes, je vais uniquement me concentrer sur le phosphore,
un nutriment qui est en grande partie responsable de
I’eutrophisation. L’Alberta compte 3 millions d’habitants. Une
vache d’élevage de boucherie produit 11 fois plus de phosphore,
par téte, qu'un étre humain, et un porc, 10 fois plus. Si I'on
multiplie tous ces chiffres, on constate que, collectivement, ils
produisent I’équivalent de ce que produiraient 87 millions de
personnes en Alberta. Les déchets de ces 3 millions de personnes
sont traités, tandis que ceux produits par les 84 millions qui
restent sont tout simplement répandus sur le sol. Il n’est donc pas
étonnant que, lorsque cette étude a été réalisée dans les années 90,
la plupart des cours d’eau dans les zones agricoles ne répondaient
pas aux normes de qualité de I’eau en ce qui concerne les quantités
de coliformes fécaux.

La situation n’est guére mieux pour ce qui est des nutriments.
J’ai rencontré, ce printemps, des agriculteurs qui vivent dans le
bassin de la riviere Oldman. Ils ont pris ce probléme trés au
sérieux et ont adopté des mesures pour protéger les zones
riveraines et garder leur bétail loin de celles-ci.. La qualité de
I’eau s’est grandement améliorée. J’ai visité d’autres régions ou le
bétail était gardé dans des enclos, loin des cours d’eau. Toutefois,
vers le milieu de 1’été, pendant les périodes de sécheresse, les
agriculteurs, incapables de résister plus longtemps, relachaient
leur bétail. Lorsque les terres situées en amont ¢étaient
complétement dénudées, le bétail allait paitre le long des cours
d’eau, au pire moment de I'année. L’application des réglements
laissait a désirer. Les autorités n’intervenaient que lorsqu’une
plainte était déposée. Quand vous vivez dans une région rurale et
que tout le monde fait la méme chose, personne ne porte plainte.
Nous avons des normes qui semblent étre assez rigoureuses, sauf
qu’elles ne sont pas bien appliquées.

La bonne nouvelle, c’est que nous savons comment protéger
nos bassins hydrographiques, ce qui n’était pas le cas il y a 30 ou
40 ans. Nous savons qu’il faut laisser les zones humides intactes,
pratiquer un défrichement peu profond dans les zones riveraines,
et situer les grandes exploitations d’élevage dans des endroits
stratégiques. Toutefois, ces renseignements figurent déja, pour la
plupart, dans des rapports qui trainent sur les tablettes, ce qui fait
que nous continuons d’employer les vieilles méthodes. Les
décisions sont prises par des conseils municipaux ou, comme
c’est le cas en Alberta, par des conseils provinciaux qui ne font
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base that we have to work with so that we know how fast these
things are happening.

Turning now to lakes, this is Lake Wabamun, probably the
most impacted lake in Canada. This lake has four big power
plants, and 65 per cent of the mercury released from smoke
stacks in Alberta comes out of those four stacks. This lake is right
on the Yellowhead between Edmonton and Jasper. The water
level is way down. This lake has not flowed over its outflow since
1992. It has been increasing in salinity as a result. It is over-fished.
Eighty per cent of every year’s fish stock is caught and removed,
and the fish do not reproduce until they are seven or eight years
old. Only one in 100,000 fish that makes it to reproductive age.

The Chairman: Is that a pier in this photograph?
Mr. Schindler: Yes. There is not enough dock space.

This is an aerial photo of the lake. The purple is the big coal
pits to feed the big coal-fired power plants. Otherwise, this lake is
typical of a central Alberta lake. The whole watershed has been
turned over to agriculture, first stripping away the vegetation and
the wetlands, and then fertilized, or cows are pastured on it or
whatever. There are also golf courses and a cottage community
around the lake. It is sort of a microcosm of all of the normal
activities.

The next slide shows another lake, one that my group has been
studying in some detail for the past two years. This is Lac La
Biche, which would be a huge lake by most standards, being
230 square kilometres. Lac La Biche is one of the oldest
communities in Alberta, and they have been very concerned by
their decline in water quality. With the cutbacks to Alberta
Environment, they have been almost totally unsuccessful at
getting any thorough studies of the lake done. That has not been
the case with Wabamun. There are a number of very astute
environmental groups headed by lawyers on Lake Wabamun, and
they get action from the province. They have a very good 20-year
data base. Lac La Biche has almost nothing. They contacted our
group three years ago, and we found almost no data.

There are a number of features here that I think are typical.
The green and the red areas are forested, the green being
predominantly conifer and the red being predominantly aspen.
The white area is agricultural. Most people think that is a forested
basin. They do not realize how much of it has been cleared.

There is a community of 3,500 that drains its sewage into
the lake. Originally, it went in directly, and when they realized
that that was not so good, they drained it back into Field Lake,
thinking that Field Lake flowed to the Churchill system,
but it does not. They made a mistake, and it flows to
Lac La Biche. They probably get a little bit of removal, but
the sewage goes right back into the lake.

guére mieux. Nous devons appliquer les solutions que nous
connaissons déja et, comme je I’ai déja mentionné, améliorer
notre base de données pour que nous puissions nous tenir au fait
des changements qui surviennent.

Passons maintenant au lac Wabamun, qui est sans doute le
cours d’eau le plus touché au Canada. Il est entouré de quatre
grandes centrales; 65 p. 100 du mercure dégagé par les cheminées
en Alberta provient de ces quatre centrales. Le lac se trouve dans
le corridor Yellowhead, entre Edmonton et Jasper. Le niveau
d’eau est trés faible. Le débit sortant n’a jamais dépassé celui de
1992. Son taux de salinité ne cesse de croitre. Le lac est
surexploité : tous les ans, 80 p.100 des stocks de poisson sont
capturés. Les poissons ne se reproduisent pas avant I’dge de 7 ou
8 ans. Or, seul un poisson sur 100 000 atteint 1’age de
reproduction.

Le président : Est-ce un quai que I’on voit dans la photo?
M. Schindler : Oui. L’embarcadére est trop petit.

Voici une photo aérienne du lac. Les houilléres, illustrées en
mauve, alimentent les grandes centrales. Autrement, ce lac
ressemble en tout point a un lac du centre de I’Alberta. Le
bassin hydrographique a été cultivé. On a d’abord éliminé la
végétation et les terres humides avant de répandre des engrais,
d’aménager des paturages, ainsi de suite. Il y a également des
terrains de golf et des chalets tout autour du lac. C’est une sorte
de microcosme.

On peut voir, sur la diapositive suivante, un lac qui fait 'objet
d’une analyse détaillée depuis deux ans par I’équipe dont je fais
partie. Il s’agit du lac La Biche, qui est assez grand, puisqu’il
s’étend sur 230 kilomeétres carrés. La collectivité du lac La Biche
est I'une des plus anciennes en Alberta. Elle s’inquiéte de la baisse
de la qualité d’eau. En raison des réductions imposées au
ministére de I’Environnement de I’Alberta, elle n’a pas pu
procéder a des analyses approfondies du lac. La situation est
tout autre dans le cas du lac Wabamun. Plusieurs groupes
écologiques fort astucieux, dirigés par des avocats, suivent 1’état
de ce lac de trés prés, et arrivent a faire bouger la province dans ce
dossier. Ils disposent d’une excellente base de données, et ce,
depuis une vingtaine d’années. Il n’existe pratiquement aucune
donnée sur le lac La Biche. Ils ont communiqué avec nous il y a
trois ans, et nous n’avons trouvé que tres, trés peu de données la-
dessus.

On retrouve, ici, plusieurs caractéristiques typiques. Les zones
vertes et rouges sont boisées : la zone verte est composée
essentiellement de coniféres, et la rouge, de peupliers trembles.
La zone blanche représente des terres agricoles. La plupart des
personnes pensent qu’il s’agit d’un bassin forestier. Elles ne se
rendent pas compte a quel point il a été déboisé.

Il y a une collectivité de 3 500 habitants qui déverse ses eaux
usées dans le lac. A [D'origine, celles-ci étaient déversées
directement dans le lac. Quand ils se sont rendus compte de
I'inefficacité de cette démarche, ils ont déversé les eaux usées dans
le lac Field, pensant que celui-ci se jetait dans la riviére Churchill.
Or, ils se sont trompés, puisque le lac se jette dans le lac La Biche.
Ils arrivent probablement a en éliminer une partie, mais les eaux
usées sont déversées directement dans le lac.
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The black outlines are areas where we have been studying the
nutrient runoff from areas with different land uses. Because we
had no data, when we went in to study lake sediments, we took
core samples of lake mud and dated them using various
radioactive dating methods and came up with a chronography.
You can see how phosphorous has increased over time. This is in
sediments.

Senator Milne: What is TP flux?

Mr. Schindler: That is total phosphorous, and flux is the
amount deposited per year.

We can also do elbow pigments in those same sediments. Using
proxy methods to reconstruct the past, we can see that in three of
the four types of blue greens algae pigments, blue greens being the
forms that form surface blooms and cause taste, odour and toxin
problems, there are indications of big increases over time.

Another example is Lake Winnipeg. This has been in the
papers quite a bit in the last two years. The lake suddenly started
producing huge blooms of blue-green algae that last for two or
three months. A couple of things are happening there. One is the
big nutrient input. The Red River runs into fertile farmland in
North Dakota and Minnesota. Fargo, Morehead and Winnipeg,
as well as a number of other centres, all drain their sewage into the
Red. There have been large livestock developments in the Red
and the Assinaboine, one of its main tributaries. The nutrient
inputs have been increasing.

I showed you the data for the South Saskatchewan at
Saskatoon. By the time it joins the North Saskatchewan and
reaches Lake Winnipeg, it is only flowing at about 20 per cent of
the rate that it was a century ago. Again, both sides of this
equation that I showed you are moving in the wrong direction.

This is a huge basin. The yellow table compares it to Lake Erie.
It is almost the same size, but the watershed is more than 10 times
larger, extending all the way to the Rockies.

This next slide shows what the nutrients and the algae in the
lake have done. It is this thin green line. I and a couple of my
colleagues studied the lake in 1969. Then there was nothing done
until the 1990s, and it initially looked as though not much had
changed in the lake. Then with all of these changes in water flow
and nutrients, you can see the lake exploded with algal blooms
during the 1990s. You could plot this on a map of models. This is
one that we produced in the 1970s. This shows Lake Erie at its
worst when the press declared that Lake Erie as dying. You can
see that Lake Winnipeg is right up there. This shows different

Pour ce qui est des zones peintes en noir, nous avons examiné
les ruissellements de nutriments qui proviennent de terres qui sont
soumises a des usages différents. Comme nous n’avions aucune
donnée, nous avons prélevé des échantillons de boue pour
pouvoir examiner les sédiments du lac. Nous les avons datés en
utilisant diverses méthodes de datation isotopique, ce qui nous a
permis d’établir une chronographie. On voit a quel point la
quantité de phosphore a augmenté au fil des ans. On en retrouve
dans les sédiments.

Le sénateur Milne : Qu’est-ce qu’on entend par flux PT?

M. Schlinder : C’est le phosphore total. Le flux correspond a la
quantité déposée chaque année.

Nous pouvons également extraire des pigments coudés de ces
mémes sédiments. Grace a des méthodes de remplacement qui
permettent de reconstituer le passé, nous pouvons voir que, dans
trois des quatre types de pigments d’algues bleues, les algues
bleues étant les fleurs d’eau qui altérent les fonctions olfacto-
gustatives et qui produisent des toxines, de fortes poussées ont été
enregistrées au fil des ans.

Prenons, par exemple, le lac Winnipeg. Il en a été beaucoup
question dans les journaux au cours des deux derniéres années. Le
lac a commencé subitement a produire d’immenses fleurs d’eau
formées par les algues bleues, qui durent de deux a trois mois.
Plusieurs faits ont été constatés. D’abord, les apports en
nutriments. La riviére Rouge traverse des terres fertiles du
Dakota du Nord et du Minnesota. Fargo, Morehead, Winnipeg
et plusieurs autres centres déversent leurs eaux usées dans la
Rouge. De plus, il y a d’importantes exploitations d’élevage dans
le bassin de la Rouge et de I’Assiniboine, un des principaux
tributaires. Il y a donc eu augmentation des apports en
nutriments.

Je vous ai montré, a Saskatoon, les données pour la
Saskatchewan-Sud. Son débit, une fois qu’elle atteint la
Saskatchewan-Nord et ensuite le lac Winnipeg, ne correspond
qu’a 20 p. cent de ce qu’il était il y a cent ans. Encore une fois,
dans les deux cas, on fait fausse route.

Le bassin est énorme. Le tableau, indiqué en jaune, établit une
comparaison entre le bassin et le lac Eri¢. Ils sont presque de la
méme taille, sauf que le bassin hydrographique est dix fois plus
gros, étant donné qu’il s’étend jusqu’aux Rocheuses.

La diapositive suivante vous donne une idée des dégats causés
par les nutriments et les algues. C’est cette mince ligne verte que
I’on voit ici. En 1969, j’ai effectué une analyse du lac, de concert
avec quelques collégues. Il a fallu attendre jusqu’aux années 90
avant qu'une autre étude ne soit réalisée. Au début, on a eu
I'impression que peu de choses avaient changé. Toutefois, les
changements enregistrés au niveau du débit d’eau et des
nutriments ont eu pour effet d’encourager la prolifération de
fleurs d’eau dans le lac durant les années 90. On pourrait illustrer
tout cela au moyen de graphiques. Celui-ci a été réalisé dans les
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parts of the lakes in different years. If I were to put Lac La Biche
on there, it would be at highest point on the graph.

The nutrient sources are different from when we had
eutrophication problems in the east. There are diffuse sources.
It is in a very dry area that also has a water flow problem.

I put all of this together and summarize it in this cartoon. This
is a cartoon of a natural lake with a natural flowthrough, a good
vegetated basin, and a healthy fish population.

The other matter I have not touch on very much is the fact
that we have hammered the fish populations in these lakes.
People fish for predators, pike, lake trout, walleye and others.
Once those are depleted, small minnows and other so-called
zooplanktivorous fish that feed on crustaceans go wild, and they
have in Lac La Biche, for example. They graze down the big
crustaceans that live on algae. When they are depleted, the algae
explode.

In addition to these changes in nutrient sources and flows that
I have been talking about, we have depleted the capacity of the
lakes internally to deal with nutrient loading and keep them in a
low algal phase.

This has been documented in so many places in North America
and Europe that it is known as a trophic cascade in the scientific
literature. If you eliminate the predators, you flip the system from
a low algae phase with the same nutrient inputs to a high algae
phase.

This is what we do to our lakes with climate warming,
overfishing and industrial development. We remove the fish
habitat. We fish out the predatory fish. These smaller fish that
feed on crustaceans explode, the crustaceans decrease. The algae
are already producing more because of these increased nutrient
inputs and lower flowthroughs, but because there is less grazing
power by these crustaceans it enhances the overall effect.

Senator Chaput: I am quite impressed by your presentation,
Dr. Schindler, and I thank you for it.

I am looking for solutions. You did give a few solutions just
before the second part of your presentation. What can be done in
regards to our powerful neighbour, the United States? Air and
water cannot be stopped at the border. What kind of actions
could Canada take in regards to what is happening there?

Mr. Schindler: The main thing that we should do is make sure
that we properly use the treaties that we have in place. The
Boundary Waters Treaty and the Great Lakes Water Quality
Agreement are strong pieces of international legislation. I do not
view this as something like the new Iraqi war — this time over

années 1970. On voit ici le lac Erié au pire de la situation. La
presse avait déclaré a I’époque qu’il était en train de mourir. Le
lac Winnipeg se trouve ici. On peut voir I’évolution qu’ont connue
différentes parties des lacs au fil des ans. Le lac La Biche, s’il était
transposé sur cette carte, se situerait au point le plus élevé du
graphique.

Les sources de nutriments sont différentes de celles qui ont été
a l'origine des problémes d’eutrophisation observés dans I’Est.
Elles sont diffuses et proviennent d’une zone trés séche ou le débit
d’eau est faible.

Jai réuni tous les facteurs et je les ai résumés dans ce dessin. 11
représente un lac dont le débit est naturel. Le bassin est bien
végétalisé et les poissons, nombreux.

Il y a un autre point qui mérite d’étre souligné, soit le tort que
nous causons aux populations de poisson dans ces lacs. Les gens
péchent les prédateurs, c’est-a-dire le brochet, le touladi, le doré
jaune, ainsi de suite. Une fois ces stocks épuisés, les petits ménés et
autres zooplanctivores qui se nourrissent de crustacés se
déchainent. C’est ce qui s’est produit dans le lac La Biche. Ils
dévorent les gros crustacés qui se nourrissent d’algues. Une fois
ces stocks épuisés, les algues proliferent.

Jai parlé des changements que nous avons enregistrés au
niveau des sources de nutriments et des débits. J’ajouterais que
nous avons détruit la capacité qu’ont les lacs, a I'interne, de gérer
les charges en nutriments et d’empécher la prolifération excessive
d’algues.

Ce probléme a été relevé dans un trés grand nombre d’endroits
en Amérique du Nord et en Europe. Il est connu sous le nom de
cascade tropique dans les milieux scientifiques. Lorsque vous
¢liminez les prédateurs, la prolifération des algues, qui est assez
faible au départ, prend de 'ampleur méme si les apports en
nutriments restent les mémes.

Tels sont les effets qu'on t le réchauffement climatique, la
surpéche et le développement industriel sur nos lacs. Nous
détruisons les habitats de poissons. Nous capturons les
prédateurs. Les poissons plus petits qui se nourrissent de
crustacés proliférent, tandis que le nombre de crustacés, lui,
diminue. Les algues se reproduisent davantage en raison de
l’augmentation des apports en nutriments et de la baisse des
débits sortants. Toutefois, comme la capacité d’absorption des
crustacés diminue, I'effet global est plus prononcé.

Le sénateur Chaput: Je trouve votre exposé fort
impressionnant, monsieur Schindler, et je vous en remercie.

Je cherche des pistes de solution. Vous en avez mentionné
quelques-unes juste avant d’entreprendre la deuxiéme partie de
votre exposé. Que pouvons-nous faire dans le cas de ce puissant
voisin que sont les Etats-Unis? On ne peut arréter air et 'eau a la
frontiére. Quel genre de mesures le Canada peut-il prendre dans
ces domaines?

M. Schindler : La premicre chose a faire, c’est de nous assurer
que les traités en place sont appliqués correctement. Le Traité des
eaux limitrophes et I’Accord relatif a la qualité de 1’eau dans les
Grands Lacs sont des instruments internationaux fort solides.
Il n’est pas question ici d’entreprendre une nouvelle guerre
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water and Canada instead of Iraq. We have strong rules and we
should treat it like going down to play hockey with the U.S.
Nobody ever says the U.S. is so big and powerful that we cannot
beat them at hockey. We have a good set of rules in place. If we
do not let them fleece us into changing the rules, as it appears
could happen with Annex 2001, we should be able to negotiate on
an equal footing.

We must also be careful to ensure that we do not set some
precedent for commodification of water where they can demand
the water under international trade agreements. I see a few
troubling signs that are open to legal interpretation right now. We
must be vigilant about this.

To back this up, we need a strong federal water policy. This
seemed to be developing in the 1980s and the legislation was, in
fact, tabled, but it died with the 1987 election and it was never
resurrected. Since then, we have even lost the arm of the
government that was supposed to implement that. The Inland
Waters Directorate was lost during the budget cutting exercises of
the 1990s and never reinstituted..

We had a lot of good things going. Peter Pearce chaired the
1980s water inquiry, and, as a result, water was subsumed by
sustainable development, and that drove a lot of what happened
in subsequent years. Of course, all of us have seen sustainable
development interpreted more closely as “sustain the economy”
than “sustain the ecology”. Water is the cutting edge of what is
happening to our ecosystems.

The Chairman: Have you heard anything substantive about the
Alberta government’s move to the commodification of water? An
MLA by the name of Abbott talked about that a couple of weeks
ago.

Mr. Schindler: I have not heard from the provincial
government. Alberta would be a very silly place to do it
because we have such a huge stretch of dry land. If you look at
the length of Alberta being greater than Oregon plus California,
the only river big enough to be worth tapping is the Peace River,
and it is in far northern Alberta. As I mentioned, it is already
suffering from low flow. I could have talked about the effects on
the Peace/Athabasca/Delta, which are also pretty dire. There will
not be a move simply for economic reasons.

A few years ago there was a move by the Alberta government
to put a dam on the South Saskatchewan River right at the
border, the Meridian Dam. They promoted it actively until the
benefit-to-cost ratio came in at .3. That was for one simple dam.
If you consider the number of dams and diversions necessary to

irakienne — une guerre dont I’enjeu serait I’eau et qui se passerait
au Canada, et non pas en Irak. Nous avons des regles tres strictes.
Nous devrions assimiler cette situation a une partie de hockey
avec les Etats-Unis. Les Etats-Unis ne sont pas si grands et si
puissants qu’ils ne peuvent étre battus au hockey. Les régles en
place sont trés rigoureuses. Si nous ne laissons pas les Etats-Unis
nous convaincre de modifier les régles, comme cela pourra se
produire avec I'annexe 2001, nous devrions étre en mesure de
négocier sur un pied d’égalité.

Nous devons également éviter d’établir un précédent pour la
réification de ’eau, une situation ou les Etats-Unis pourraient
exiger d’avoir accés a I’eau en vertu des accords commerciaux
internationaux qui ont été conclus. Il y a déja quelques signes
préoccupants qui se manifestent et qui pourraient donner lieu a
une contestation juridique. Il faut faire preuve de vigilance.

Nous devons nous doter, au niveau fédéral, d’une politique de
gestion de I’eau bien solide. Des efforts en ce sens avaient déja été
déployés dans les années 80. En effet, un projet de loi avait été
déposé, sauf que I’élection de 1987 en a sonné le glas. Il n’a jamais
été ressuscité. Depuis, nous avons perdu le service du
gouvernement qui devait en assurer la mise en ceuvre. La
direction générale des eaux intérieures a été éliminée dans le
cadre des mesures de réduction budgétaire qui ont été adoptées
dans les années 1990.

Toutefois, beaucoup de progrés ont été accomplis dans ce
dossier. Peter Pearce a présidé la commission d’enquéte sur I’eau
dans les années 80. Grace a celle-ci, ’eau est devenue partie
intégrante du développement durable, et ce facteur a motivé bon
nombre des décisions prises dans les années subséquentes. Bien
entendu, nous savons tous que l’expression développement
durable veut surtout dire « soutenir I’économie », et non
« soutenir I’écologie ». Or, c’est I'eau qui détermine ce qui
arrive dans nos écosystémes.

Le président : Savez-vous si le gouvernement de I’Alberta
entend aller de I’avant avec la réification de I’eau? Un député
provincial du nom d’Abbott en a parlé, il y a quelques semaines
de cela.

M. Schindler : Je n’ai rien entendu de ce c6té-1a. Il serait un peu
ridicule d’entreprendre une telle démarche en Alberta, en raison
des vastes superficies de terre séche qu'on y trouve. L’Alberta
forme une bande de terre de longueur supérieure a ’Oregon et a la
Californie mis ensemble. La seule riviére assez grande qui mérite
d’étre exploitée est la riviere de la Paix, qui est située dans
Iextréme nord de la province. Comme je 1’ai déja mentionné, le
débit de cette riviere est trés faible. J’aurais pu également parler
des effets plutot négatifs d'une telle démarche sur la riviére de la
Paix/Athabasca/Delta. On n’entreprendra pas un tel projet pour
de simples raisons économiques.

Il y a quelques années, le gouvernement de I’Alberta a tenté
d’ériger un barrage sur la riviére Saskatchewan-Sud, juste a la
frontiére. Il s’agissait du barrage Méridian. Il en a fait la
promotion jusqu’a ce qu’on établisse le rapport cotits-avantages
a .3. Tout cela pour un seul barrage. Compte tenu du nombre de
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flow the Peace River to southern Alberta, the benefit-to-cost ratio
would be miniscule, so I do not think that will happen.

More troubling are some recent moves to sell sewage water
from Edmonton, of all places, to industrial plants in Fort
Saskatchewan. Some lawyers are worried because that water
obtained for free would be sold for profit and that would set a
precedent for commodification. Situations such as that need to be
clarified before they are allowed to proceed. It is an example of
something that is so small that its significance in the larger picture
has slipped under the radar of even provincial agencies.

The Chairman: Would you comment briefly on the naysayers in
three respects. First, it seems to me that when people of substance
talk about these things, they are dismissed by other people who
oppose them by saying that they are just a bunch of eggheads. We
have to get past that difficulty if we are to educate. Second, there
are arguments that these happenings are simply part of the
natural cycle. Alberta, for example, used to be a subtropical
jungle and sea. These things happen and we do not have anything
to do with either making them happen or stopping them from
happening. Third, if the projections made on the best data to date
are projected forward, they never work out as predicted because
things change. We face those naysayers who sometimes have
cogent arguments. Could you comment on those briefly?

Mr. Schindler: I do agree with some of what the naysayers have
to say. We did have some natural warming in the mid-Holocene
and again in the Mediaeval warm periods. If you look at the data,
you will find a 50-year or a 100-year warming in one era and
another occurring 50 to 100 years later on another continent.
When the data are connected, they do not convince me that there
was a global increase in temperature of the extent that we see
now. Even if there were such an increase, I would say, so what?
People in those days either died quietly or they packed up and
moved on. We did not have such a pampered, highly
industrialized society so dependent on water being immediately
at our doorstep.

What makes the argument for me on the projections is that
these forcings of greenhouse gases can be measured. Given that
we have one planet, we cannot do a controlled experiment. This is
our only planet and, if we screw up, we are in dire straits.

My advice would be to go with what the majority, over
99 per cent, of scientists say. They could be wrong; they were
wrong about Galileo. If you consider all of the cases throughout
history, the number of times that has happened is pretty few. At
worst, we would do things to protect the landscape and the water,
which we ought to be doing in any event.

The Chairman: The precautionary principle might apply.

barrages et de détournements qui s’avéreraient nécessaires pour
faire dévier la riviére de la Paix vers le sud de I’Alberta, le rapport
colts-avantages serait minuscule. Ce projet, a mon avis, ne verra
pas le jour.

Plus troublantes encore sont les récentes décisions de vendre les
eaux usées d’Edmonton a des installations industrielles situées a
Fort Saskatchewan. Certains avocats sont inquiets, car I’eau
obtenue gratuitement serait vendue a profit, ce qui établirait un
précédent pour la réification. Les projets de ce genre doivent étre
clarifiés avant d’étre autorisés. L’impact de ce projet de petite
envergure , situé dans un contexte plus large, n’a pas été
pleinement mesuré par les agences provinciales.

Le président : J’aimerais savoir ce que vous pensez, bri¢vement,
de P’attitude des opposants. D’abord, lorsque des gens sérieux se
prononcent sur ces questions, leurs arguments sont rejetés au
motif qu’ils ne sont que de simples intellectuels. Nous devons
changer d’approche si nous voulons étre en mesure de bien
renseigner le public. Ensuite, certains prétendent que ces
phénomeénes font tout simplement partie du cycle naturel.
L’Alberta, par exemple, était jadis une jungle et une mer
subtropicales. Nous ne pouvons pas empécher ces phénomeénes
de se produire. Enfin, les prévisions que nous faisons en nous
fondant sur les meilleures données qui existent ne se réalisent pas,
car les choses changent. Nous sommes confrontés a des opposants
qui, parfois, ont des arguments fort convaincants. J’aimerais avoir
votre opinion la-dessus.

M. Schindler : Je partage, dans une certaine mesure, ’avis des
opposants. Nous avons connu un réchauffement naturel au milieu
de la période holocéne, et aussi durant la période médiévale. Si
vous jetez un coup d’ceil aux données qui ont été recueillies, vous
allez constater que nous avons connu une période de
réchauffement pendant 50 ou 100 ans a une certaine époque. 1l
y en a eu une autre 50 ou 100 ans plus tard, mais sur un autre
continent. Toutefois, ces données, une fois rassemblées, ne me
permettent pas de conclure qu’il y a eu une augmentation de la
température a I’échelle planétaire, comme nous en sommes
témoins aujourd’hui. Mais méme si une telle augmentation avait
été notée, qu’aurions-nous pu faire? Les personnes, a cette
époque, mouraient tranquillement, ou partaient s’installer
ailleurs. Nous n’avions pas a ce moment-la une société
hautement industrialisée et dorlotée qui s’attendait a avoir
immédiatement acceés a des ressources en eau.

Les prévisions ont ceci d’avantageux que le forgage causé par
les gaz a effet de serre peut étre mesuré. Comme nous n’avons
qu’'une seule planéte, nous ne pouvons procéder a des expériences
de contréle. C’est 'unique planéte que nous avons. Si nous
commettons des erreurs, nous allons avoir de sérieuses difficultés.

Mon conseil serait le suivant : il faut se ranger du coté des
scientifiques, qui sont 99 p. 100 a dire la méme chose. Ils peuvent
se tromper; ils 'ont fait dans le cas de Galilée. Toutefois, compte
tenu de tous les événements qui se sont produits au cours de
I’histoire, une telle chose est plutot rare. Au pire, nous pourrions
prendre des mesures pour protéger le paysage et ’eau, ce que nous
devrions faire de toute fagon.

Le président : On pourrait appliquer le principe de précaution.
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Mr. Schindler: That is right.

Senator Cochrane: Dr. Schindler, you constantly talk about the
lack of data. We have many government departments that would
be involved in this kind of water issue. Do you think that they
have data that has not been publicized, or do you think the data
was never collected? What departments should the committee
zero in on in its study?

Mr. Schindler: There has been a huge change in the past
30 years. In the 1970s, we had the best federal government
programs and in some provinces we had strong programs,
probably most notably in Ontario. Alberta was not bad; British
Columbia was not bad; but at both the provincial and federal
levels, they have suffered from budget cuts and increasing
bureaucracy.

The cuts were not made to the layers of bureaucracy but to
working scientists and technicians. Currently, I have colleagues in
federal departments who have lower budgets for their research
than my graduate students. Some of these scientists are world
experts in their areas of pollutants and water. In some circles it is
expected that universities will pick up those scientists. Few
scientists at the universities can go into the field during winter
because they are teaching professors and the students are in class.
The long-term data sets done with state-of-the-art methods were
always the forte of federal departments and of some provincial
organizations. That is not happening now. Whether you are with
a university or with a government, scientists suffer from the lack
of those programs.

Senator Milne: I want to make a suggestion following up on
what Senator Angus said. This meeting would have been the ideal
one to televise. We should have television coverage of the
witnesses who appear before the committee. I regret that we did
not do that, because everyone should have the advantage of this
information. Thank you.

The Chairman: We have been urging that this be taken care of.
The impediments to it are not reasonable arguments, but we have
had no success as yet.

Senator Spivak: When I was chair of this committee it was
routinely televised.

The Chairman: That was before the current session of
Parliament.

Senator Angus: Dr. Schindler, thank you for sharing your
thoughts with us. This committee is committed to making a
difference, and we appreciate your expert guidance in this effort.

The Chairman: Dr. Schindler, no doubt we will have a long list
of unanswered questions that we did not think of today. I hope
that you will permit us, occasionally, to ask those questions.
We would be grateful if you could appear before us again.

M. Schindler : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Monsieur Schindler, vous parlez
constamment de I'absence de données. Il y a de nombreux
ministéres fédéraux qui s’occupent du dossier relatif a I’eau. Est-ce
qu’ils possedent des données qui n’ont pas été rendues publiques?
Ou pensez-vous que ces données n’ont jamais été colligées? Quels
ministeéres le comité devrait-il citer dans le cadre de son étude?

M. Schindler : Il y a eu beaucoup de changements au cours des
30 derniéres années. Au début des années 70, nous avions
d’excellents programmes au niveau fédéral, et des programmes
solides au niveau provincial, notamment en Ontario. Les
programmes mis sur pied par I’Alberta et la Colombie-
Britannique n’étaient pas si mauvais. Toutefois, les programmes
provinciaux et fédéraux ont été victimes des réductions
budgétaires et d’une bureaucratie toujours plus lourde.

Or, ce ne sont pas les formalités administratives qui ont été
visées par les réductions, mais les scientifiques et les techniciens.
Aujourd’hui, certains de mes collégues dans les ministéres
fédéraux doivent composer avec des budgets qui sont moins
élevés que ceux dont disposent mes étudiants de troisiéme cycle.
Certains de ces scientifiques sont reconnus de par le monde, vu les
connaissances qu’ils possedent dans les domaines des polluants et
des ressources en eau. On s’attend, dans certains milieux, a ce
qu’ils soient recrutés par les universités. Or, trés peu d’entre eux
peuvent travailler sur le terrain durant I’hiver parce qu’ils
enseignent. Les données a long terme recueillies au moyen de
techniques des plus perfectionnées ont toujours été ’apanage des
ministéres fédéraux et de certains organismes provinciaux. Ce
n’est plus le cas aujourd’hui. Qu’ils soient a I’emploi d’une
université ou du gouvernement, les scientifiques aujourd’hui
souffrent de I"absence de ces programmes.

Le sénateur Milne : Je voudrais enchainer sur ce qu’a dit le
sénateur Angus et faire une suggestion. Il aurait fallu télédiffuser
cette réunion. Les exposés des témoins qui comparaissent devant
le comité devraient étre télédiffusés. Je trouve dommage qu’on ne
le fasse pas, parce qu’on devrait tous avoir accés a cette
information. Merci.

Le président : Nous avons demandé a ce que les réunions soient
télédiffusées. On invoque toutes sortes de raisons qui ne tiennent
pas. Nos efforts n’ont encore rien donné.

Le sénateur Spivak : Quand je présidais le comité, les séances
étaient télédiffusées régulierement.

Le président : C’était avant cette session-ci.

Le sénateur Angus : Merci, monsieur Schindler, d’étre venu
nous rencontrer. Le comité s’engage a prendre des mesures
concrétes. Nous vous sommes reconnaissants d’avoir partagé vos
connaissances avec nous.

Le président : Monsieur Schindler, nous aurons sans doute une
longue liste de questions a vous poser auxquelles nous n’avons pas
songé aujourd’hui. J’espére que vous accepterez, a ’occasion, d’y
répondre. Nous aimerions vous rencontrer a nouveau.
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Mr. Schindler: Certainly, that is possible. M. Schindler : Je le ferai volontiers, si c’est possible.

The committee adjourned. La séance est levée.
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